
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE ENCLOSED FORM OF PROXY ARE IMPORTANT AND REQUIRE 
YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the contents of this document, 
or the action you should take, you are recommended to seek your own personal financial advice 
immediately from your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent 
financial adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) 
(“FSMA”) if you are resident in the United Kingdom or if not from another appropriately authorised 
independent financial adviser. 

If you have sold or transferred all of your Ordinary Shares in the Company please send this document and 
the accompanying Form of Proxy as soon as possible to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, 
bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for onward transmission to the 
purchaser or transferee. If you have sold or transferred only part of your holding of Ordinary Shares, you 
should retain these documents and consult the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or 
transfer was made. 

This document does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation Rules made 
by the Financial Conduct Authority of the United Kingdom (“FCA”) pursuant to sections 73A(1) and (4) of 
FSMA and accordingly this document has not been, and will not be, approved by the FCA, the London 
Stock Exchange, any securities commission or any other authority or regulatory body nor has it been 
approved for the purposes of section 21 of FSMA. In addition, this document does not constitute an 
admission document drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules. 

Sensyne Health plc 
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with registered no. 11425451) 

Approval of Sub-division of Ordinary Shares  

Approval of Amendments to Articles of Association 

Authority and disapplication of pre-emption rights for the grant of rights to convert Loan Notes 

Authority and disapplication of pre-emption rights for the issue of Warrants 

Approval of waiver of Rule 9 of the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers 

Cancellation of admission of Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM 

Re-Registration as a private limited company 

and 

Notice of General Meeting 

You are recommended to read the whole of this document but your attention is drawn, 
in particular, to the letter from the Chairman of the Company explaining the background to, and 
reasons for, the Strategic Financing which is set out in Part I of this document. 

The Notice of General Meeting to be held at the offices of Covington & Burling LLP, 22 Bishopsgate, London 
EC2N 4BQ at 11.00 a.m. on 6 June 2022, is set out at the end of this document. The accompanying Form 
of Proxy for use in connection with the General Meeting should be completed by Shareholders and returned 
as soon as possible but in any event so as to be received by the Registrars at Equiniti, Aspect House, 
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA by no later than 11.00 a.m. on 31 May 2022 (or, in the 
case of an adjournment of the General Meeting, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding 
of the adjourned meeting). 

Copies of this document will be available free of charge to the public from the Company’s website 
www.sensynehealth.com.

 



IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

The distribution of this document and the Form of Proxy in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. 
Accordingly, neither this document, the Form of Proxy nor any other material relating to the Loan Notes, the 
Warrants, the Strategic Financing or other transactions noted in this document, may be distributed or 
published in any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable 
laws and regulations. Persons outside the United Kingdom into whose possession this document comes 
should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. 

This document (and the information contained herein) does not contain or constitute an offer of securities 
for sale, or solicitation of an offer to purchase securities, in the United States, Australia, Canada, Japan or 
the Republic of South Africa or any other jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation would be unlawful. 
The securities referred to herein have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or 
jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered, sold, resold, or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or 
into the United States or to US persons unless the securities are registered under the Securities Act, or 
pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws and regulations of any state 
or jurisdiction of the United States. The securities referred to herein were offered and sold to non-US persons 
outside the United States in offshore transactions within the meaning of, and in accordance with, Regulation 
S under the Securities Act. There was no public offer of securities in the United States. 

None of the Loan Notes, Warrants, this document or any other document connected with the Strategic 
Financing have been or will be approved or disapproved by the US Securities and Exchange Commission 
or by the securities commissions of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States or any other regulatory 
authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities or any securities commission passed comment upon or 
endorsed the merits of the offering of the Loan Notes and/or the Warrants or the accuracy or adequacy of 
this document or any other document connected with the Strategic Financing. Any representation to the 
contrary is a criminal offence. 

Neither the Loan Notes, Warrants or other documents connected with the Strategic Financing have been 
nor will be registered under the securities laws and regulations of any jurisdiction, in particular, Australia, 
Canada, Japan or the Republic of South Africa, and may not be offered, sold, resold, or delivered, directly 
or indirectly, within Australia, Canada, Japan or the Republic of South Africa, or in any jurisdiction where it 
is unlawful to do so, except pursuant to an applicable exemption. 

Peel Hunt LLP (“Peel Hunt”), which is authorised and regulated in the UK by the Financial Conduct Authority, 
is acting for the Company in connection with the Strategic Financing and other transactions noted in this 
Circular and will not be acting for any other person (including a recipient of this document) or otherwise be 
responsible to any person for providing the protections afforded to clients of Peel Hunt or for advising any 
other person in respect of the Strategic Financing or any transaction, matter or arrangement referred to in 
this document. Peel Hunt’s responsibilities as the Company’s nominated adviser and broker under the AIM 
Rules for Nominated Advisers are owed solely to the London Stock Exchange and are not owed to the 
Company or to any Director or to any other person in respect of the Strategic Financing. 

Apart from the responsibilities and liabilities, if any, which may be imposed on Peel Hunt by FSMA or the 
regulatory regime established thereunder, Peel Hunt does not accept any responsibility whatsoever for the 
contents of this document, including its accuracy, completeness or verification or for any other statement 
made or purported to be made by it, or on its behalf, in connection with the Company or the Strategic 
Financing. Peel Hunt accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise 
(save as referred to above) in respect of this document or any such statement. 

Forward Looking Statements 
This document contains “forward-looking statements” which include all statements (other than statements 
of historical facts) including, without limitation, those regarding the Group’s financial position, business 
strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations, and any statements preceded by, 
followed by or that include the words “targets”, “believes”, “expects”, “aims”, “intends”, “will”, “may”, 
“anticipates”, “would”, “could” or “similar” expressions or negatives thereof. Such forward-looking statements 
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involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors beyond the Company’s control 
that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Group to be materially different 
from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group’s present and 
future business strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. These 
forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this document. The Company expressly disclaims 
any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions to any forward looking statements 
contained herein to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in 
events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based unless required to do so by 
applicable law or the AIM Rules for Companies. 
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS 

Event                                                                                                                                                   Date 

Announcement of the Strategic Financing                                                                              19 April 2022 

Notice of the proposed Cancellation provided in accordance with AIM Rule 41                       18 May 2022 

Publication of the Circular and Form of Proxy                                                                          18 May 2022 

Latest time and date for receipt of completed Form of Proxy                                                 11.00 a.m. on  
to be valid at the General Meeting                                                                                           31 May 2022 

General Meeting                                                                                                                    11.00 a.m. on  
6 June 2022 

Results of General Meeting announced through RIS                                                                6 June 2022 

Expected last day of dealings on AIM in the Ordinary Shares                                                 17 June 2022 

Record Time for the Sub-division                                                                                            6.00 p.m. on  
17 June 2022 

Cancellation of the admission to trading on AIM of the Ordinary Shares                                   7.00 a.m. on  
20 June 2022 

Expected date of re-registration as a private limited company                                                 on or around 
                                                                                                                                                 4 July 2022 

Notes 

1.       Each of the times and dates set out in the above timetable and mentioned in this document is subject to change by the Company, 
in which event details of the new times and dates will be notified to London Stock Exchange plc and the Company will make 
an appropriate announcement to a Regulatory Information Service. 

2.       References to times in this document are to London time unless otherwise stated 

3.       If you have questions on how to complete the Form of Proxy, please contact Equiniti Limited on 0371 384 2030 or, if calling 
from outside the United Kingdom, +44 (0)121 415 7047 Lines are open from 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. (London time) Monday to 
Friday (except English and Welsh public holidays). 
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DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply throughout this document, unless the context requires otherwise: 

“2021 AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 October 
2021 

“Act” the Companies Act 2006 

“Additional A Note Purchasers” Gatemore Investment Partners I LP, Lansdowne and Hambro Perks 
Nominee 

“Additional A Notes” the loan notes in the aggregate principal amount of £6,000,000 
issued by the Company to the Additional A Note Purchasers 
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement 

“Additional B Notes” the loan notes issued or to be issued by the Company pursuant to 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, of such 
denomination and any principal amount as may be determined by 
the Company (provided that the total aggregate principal amount of 
Additional Notes does not exceed £20,000,000) 

“Additional C Notes” the loan notes issued or to be issued by the Company pursuant to 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, of such 
denomination and any principal amount as may be determined by 
the Company (provided that the total aggregate principal amount of 
Additional Notes does not exceed £20,000,000) 

“Additional Notes” the Additional A Notes, the Additional B Notes and the Additional 
C Notes 

“AI” artificial intelligence 

“AIM” the market of that name operated by the London Stock Exchange 

“AIM Delisting” or “Cancellation” the cancellation of the admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading 
on AIM, subject to the passing of the Delisting Resolution 

“AIM Rules” the AIM Rules for Companies and/or the AIM Rules for Nominated 
Advisers (as the context may require) 

“AIM Rules for Companies” the rules of AIM as set out in the publication entitled “AIM Rules for 
Companies” published by the London Stock Exchange from time to 
time 

the rules of AIM as set out in the publication entitled “AIM Rules for 
Nominated Advisers” published by the London Stock Exchange 
from time to time 

the note purchase agreement entered into between the Company, the 
Note Purchasers, the Noteholders Representative and the Security 
Agent, dated 26 January 2022 and as amended and restated on 18 
April 2022, and as further amended on 17 May 2022 by the 
Amendment Letter to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement, pursuant to which the Note Purchasers agreed to 
purchase the Loan Notes on the terms and conditions set out therein  

the warrant instrument entered into by the Company by way of deed 
poll dated 26 January 2022 and as amended and restated on 
18  April 2022, pursuant to which the Company constituted the 
Warrants 

“AIM Rules for Nominated 
Advisers”

“Amended and Restated 
Note Purchase Agreement”

“Amended and Restated 
Warrant Instrument”
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the amendment and restatement agreement entered into between 
the Company, Sensyne Holdings UK, Sensyne Group UK, Sensyne 
US, the Noteholders Representative and the Security Agent dated 
18 April 2022, pursuant to which the Original Note Purchase 
Agreement was amended and restated 

the amendment letter in respect of the Original Note Purchase 
Agreement and the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement, and entered into between the Company, the Note 
Purchasers, the Noteholders Representative and the Security Agent, 
dated 17 May 2022 pursuant to which the parties agreed to certain 
amendments to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement 

“Articles” the articles of association of the Company in force at the date of this 
document 

“Asset Purchase Option” the conditional option of the Relevant Purchasers to require all of the 
material assets of the Group to be transferred to Sensyne Holdings 
UK and then to purchase the entire issued share capital of Sensyne 
Holdings UK for consideration of (i) the sum of £1 and (ii) the 
assumption by the Relevant Purchasers of all the Company’s 
outstanding obligations in respect of the Loan Notes, as set out in 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement 

“Board” or “Directors” the board of directors of the Company, whose names are listed on 
page 5 of this document 

“Business Day” any day (excluding Saturdays and Sundays and public holidays in 
England and Wales) on which banks are open in London for normal 
banking business and the London Stock Exchange is open for 
trading 

“Circular” or “this document” this circular of the Company giving (amongst other things) details of 
the Strategic Financing and incorporating the Notice of General 
Meeting 

“Company” or “Sensyne” Sensyne Health plc, a public limited company incorporated in 
England and Wales with company number 11425451 

“Concert Party” Gatemore, Lansdowne, Hambro Perks, Sand Grove and Alex Snow. 

“Conversion” the conversion of any principal amount of the Loan Notes (including 
the Redemption Premium) into Ordinary Shares in accordance with 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement 

“Conversion Conditions” the passing of Resolutions 1 to 7 by the Shareholders and the grant 
of the Rule 9 Waiver  

“Conversion Price” the price at which the Loan Notes convert into Ordinary Shares, 
being £0.10 per Ordinary Share (being the current nominal value of 
the Ordinary Shares) in respect of the Loan Notes and, following 
completion of the Sub-division, £0.008 per Ordinary Share (being 
the resulting nominal value of the Ordinary Shares following the 
Sub-division) 

“Dealing Notice” a notification by the London Stock Exchange disseminated through 
the RIS giving notice that the Ordinary Shares are cancelled from 
trading on AIM 

“Amendment and 
Restatement Agreement”

“Amendment Letter to the 
Amended and Restated 
Note Purchase Agreement”
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“Deferred Shares” the deferred shares of £0.092 each in the capital of the Company 
resulting from the Sub-division, which shall have no voting rights, no 
rights to receive dividends or other distributions, on a return of assets 
upon liquidation shall only be entitled to the nominal amount paid 
up thereon, and shall have no other right to participate in the assets 
of the Company 

“Delisting Resolution” resolution 8 of the resolutions to be proposed at the General Meeting 
relating to the Delisting as set out in the Notice of General Meeting 

“Existing Ordinary Shares” the 166,464,335 Ordinary Shares in issue on the Last Practicable 
Date 

“First Ranking Debenture” the English law governed debenture dated 26 January 2022 
between the Company, Sensyne Holdings UK, Sensyne Group UK 
and the Security Agent, pursuant to which the first ranking debenture 
was granted over substantially all of the assets and undertakings of 
the Group (subject to certain agreed exceptions) 

the New York law governed pledge and security agreement dated 
26 January 2022 between Sensyne Holdings UK, Sensyne Group 
UK, Sensyne US and the Security Agent, pursuant to which the first 
ranking security interest was granted over certain US collateral of 
the Group 

“Form of Proxy” the form of proxy accompanying this Circular for use by 
Shareholders in relation to the General Meeting 

“Formal Sale Process” or “FSP” the formal sale process in relation to the Company for the purposes 
of the Takeover Code, as announced by the Company on 
2 November 2021 and as terminated by the Company on 19 April 
2022 

“FSMA” the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) 

“Gatemore” Gatemore Capital Management LLP, acting for itself and for and on 
behalf of Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund and 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP 

“General Meeting” the general meeting of the Shareholders of the Company to be held 
at the offices of Covington & Burling LLP, 22 Bishopsgate, London 
EC2N 4BQ at 11.00 a.m. on 6 June 2022, convened by the Notice 
of General Meeting of which is set out at the end of this document 

“Group” the Company, its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings 

“Hambro Perks” HPL and Hambro Perks Nominee 

“Hambro Perks Nominee” MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited 

“HPL” Hambro Perks Limited 

“Independent Directors” the Directors of the Company excluding Alex Snow 

“Independent Shareholders” means the Shareholders of the Company excluding Gatemore, 
Lansdowne and Sand Grove 

“JP Morgan” J.P. Morgan Securities plc, which conducts its UK investment 
banking business as J.P. Morgan Cazenove 

“First Ranking Security 
Agreement”
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“Lansdowne” Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP, acting for itself and for and on behalf 
of Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited and 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment Master Fund 
Limited 

“Last General Meeting” the general meeting of the Company held on 11 February 2022 

“Last Practicable Date” 17 May 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the 
publication of this document 

“Loan Notes” the loan notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to 
£26,350,000 issued or to be issued by the Company pursuant to 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, comprised 
of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes 

“London Stock Exchange” London Stock Exchange plc 

“New Articles” the articles of association of the Company as set out in Appendix C, 
as proposed to be adopted pursuant to resolution 10 of the 
Resolutions to reflect the Delisting and status of the Company as a 
private limited company following the Re-registration  

“NHS” the National Health Service 

“NHS Trust” a legal entity as set up by order of the Secretary of State under 
section 25 of, and Schedule 4 to, the National Health Service Act 
2006, to provide goods and services for the purposes of the health 
service 

“Note Purchasers” the Original Purchasers and the Additional A Note Purchasers 

“Noteholders” the holders of the Loan Notes for the time being 

“Noteholders Representative” Kroll Agency Services Limited (formerly known as Lucid Agency 
Services Limited) acting as representative of the Noteholders 

“Notice of General Meeting” the notice of General Meeting which is set out at the end of this 
document 

“Ordinary Shares” ordinary shares of £0.10 each in the capital of the Company, which 
following completion of the Sub-division shall be ordinary shares of 
£0.008 each in the capital of the Company 

the agreement entered into between the Company, Sensyne 
Holdings UK, Sensyne Group UK, Sensyne US, the Noteholders 
Representative and the Security Agent dated 26 January 2022, 
pursuant to which the Original Purchasers agreed to purchase the 
Original Notes on the terms and conditions set out therein 

“Original Notes” the loan notes in the aggregate principal amount of £6,350,000 
issued by the Company to the Original Purchasers pursuant to the 
Original Note Purchase Agreement 

“Original Purchasers” Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund, Sand Grove, 
Lansdowne and Peel Hunt 

“Peel Hunt” Peel Hunt LLP, a limited liability partnership incorporated and 
registered in England with No. OC357088 whose registered office 
is 7th Floor, 100 Liverpool Street, London EC2M 2AT, the Company’s 
nominated adviser and broker 

“R&D” research and development 

“Original Note Purchase 
Agreement”
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“Redemption Premium” in respect of the participation in any Loan Note being prepaid, 
redeemed or repurchased, an amount calculated at the rate of 
25 per cent. of the redemption or repurchase price (such redemption 
or repurchase price being equal to the principal amount thereof) 

“Registrars” or “Equiniti” Equiniti Limited of Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West 
Sussex BN99 6DA 

a regulatory information service operated by the London Stock 
Exchange as defined in the AIM Rules for Companies 

“Relevant Purchasers” the Original Purchasers (excluding Peel Hunt), Gatemore Investment 
Partners I LP and Hambro Perks Nominee 

“Re-registration” the re-registration of the Company as a private limited company 

“Resolutions” the resolutions to be proposed at the General Meeting as set out in 
the Notice of General Meeting 

“Revised Articles” the articles of association of the Company, as proposed to be 
amended pursuant to resolution 2 of the Resolutions to include the 
rights of the Deferred Shares following the Sub-division 

“Rule 9 Waiver” the waiver granted by the Takeover Panel of the obligation of the 
Concert Party to make a general offer for the Company under Rule 9 
of the Takeover Code which would otherwise arise as a result of the 
issue to the Concert Party of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the 
Conversion and/ or exercise of the Warrants, with such waiver being 
conditional upon the approval of the Independent Shareholders of 
the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution on a poll 

“Rule 9 Waiver Resolution” means resolution 7 of the Resolutions as set out in the Notice of 
General Meeting to approve the waiver granted by the Takeover 
Panel of the obligation of the Concert Party to make a general offer 
for the Company under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code which would 
otherwise arise, as a result of the issue to the Concert Party of 
Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Conversion and/ or exercise of 
the Warrants 

“Sand Grove” Sand Grove Capital Management LLP, acting for itself and for and 
on behalf of Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. and Sand 
Grove Tactical Fund LP 

“Second Ranking Debenture” the English law governed debenture dated 18 April 2022 between 
the Company, Sensyne Holdings UK, Sensyne Group UK and the 
Security Agent, pursuant to which the second ranking debenture 
was granted over substantially all of the assets and undertakings of 
the Group (subject to certain agreed exceptions) 

the New York law governed pledge and security agreement dated 
18 April 2022 between Sensyne Holdings UK, Sensyne Group UK, 
Sensyne US and the Security Agent, pursuant to which the second 
ranking security interest was granted over certain US collateral of 
the Group 

“Security Agent” Kroll Trustee Services Limited (formerly known as Lucid Trustee 
Services Limited) acting as security agent to the Noteholders 

“Security Agreements” the First Ranking Debenture, the Second Ranking Debenture, the 
First Ranking Security Agreement and the Second Ranking Security 
Agreement 

“Regulatory Information 
Service” or “RIS”

“Second Ranking Security 
Agreement”
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“Sensyne Group UK” Sensyne Health Group Limited, a private limited company 
incorporated in England and Wales with company number 
11240986 and which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 

“Sensyne Holdings UK” Sensyne Health Holdings Limited, a private limited company 
incorporated in England and Wales with company number 
09427409 and which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 

“Sensyne US” Sensyne Health, Inc. (file number 5762006), an incorporation 
organised under the general corporation law of the State of 
Delaware, United States and which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company 

the holders of Ordinary Shares for the time being  
 

“Strategic Financing” the secured financing of the Company through the issue of the Loan 
Notes pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Note 
Purchase Agreement 

“Strategic Research Agreement” an agreement with a healthcare provider (such as an NHS Trust) that 
grants Sensyne access to anonymised patient data for commercial 
purposes 

“Sub-division” means the proposed sub-division and re-designation of each 
Existing Ordinary Share of £0.10 in the capital of the Company into 
one new ordinary share of £0.008 in the capital of the Company and 
one Deferred Share in the capital of the Company 

“Takeover Code” the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers published by the Takeover 
Panel 

“Takeover Panel” the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers 

“UK MAR” the EU Market Abuse Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 as it forms part 
of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) 
Act 2018 

“UK” or “United Kingdom” the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 

“US” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any 
state of the United States and the District of Columbia 

“Warrant Exercise Price” the exercise price of the Warrants, being £0.10 per Warrant (being 
the current nominal value of an Ordinary Share) and, following 
completion of the Sub-division, £0.008 per Warrant (being the 
resulting nominal value of an Ordinary Share following the 
Sub-division)  

“Warrant Holder” holder of the Warrants for the time being 

“Warrants” warrants to subscribe for up to 29,169,448 Ordinary Shares and 
which are exercisable at the Warrant Exercise Price and otherwise 
in accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated Warrant 
Instrument 

All references in this document to “£”, “pence” or “p” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. 

All references to time in this document are to London time.

“Shareholders” and each being 
individually a “Shareholder”
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PART I 

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF SENSYNE HEALTH PLC 

SENSYNE HEALTH PLC 
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered no. 11425451) 

Directors:                                                                                                                         Registered Office: 

Sir Bruce Keogh (Non-Executive Chairman)                                                                   John Eccles House 
Alex Snow (Chief Executive Officer)                                                                       Robert Robinson Avenue 
Richard Pye (Chief Financial Officer)                                                                             Oxford Science Park 
Mary Hardy (Senior Independent Director)                                                                         Oxford OX4 4GP 
Professor Lionel Tarassenko (Non-Executive Director & Director of R&D) 
Tony Bourne (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Dr. Ian Hudson (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Michael Norris (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Geoff Race (Independent Non-Executive Director) 

                                                                                                                                              18 May 2022 

Dear Shareholder, 

Approval of Sub-division of Ordinary Shares  
Approval of Amendments to Articles of Association 

Authority and disapplication of pre-emption rights for the grant of rights to convert Loan Notes 
Authority and disapplication of pre-emption rights for the issue of Warrants 

Approval of waiver of Rule 9 of the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers 
Cancellation of admission of Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM 

Re-Registration as a private limited company 
and 

Notice of General Meeting 

1.     Introduction 
On 26 January 2022, the Company entered into the Original Note Purchase Agreement with Gatemore 
Special Opportunities Master Fund, Lansdowne, Sand Grove and Peel Hunt (solely by virtue of Peel Hunt 
receiving the majority of its fee in Loan Notes) to secure £6.35 million principal amount of Original Notes 
and an additional £5.0 million principal amount of Loan Notes to be purchased by mutual consent of the 
Original Purchasers and the Company. The combined proceeds of £11.35 million were expected to secure 
the Company’s short-term financing requirements and fund the business through the Formal Sale Process 
which was initiated on 2 November 2021.  

In the absence of any offer (including for strategic investment) under the FSP, on 8 April 2022, the Company 
announced that it had entered into a non-binding term sheet with Gatemore Special Opportunities Master 
Fund and Lansdowne to amend the Original Note Purchase Agreement to provide additional capital through 
the issue of additional Loan Notes. The Company also announced that the founder and former Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, Rt. Hon. Lord Paul Drayson, had agreed to step down from the Board 
with immediate effect and that the Board had agreed to appoint Mr. Alex Snow as Chief Executive Officer 
upon entry into the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement. 

On 19 April 2022, the Company announced that it had amended and restated the Original Note Purchase 
Agreement for the purchase of, in aggregate, £26.35 million principal amount of Loan Notes (being the 
existing £6.35 million principal amount of Original Notes and up to an additional £20 million principal amount 
of Additional Notes). The Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement sets out, among other things, 
the resolutions that need to be passed by Shareholders in connection with the Strategic Financing, including, 
approval of the cancellation of admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM. On 22 April 2022, the 
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Company received £6.0 million from the purchase of Additional A Notes by Gatemore Investment Partners 
I LP, Lansdowne and Hambro Perks Nominee. 

Shareholder approval is being sought for the passing of the Resolutions at the General Meeting in connection 
with the Strategic Financing. The purpose of this document is to explain the background to, and the reasons 
for, the Strategic Financing and why the Directors believe that the Strategic Financing is in the best interests 
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, and to recommend that you vote in favour of the 
Resolutions. 

If the Conversion Conditions (including the passing of Resolutions 1 to 7) are not satisfied by 9 July 2022, 
the Relevant Purchasers have the right to exercise the Asset Purchase Option. Upon exercise of the Asset 
Purchase Option, the Company will be required to transfer all of the material assets of the Group (including 
the Strategic Research Agreements and other data collaboration agreements) to Sensyne Holdings UK and 
transfer to the Relevant Purchasers the entire issued share capital of Sensyne Holdings UK for consideration 
of (i) the sum of £1 and (ii) the assumption by the Relevant Purchasers of all the Company’s outstanding 
obligations in respect of the Loan Notes.  

In the event that the Resolutions are not passed and the Asset Purchase Option is exercised, this will result 
in a fundamental change of the Company’s business requiring approval of the Company’s Shareholders by 
passing an ordinary resolution in a general meeting in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies.  

2.     Background to and reasons for the Strategic Financing 
On 2 November 2021, the Company announced the launch of a strategic review and commencement of a 
formal sale process. As part of this process, JP Morgan and Peel Hunt, as the Company’s joint financial 
advisers, contacted more than 100 corporates and financial sponsors to solicit interest in an offer for the 
Company or strategic investment into the Company. Possible offerors were provided with access to due 
diligence materials and focused sessions with company management and employees under the terms of 
non-disclosure agreements. On 8 April 2022, the Company announced that a small number of parties were 
having discussions with the Company who may or may not make an offer for the Company or some other 
strategic investment in or transaction with the Company. Whilst a number of parties conducted significant 
due diligence over the course of the FSP, no indicative offer proposals were received. 

As part of the Formal Sale Process, the Company was seeking funding from a number of different sources. 
Due to the pressing need for additional capital to maintain the Company’s operations and solvency position 
and in the absence of any alternatives, the Company announced on 8 April 2022 that it had entered into a 
non-binding term sheet with Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund and Lansdowne to implement 
the Strategic Financing and amend the Original Note Purchase Agreement. This was to provide additional 
capital through the issue of additional Loan Notes to fund the costs associated with maintaining the 
Company’s operations in order to enable the formulation and execution of a restructuring and financing plan 
as part of the Strategic Financing.  

On 19 April 2022, the Company announced that the Company and the Note Purchasers entered into the 
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement for the purchase of, in aggregate, £26.35 million principal 
amount of Loan Notes (being £6.35 million and up to an additional £20 million principal amount of Original 
Notes and Additional Notes, respectively). The terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement set out the Strategic Financing, which, among other things, provided for the immediate 
appointment of Mr. Alex Snow as Chief Executive Officer and proposed the cancellation of admission of the 
Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM. The Company also announced that, in light of the Strategic Financing, 
the Board had decided to end the Formal Sale Process and to terminate all ongoing discussions.  

Without the proceeds from the Additional A Notes, the Company would have become insolvent and been 
placed into administration in April 2022. 

Over the course of the coming months, the Board, with the support of the Noteholders, expects Alex Snow 
to effect a restructuring and refocusing of the business on its core real world patient data business unit, and 
work in partnership with the NHS and the life sciences community to develop and discover new medicines 
and improve patient outcomes through the analysis of anonymised real world patient data.  
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The Noteholders have committed to take reasonable steps to exercise their rights under the Amended and 
Restated Note Purchase Agreement in a manner that:  

l      continues the Company’s ethical use of patient data;  

l      is consistent with the Company’s goal of enabling the Company to realise its mission to become the 
leader in the ethical application of clinical AI to health data, to improve patient care and accelerate 
medical research; and  

l      allows for a sustainable commercial model to be put in place with the NHS Trusts that reflects the 
value of patient data supplied to the Company by the NHS Trusts. 

3.     Current trading and outlook 
The Company published its unaudited interim results for the six month period ended 31 October 2021 on 
31 January 2022. The unaudited revenue figure for the period was £1.0 million and the unaudited adjusted 
operating loss for the same period was £14.7 million.  

The unaudited revenue for the year ended 30 April 2022 was approximately £2.0 million. The Company’s 
unaudited cash position prior to the receipt of Additional A Notes on 22 April 2022 was £1.2 million. As of 
12 May 2022, the Company’s unaudited cash position was £5.0 million.  

The Company has initiated an immediate restructuring of the business to reduce costs and refocus the 
business on its core real world patient data business and partnership with the NHS and life sciences 
community. This restructuring is expected to result in a significant reduction in the size of the workforce and 
the disposal of parts of the business as described below. Whilst the Company has signed one contract and 
expects to sign a number of other small contracts with major pharmaceutical companies this year, the  
contract values are modest and the prospect of more and larger contracts continues to remain very 
uncertain. 

4.     Restructuring and Refocusing of the Company  
Sensyne is a clinical artificial intelligence company operating a unique business model – a for-profit plc 
making a positive social impact, sharing the financial returns it makes with the health systems that provide 
the Company with access to anonymised patient data. The Company applies clinical AI in the healthcare 
and life science industries. In healthcare, Sensyne delivers remote patient monitoring and real-time 
decision-making systems for healthcare organisations and their patients. In life sciences, Sensyne analyses 
large complex anonymised data sets to help life sciences companies accelerate the development of new 
medicines. 

The Company’s cost base (£21.5 million unaudited operating loss for the six months ended 31 October 
2021), which largely consists of costs associated with employing approximately 144 employees (117 net of 
resignations as at 13 May 2022), far exceeds revenues (£1.0 million for the same period) and is unsustainable 
without access to significant additional capital.  

In the absence of any offers under the FSP or alternative sources of working capital including from strategic 
investors or generation of substantial commercial revenues, the Company entered into the Amended and 
Restated Note Purchase Agreement to access additional capital from the Noteholders. Under the terms of 
this agreement, the Company has appointed Alex Snow as CEO to effect a restructuring and refocusing of 
the business on its core real world patient data business unit which will result in a streamlined business with 
a much reduced cost base. This restructuring exercise started in late April 2022 and is expected to be 
largely completed by the end of August 2022. 

The restructuring will require significant headcount reductions in the Company’s R&D operations as the 
business seeks only to retain the skills and expertise necessary to support its focus on real world patient 
data. Furthermore, the restructuring will include the disposal of, closure of and/or cessation of R&D 
expenditure on certain parts of the business not related to the life sciences-focused future of the business. 
This will include the healthcare product division including the Company’s digital health applications as these 
are not viewed as being core to the future operations of the Company. The Company’s central, financial 
and administrative functions are also expected to be substantially reduced to align the balance of skills and 
functions of the same in a refocused business that is no longer quoted on AIM. The Company will also focus 
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its activities on the UK to support its partnership with the NHS and, consequently, its activities elsewhere, 
particularly the US, will be supported from the UK. 

The Directors believe that the Strategic Financing is in the best interest of the employees and management 
of Sensyne as it will ensure Sensyne will have the resources available to drive development and 
commercialisation of its core real world patient data business unit. The resources provided by the Strategic 
Financing should allow the Company to complete the restructuring and, ultimately, provide its remaining 
employees opportunities in a refocused business at the forefront of real world patient data and AI. 

The Company has relocated to a smaller headquarter facility within Oxford, UK to reduce costs. Related to 
this relocation, Sensyne Group UK recently assigned its interests in three leasehold interests at the 
Schrödinger Building, The Oxford Science Park, Oxford to ExScientia AI Limited on 25 March 2022. See 
section 11.2(b) in Part III below for more information. 

5.     Intention Statements 
None of Gatemore, Lansdowne, Sand Grove, Hambro Perks and Alex Snow intend to make a general offer 
for the Company. The long-term justification for the Strategic Financing is to implement the restructuring 
and refocusing plan as described in paragraph 4 of this Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Sensyne Health 
plc). The Concert Party has confirmed to the Company that it is not proposing, following the increase in the 
percentage interest in Ordinary Shares as a result of the Conversion and the exercise of Warrants, to seek 
any changes to the business beyond those described under paragraph 4 of this Part I (Letter from the 
Chairman of Sensyne Health plc). Whilst the composition of the Board is expected to remain unchanged for 
the period up to the AIM Delisting taking effect, it is expected that the Board will undergo a restructuring to 
reduce costs and align skills and experience with those required of an unquoted company. 

The restructuring will require significant headcount reductions in the Company’s R&D operations as the 
business seeks only to retain the skills and expertise necessary to support its focus on real world patient 
data. Furthermore, the restructuring will include the disposal of, closure of and/or cessation of R&D 
expenditure on certain parts of the business not related to the life sciences-focused future of the business. 
This will include the healthcare product division including the Company’s digital health applications as these 
are not viewed as being core to the future operations of the Company. The Company’s central, financial and 
administrative functions are also expected to be substantially reduced to align the balance of skills and 
functions of the same in a refocused business that is no longer quoted on AIM. The Company will also focus 
its activities on the UK to support its partnership with the NHS and, consequently, its activities elsewhere, 
particularly the US, will be supported from the UK.  

The Concert Party has also confirmed that it has no intention to make any changes in relation to: 

l      the location of the Company’s places of business and headquarters (the Company will focus its 
operations on the UK and retain its headquarters in the UK); 

l      employer contributions into the Company’s pension schemes, the accrual of benefits for existing 
members and the admission of new members; and 

l      any redeployment of the fixed assets of the Company. 

The participation in the Strategic Financing by Gatemore is in the ordinary course of Gatemore’s business 
and is not expected to have any material effect on its future business or any material financial impact on its 
earnings, assets or liabilities.  

The participation in the Strategic Financing by Lansdowne is in the ordinary course of Lansdowne’s business 
and is not expected to have any material effect on its future business or any material financial impact on its 
earnings, assets or liabilities.  

The participation in the Strategic Financing by Sand Grove is in the ordinary course of Sand Grove’s business 
and is not expected to have any material effect on its future business or any material financial impact on its 
earnings, assets or liabilities.  
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The participation in the Strategic Financing by HPL is in the ordinary course of HPL’s business and is not 
expected to have any material effect on its future business or any material financial impact on its earnings, 
assets or liabilities. 

Beyond the ability to participate in future tranches of the Loan Notes, the Concert Party has not entered 
into and has not had discussions on proposals to enter into any incentivisation arrangements with members 
of the Company’s management. 

The Ordinary Shares are currently admitted to trading on AIM. As set out in paragraph 11 of this Part I (Letter 
from the Chairman of Sensyne Health plc), shortly after completion of the Strategic Financing, the Company 
intends to cancel its admission to trading on AIM. 

6.     Details of the Strategic Financing 

Loan Notes 
On 18 April 2022, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement 
pursuant to which the Purchasers (as such term is defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement) agreed to purchase Loan Notes with principal amount of up to £26,350,000 in the following 
tranches: 

(a)     the Original Notes, being a tranche of £6,350,000 principal amount of Loan Notes. The Original Notes 
were issued to the Original Purchasers on 28 January 2022; 

(b)     the Additional A Notes, being a tranche of £6,000,000 principal amount of Loan Notes. The Additional 
A Notes were issued to the Additional A Note Purchasers on 21 April 2022; and 

(c)     two subsequent tranches of Loan Notes, the Additional B Notes and the Additional C Notes, which 
may each be issued in any principal amount provided that the total aggregate amount of Additional 
Notes does not exceed £20,000,000. The Additional B Notes and the Additional C Notes shall be 
issued at the request of the Company and shall be allocated as follows: 

        (i)      Alex Snow may subscribe for up to £2,000,000 of the Additional B Notes and the Additional C 
Notes (in aggregate across both tranches); 

        (ii)     subject to paragraph (i) above, the Relevant Purchasers may subscribe for their pro rata 
proportion of the Additional B Notes and/or the Additional C Notes. To the extent that any 
Relevant Purchaser does not exercise its right in full to subscribe for Additional B Notes or 
Additional C Notes, its remaining pro rata share may be taken up by the other Relevant 
Purchasers; and 

        (iii)     if the amount of Additional B Notes or Additional C Notes subscribed for by Alex Snow and each 
Relevant Purchaser as described above is less than the aggregate issuance amount of the 
Additional B Notes or the Additional C Notes, the Company may offer the unallocated balance of 
the Additional B Notes or Additional C Notes to any third party, save that in the case of any 
issuance of Additional C Notes, such offer of Additional C Notes to third parties is subject to the 
unanimous consent of the Additional A Note Purchasers. 

A portion of the principal amount of the Additional A Notes (such portion as would result upon Conversion 
in the Note Purchasers collectively holding 29.9 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company, 
including any existing shareholdings, Warrants and accounting for the cashless exercise of the Warrants) 
have unconditional rights to convert into Ordinary Shares at the Conversion Price. 

The balance of the Loan Notes have conditional rights to convert into Ordinary Shares at a conversion price 
of £0.008 per Ordinary Share (being the resulting nominal value of the Ordinary Shares following the 
Sub-division), subject to and conditional upon the satisfaction of the Conversion Conditions, being the 
passing of the Resolutions by the Shareholders and the grant of the Rule 9 Waiver by the Takeover Panel. 

The Loan Notes are redeemable at 1.25 times their par value. The Loan Notes have a maturity date of 
26 January 2023, which is the date falling 364 days following the date of issuance of the Original Notes. 
The Loan Notes are redeemable (i) on the maturity date, and (ii) at the election of the Noteholders, on a 
pro rata basis, in an amount equal to any cumulative net proceeds the Company receives following the 
completion of any share issuance by the Company or a member of the Group (other than to another member 
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of the Group, or as a result of the exercise of the Warrants, or pursuant to the Conversion), material asset 
sale by the Company or a member of the Group or a recapitalisation of the Company or a member of the 
Group exceeding £2 million. The Loan Notes may be redeemed by the Company on a voluntary basis (i) by 
giving not less than ten Business Days’ notice, and (ii) at the request of a Noteholder (in respect of its Loan 
Notes) upon the earliest of the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Group or a Change of Control 
(as defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement) of the Company.  

The proceeds of the issue of the Additional Notes may only be used for costs associated with maintaining the 
Company’s operations in order to enable the formulation and execution of a restructuring and financing plan.  

The Company issued the Original Notes to the Original Purchasers and received cash proceeds of 
£5,950,000 on 28 January 2022. The Company issued the Additional A Notes to the Additional A Note 
Purchasers and received cash proceeds of £6,000,000 on 22 April 2022. 

Security 
The Loan Notes represent senior ranking obligations of the Company and are secured on a first and second 
priority basis and guaranteed and secured by certain members of the Group. The security consists of, 
amongst others, first and second ranking fixed and floating security over substantially all of the assets 
(subject to certain agreed exceptions) of those members of the Group. 

Warrants 
Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, the Company also agreed to 
issue to the Note Purchasers Warrants to subscribe for up to 29,169,448 Ordinary Shares (representing 
approximately 17.52 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date) as 
follows: 

(a)     Warrants to subscribe for 8,239,950 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 4.95 per cent. of 
the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which were issued pro rata to 
the Original Purchasers on issue of the Original Notes; 

(b)     Warrants to subscribe for 12,689,541 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 7.62 per cent. of 
the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which were issued pro rata to 
the Original Purchasers in connection with the Original Notes, subject to certain conditions as set out 
in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement; and 

(c)     Warrants to subscribe for 8,239,957 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 4.95 per cent. of 
the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which were issued pro rata to 
the Additional A Note Purchasers on issue of the Additional A Notes. 

Each Warrant is exercisable at the Warrant Exercise Price at any time from the date of issue of the Warrant 
until 5.00 p.m. on 15 January 2025. The Warrants are subject to the terms of the Amended and Restated 
Warrant Instrument, further details of which are set out in Section B of Part II (Details of the Strategic 
Financing) of this document. 

As at the date of this document, the Company has issued all of the Warrants to subscribe for all 29,169,448 
Ordinary Shares to the Note Purchasers. The Warrants were issued utilising the authorities and powers 
approved by Shareholders at the Company’s 2021 AGM and at the Last General Meeting. However, 
pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument and the Amended and Restated 
Note Purchase Agreement, the Warrant Exercise Price will, subject to and conditional upon completion of 
the Sub-division, be reduced from £0.10 per Ordinary Share to £0.008 per Ordinary Share. Accordingly, the 
subscription rights attaching to the Warrants have changed and the Directors are therefore re-seeking the 
ratification and approval of the Shareholders to issue the Warrants pursuant to the terms of the Amended 
and Restated Warrant Instrument and to dis-apply the statutory pre-emption rights in connection with 
such issue. 

Board Observer Right 
Sand Grove have appointed Fadi Chamsy as an observer to the Board pursuant to their existing right under 
the Original Note Purchase Agreement. 
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The Additional Note Purchasers have appointed William Grant of Gatemore as an observer to the Board 
pursuant to their right under the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement. 

7.     Sub-division of Ordinary Shares 
The Company is required under the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement to seek 
Shareholder approval for the Sub-division, which requires an ordinary resolution to be passed.  

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, the Directors are seeking 
the approval of the Shareholders to effect the Sub-division, such that each of the 166,464,335 Ordinary 
Shares of £0.10 each in the capital of the Company will be sub-divided and re-designated into one ordinary 
share of £0.008 each in the capital of the Company (the “New Ordinary Shares”) and one deferred share 
of £0.092 each in the capital of the Company, having the rights and being subject to the restrictions set out 
in the Revised Articles. Following completion of the Sub-division, the Loan Notes will have rights to convert 
into Ordinary Shares at a conversion price of £0.008 per Ordinary Share and the Warrants will be exercisable 
at a Warrant Exercise Price of £0.008 per Ordinary Share (being the resulting nominal value of the Ordinary 
Shares following the Sub-division). 

No new share certificates will be issued in respect of the New Ordinary Shares as existing share certificates 
will remain valid in respect of the same number of New Ordinary Shares arising from the Sub-division. The 
number of ordinary shares of the Company will not change as a result of the Sub-division. 

8.     Asset Purchase Option 
If the Conversion Conditions (including the passing of the Resolutions) are not satisfied in full or waived by 
9 July 2022, the Relevant Purchasers will have the right to exercise (at their sole election (acting together)) 
the Asset Purchase Option. Upon exercise of the Asset Purchase Option, the Company will be required to 
transfer all of the material assets of the Group (including the Strategic Research Agreements and other data 
collaboration agreements) to Sensyne Holdings UK and transfer to the Relevant Purchasers the entire issued 
share capital of Sensyne Holdings UK for consideration of (i) the sum of £1 and (ii) the assumption by the 
Relevant Purchasers of all the Company’s outstanding obligations in respect of the Loan Notes. 

The implementation of the Asset Purchase Option will constitute a fundamental change of business within 
the meaning of Rule 15 of the AIM Rules for Companies. Accordingly, if exercised, the Asset Purchase 
Option will be conditional upon the passing of an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in accordance with 
Rule 15 of the AIM Rules for Companies at a subsequent general meeting of the Company. The Company 
has received irrevocable undertakings in respect of 48,572,586 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
29.18 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date) to vote in favour of 
any resolution to approve the Asset Purchase Option. Additionally, the Relevant Purchasers, who have 
undertaken in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement to vote in favour of any resolution to 
approve the Asset Purchase Option, hold 23,328,875 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
14.01 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date). The Relevant 
Purchasers can exercise the Warrants at their discretion and will therefore be able to secure the passing of 
any resolution to approve the Asset Purchase Option if the Conversion Conditions are not satisfied in 
accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement. 

9.     General Meeting 
The General Meeting of the Company, notice of which is set out at the end of this document, is to be held 
at the offices of Covington & Burling LLP, 22 Bishopsgate, London EC2N 4BQ at 11.00 a.m. on 6 June 
2022. The General Meeting is being held for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the 
following resolutions: 

Resolution 1 – an ordinary resolution to grant authority to sub-divide and re-designate each existing ordinary 
share of £0.10 in the capital of the Company into one new ordinary share of £0.008 and one deferred share 
of £0.092 in the capital of the Company. 

Resolution 2 – a special resolution to approve the amendment of the Articles to include the rights of the 
Deferred Shares following the Sub-division and as set out in the Revised Articles. 
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Resolution 3 – an ordinary resolution to authorise the Directors to grant rights to convert the Loan Notes 
into Ordinary Shares at a conversion price of £0.008 per ordinary share up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £26,350,000. 

Resolution 4 – a special resolution to empower the Directors to dis-apply statutory pre-emption rights in 
respect of the grant of rights to convert the Loan Notes into Ordinary Shares, provided that such power 
shall be limited to an aggregate nominal amount of £26,350,000. 

Resolution 5 – an ordinary resolution to authorise the Directors to issue the Warrants to subscribe for up 
to 29,169,448 ordinary shares of £0.008 each. 

Resolution 6 – a special resolution to empower the Directors to dis-apply statutory pre-emption rights in 
respect of the issue of the Warrants described in resolution 5 above. 

Resolution 7 – an ordinary resolution of the Independent Shareholders to approve the waiver granted by 
the Takeover Panel under Rule 9 which would otherwise apply to the Concert Party (or such other persons 
as determined by the Takeover Panel) as a result of the issue to them of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the 
Conversion and/or the exercise of the Warrants. 

Resolution 8 – a special resolution, in accordance with Rule 41 of the AIM Rules for Companies, for the 
cancellation of the admission to trading on AIM of the Ordinary Shares. 

Resolution 9 – a special resolution that the Company be re-registered as a private company. 

Resolution 10 – a special resolution to adopt the New Articles upon the Re-registration, in substitution for, 
and to the exclusion of, the existing articles of association (which at that time will be the Revised Articles) to 
reflect the Company’s Delisting and status as a private limited company. 

Please note that this is not the full text of the Resolutions and you should read this section in conjunction 
with the Resolutions contained in the Notice of General Meeting in Part IV (Notice of General Meeting) of 
this document. You should also note that certain of the Resolutions are conditional upon the passing of 
other Resolutions.  

10.   Takeover Code and Rule 9 Waiver Resolution 
The Strategic Financing gives rise to certain considerations under the Takeover Code. The Takeover Code 
is issued and administered by the Takeover Panel. The Takeover Code applies to all offers for companies 
which have their registered offices in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man if any of 
their equity share capital or other transferable securities carrying voting rights are admitted to trading on a 
UK regulated market or a UK multilateral trading facility or on any stock exchange in the Channel Islands or 
the Isle of Man. The Takeover Code also applies to all offers for companies (both public and private) which 
have their registered offices in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man which are 
considered by the Takeover Panel to have their place of central management and control in the United 
Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man, but in relation to private companies only if one of a number 
of conditions is met – for example, if the company’s shares were admitted to trading on a UK regulated 
market or a UK multilateral trading facility or on any stock exchange in the Channel Islands or the Isle of 
Man at any time in the preceding ten years. 

(a)     Application of the Takeover Code 
        The Takeover Code applies to the Company. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, any person who 

acquires, whether by a series of transactions over a period of time or not, an interest in shares (as 
defined in the Takeover Code) which when taken together with shares already held by him/her or held 
or acquired by persons acting in concert with him/her, carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights 
of a company which is subject to the Takeover Code is normally required to make an offer to all the 
remaining shareholders to acquire their shares. 

        Similarly, when any person, together with persons acting in concert with that person, is interested in 
shares which in the aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of such a company 
but does not hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the company, an offer 
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will normally be required if any further interests in shares carrying voting rights are acquired by such 
person or any person acting in concert with that person.  

        An offer under Rule 9 must be made in cash at the highest price paid by the person required to make 
the offer, or any person acting in concert with such person, for any interest in shares of the company 
during the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer. 

        Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, if the Board were to allot and issue Ordinary 
Shares to the Noteholders upon Conversion and/or issue upon the exercise of Warrants, resulting in 
an increase to the percentage of the voting rights which the Concert Party controls; the Concert Party 
may be required to make a general cash offer to all other Shareholders of the Company to acquire 
their Ordinary Shares, unless such obligation has been waived by the Takeover Panel. 

        Your attention is drawn to Part III (Additional Information) of this Circular which sets out certain further 
information and financial information respectively that is required to be disclosed in this Circular 
pursuant to the rules contained in the Takeover Code. 

(b)     Information on the Concert Party 
        The Company has agreed with the Takeover Panel that each of the entities listed in the table below 

are acting in concert in relation to the Company (together the “Concert Party”). As at the Last 
Practicable Date, members of the Concert Party have an interest in the Ordinary Shares equating to 
an aggregate of 20.64 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company. 

Percentage of  
Number of the issued  

Ordinary Shares share capital 
Name held of the Company 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 9,892,099 5.94% 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 12,952,838 7.78% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment 
Master Fund Limited 483,948 0.29% 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 11,024,633 6.62% 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP nil 0% 
Hambro Perks Limited nil 0% 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited nil 0% 
Alex Snow nil 0% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 34,353,518 20.64% 

        Further information on the Concert Party is set out in Part III (Additional Information) of this Circular.  
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(c)     Details of the maximum controlling position 

        (i)      Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional A Notes and exercise of the Warrants 

                Assuming that the members of the Concert Party will, at the earliest opportunity (which would be 
following the passing of the Resolutions at the General Meeting to be held on 6 June 2022), 
convert in full the Original Notes and the Additional A Notes and exercise in full the Warrants (and 
assuming that no other person converts any convertible securities or exercises any options or 
any other right to subscribe for shares in the Company), the members of the Concert Party would 
be interested in 1,540,588,471 shares, representing approximately 89.40 per cent. of the enlarged 
voting rights of the Company. A table showing the respective individual interests in shares of the 
members of the Concert Party following the Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional 
A Notes and the exercise of the Warrants is set out below: 

Percentage of  
Number of the voting  

Ordinary Shares share capital 
Name held of the Company 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 136,369,607 7.91% 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP 125,615,628 7.29% 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 474,603,545 27.54% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment 
Master Fund Limited 17,724,015 1.03% 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 365,161,661 21.19% 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP 44,267,128 2.57% 
Hambro Perks Limited nil 0% 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited 376,846,887 21.87% 
Alex Snow nil 0% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 1,540,588,471 89.40% 

                Following Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional A Notes in full, the 
Concert Party would hold Ordinary Shares carrying over 50 per cent. of the voting rights 
of the Company and (for so long as they continue to be acting in concert) may 
accordingly increase their aggregate interests in shares without incurring any obligation 
to make an offer under Rule 9, although individual members of the Concert Party will 
not be able to increase their percentage interests in shares through or between a Rule 
9 threshold without Takeover Panel consent. 
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        (ii)     Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes and exercise of the Warrants 

                The allocation of the Additional B Notes and the Additional C Notes is not yet determined. For 
illustrative purposes only, the Company has assumed that Alex Snow will subscribe for the entire 
£2 million in principal amount of loan notes for which he is entitled to subscribe and that the other 
members of the Concert Party shall subscribe pro rata in accordance with the Amended and 
Restated Note Purchase Agreement. Based on this illustrative model and assuming that the 
members of the Concert Party will, at the earliest opportunity (which would be following the 
passing of the Resolutions at the General Meeting to be held on 6 June 2022), convert in full the 
Original Notes and the Additional Notes and exercise in full the Warrants (and assuming that no 
other person converts any convertible securities or exercises any options or any other right to 
subscribe for shares in the Company), the members of the Concert Party would be interested in 
3,290,588,468 shares, representing approximately 94.74 per cent. of the enlarged voting rights 
of the Company. A table showing the respective individual interests in shares of the members of 
the Concert Party following the Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes and 
the exercise of the Warrants is set out below: 

Percentage of  
Number of the voting  

Ordinary Shares share capital 
Name held of the Company 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 261,892,619 7.54% 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP 251,138,640 7.23% 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 934,419,444 26.90% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic 
Investment Master Fund Limited 34,895,563 1.00% 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 716,626,096 20.63% 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP 88,200,182 2.54% 
Hambro Perks Limited nil 0% 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited 753,415,924 21.69% 
Alex Snow 250,000,000 7.20% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 3,290,588,468 94.74% 

                Following Conversion of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes in full and following 
the exercise of the Warrants in full, the Concert Party would hold Ordinary Shares 
carrying over 50 per cent. of the voting rights of the Company and (for so long as they 
continue to be acting in concert) may accordingly increase their aggregate interests in 
shares without incurring any obligation to make an offer under Rule 9, although 
individual members of the Concert Party will not be able to increase their percentage 
interests in shares through or between a Rule 9 threshold without Takeover Panel 
consent. 

(d)     Rule 9 Waiver and the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution 
        The Conversion and the exercise of the Warrants would normally trigger an obligation for an offer to 

be made under Rule 9. However, in order to enable the Company to effect the Strategic Financing 
without triggering a mandatory offer obligation for the Concert Party, the Company has consulted with 
the Takeover Panel and the Takeover Panel has agreed to waive the requirement for an offer to be 
made in respect of the Conversion and the exercise of the Warrants (the “Rule 9 Waiver”). This Rule 
9 Waiver is subject to the approval by a vote of Independent Shareholders of the Company on a poll 
at the General Meeting. The Rule 9 Waiver Resolution seeks this approval. Gatemore, Lansdowne, 
Sand Grove are not considered to be independent, and will not be entitled to vote on the Rule 9 Waiver 
Resolution. Accordingly, should Independent Shareholders approve the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution, the 
Takeover Panel will be waiving the requirement for the Concert Party to make a mandatory general 
offer under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code as a result of the exercise allotment and issue of Ordinary 
Shares upon Conversion and/or upon the exercise of the Warrants.  
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11.   AIM Delisting 
The Company is required under the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement to seek 
Shareholder approval for the AIM Delisting, which requires a special resolution to be passed in accordance 
with Rule 41 of the AIM Rules for Companies. The Delisting Resolution is set out at resolution 8 in the Notice 
of General Meeting. 

In the event that the Delisting Resolution is passed, the Board will resolve to cancel the admission 
of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM. Pursuant to Rule 41 of the AIM Rules, the Company, through 
its nominated adviser, Peel Hunt, has notified the London Stock Exchange of the proposed Cancellation. 
Under the AIM Rules, the Company is required to give at least 20 clear Business Days’ notice of the 
Cancellation. Additionally, Cancellation will not take effect until at least five clear Business Days have passed 
following the passing of Resolution 8. If Resolution 8 is passed at the General Meeting, it is proposed that 
the last day of trading in the Ordinary Shares on AIM will be 17 June 2022 and that the Cancellation will 
become effective following the issue of a Dealing Notice, at 7.00 a.m. on 20 June 2022. 

The effect of the AIM Delisting 
If the Resolutions are passed at the General Meeting, Shareholders will no longer be able to buy and sell 
Ordinary Shares on AIM after 17 June 2022 and the Board does not intend to apply for admission of the 
Ordinary Shares to any other market and, therefore, no trading facility will be available to Shareholders after 
this date. 

Following the AIM Delisting taking effect, the Company will no longer be subject to the AIM Rules for 
Companies or be required to retain the services of a nominated adviser. The Company will also no longer 
be subject to the QCA Corporate Governance Code or be required to comply with the continuing obligations 
set out in the DTRs or, provided the Company’s securities remain outside the scope of the regulation, UK 
MAR. In addition, the Company and its Shareholders will no longer be subject to the provisions of the DTRs 
relating to the disclosure of changes in significant shareholdings in the Company. As a company incorporated 
in England and Wales, the Company will continue to be subject to the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006. Furthermore, whilst the composition of the Board will remain unchanged for the period up to the 
AIM Delisting taking effect, it is expected that the Board will undergo a restructuring to reduce costs and 
align skills with those required of an unquoted company. 

12.   Re-registration 
As a result of the Strategic Financing and Delisting, it is proposed to re-register the Company as a private 
limited company. The principal effects of the Re-registration on the rights and obligations of Shareholders 
and the Company are summarised in Appendix B of this document. 

The Re-registration requires the approval of not less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast by Shareholders at 
the General Meeting. 

Subject to, and conditional upon, the AIM Delisting and the passing of Resolutions 8 and 9, application will 
be made to the Registrar of Companies for the Company to be re-registered as a private limited company. 
Re-registration will take effect when the Registrar of Companies issues a certificate of incorporation on 
Re-registration. The Registrar of Companies will not issue the certificate of incorporation on Re-registration 
until the Registrar of Companies is satisfied that no valid application can be made to cancel the resolution 
to re-register the Company as a private limited company. 

If Resolution 8 and Resolution 9 are passed at the General Meeting, it is anticipated that the 
Re-registration will become effective on or around 4 July 2022. 

13.   Application of the Takeover Code following the AIM Delisting and the Re-registration 
The Takeover Code applies to all offers for companies which have their registered offices in the United 
Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man if any of their equity share capital or other transferable 
securities carrying voting rights are admitted to trading on a UK regulated market or a UK multilateral trading 
facility or on any stock exchange in the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man. 
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The Takeover Code also applies to all offers for companies (both public and private) which have their 
registered offices in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man which are considered by 
the Takeover Panel to have their place of central management and control in the United Kingdom, the 
Channel Islands or the Isle of Man, but in relation to private companies only if one of a number of conditions 
is met – for example, if the company’s shares were admitted to trading on a UK regulated market or a UK 
multilateral trading facility or on any stock exchange in the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man at any time in 
the preceding ten years. 

Following the AIM Delisting and the Re-registration, the Takeover Code will continue to apply for a period of 
ten years from the AIM Delisting provided that the Company is considered by the Takeover Panel to have 
its place of central management and control in the United Kingdom (or the Channel Islands or the Isle of 
Man). This is known as the “residency test”. The way in which the test for central management and control 
is applied for the purposes of the Takeover Code may be different from the way in which it is applied by the 
United Kingdom tax authorities, HMRC. Under the Takeover Code, the Takeover Panel looks to where the 
majority of the Directors are resident, amongst other factors, for the purposes of determining where the 
Company has its place of central management and control. 

Based on the current composition of the Board, the residency test will be satisfied and the Takeover Code 
will continue to apply to the Company following the AIM Delisting and the Re-registration. However, the 
Takeover Code could cease to apply to the Company in the future if any changes to the Board composition 
result in the majority of the Directors not being resident in the United Kingdom, Channel Islands and Isle 
of Man. 

When the Takeover Code ceases to apply to the Company in the future, Shareholders will not 
receive the protections afforded by the Takeover Code in the event that there is a subsequent 
offer to acquire their Sensyne shares. This includes the requirement for a mandatory cash offer 
to be made if either: 

(i)      a person acquires an interest in shares which, when taken together with the shares in which persons 
acting in concert with it are interested, increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in 
which it is interested to 30 per cent. or more; or 

(ii)     a person, together with persons acting in concert with it, is interested in shares which in the aggregate 
carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of a company but does not hold shares carrying 
more than 50 per cent. of such voting rights and such person, or any person acting in concert with it, 
acquires an interest in any other shares which increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights 
in which it is interested. 

Brief details of the Takeover Panel, the Takeover Code and the protections given by the Takeover Code are 
described below.  

Before giving your approval to the AIM Delisting and the Re-registration, you may want to take 
independent professional advice from an appropriate independent financial adviser. 

The Takeover Code 
The Takeover Code is issued and administered by the Takeover Panel. Sensyne Health plc is a company to 
which the Takeover Code applies and its Shareholders are accordingly entitled to the protections afforded 
by the Takeover Code. 

The Takeover Code and the Takeover Panel operate principally to ensure that shareholders are treated fairly 
and are not denied an opportunity to decide on the merits of a takeover and that shareholders of the same 
class are afforded equivalent treatment by an offeror. The Takeover Code also provides an orderly framework 
within which takeovers are conducted. In addition, it is designed to promote, in conjunction with other 
regulatory regimes, the integrity of the financial markets. 

The General Principles and Rules of the Takeover Code 
The Takeover Code is based upon a number of General Principles which are essentially statements of 
standards of commercial behaviour. For your information, these General Principles are set out in Part 1 of 
Appendix A to this document. The General Principles apply to all transactions with which the Takeover Code 
is concerned. They are expressed in broad general terms and the Takeover Code does not define the precise 
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extent of, or the limitations on, their application. They are applied by the Takeover Panel in accordance with 
their spirit to achieve their underlying purpose. 

In addition to the General Principles, the Takeover Code contains a series of Rules, of which some are 
effectively expansions of the General Principles and examples of their application and others are provisions 
governing specific aspects of takeover procedure. Although most of the Rules are expressed in more detailed 
language than the General Principles, they are not framed in technical language and, like the General 
Principles, are to be interpreted to achieve their underlying purpose. Therefore, their spirit must be observed 
as well as their letter. The Takeover Panel may derogate or grant a waiver to a person from the application 
of a Rule in certain circumstances.  

Giving up the protection of the Takeover Code 
A summary of key points regarding the application of the Takeover Code to takeovers generally is set out in 
Part 2 of Appendix A to this document. You are encouraged to read this information carefully as it 
outlines certain important protections which you will be giving up if you agree to the AIM Delisting 
and the Re-registration and the Company subsequently ceases to be subject to the Takeover 
Code in the future.  

14.   UK tax treatment 
Investors may choose to hold AIM-quoted shares because they are classed as unlisted/unquoted securities 
which may qualify individuals who are UK tax resident and UK domiciled for relief from inheritance taxation 
and certain other preferential tax benefits. The Company cannot and does not provide any form of taxation 
advice to Shareholders and therefore Shareholders are strongly advised to seek their own taxation advice 
to confirm the consequences of continuing to hold Ordinary Shares and Deferred Shares that are not 
admitted to trading on AIM. 

The following summary does not constitute legal or tax advice and is not exhaustive. Therefore, the following 
should not be relied upon by Shareholders without taking further advice (and the Company accepts no 
liability in respect of any such reliance on any information provided herein on taxation matters). 

The AIM Delisting 
The AIM Delisting should not prevent the Ordinary Shares and the Deferred Shares from qualifying as 
unlisted/unquoted securities for the purposes of certain specific UK tax rules (notably, the UK inheritance 
tax business property relief rules). 

Subject to certain conditions, transfers of ordinary shares admitted to trading on AIM are not subject to UK 
stamp duty or SDRT. However, following the AIM Delisting, stamp duty or SDRT will generally apply to 
transfers of, or agreements to transfer the Ordinary Shares or Deferred Shares (normally being 0.5 per cent. 
of the consideration).  

The Sub-division 
Based on current UK tax legislation, the Sub-division should not be treated as a disposal for the purposes 
of UK taxation of chargeable gains. After the Sub-division of the Existing Ordinary Shares, the base cost of 
the Existing Ordinary Shares for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains should be apportioned 
between the resulting Ordinary Shares and Deferred Shares. 

It is strongly recommended that Shareholders obtain appropriate professional advice in respect 
of their tax position in respect of the AIM Delisting and the Sub-division. 

15.   Additional Information 
The attention of Shareholders is drawn to the information contained in Part II (Details of the Strategic 
Financing) and Part III (Additional Information) of this document, which provide additional information on the 
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, the Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument, the 
Security Agreements and the Company. 
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16.   Action to be taken 

In respect of the General Meeting 
A Form of Proxy is enclosed with this Circular for use at the General Meeting. 

Whether or not you propose to attend the General Meeting in person, you are asked to complete the Form 
of Proxy and return it to the Company’s Registrars, Equiniti Limited at Aspect House, Spencer Road, 
Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA, so as to arrive as soon as possible but in any event no later than 
11.00 a.m. on 31 May 2022. Completion and return of the Form of Proxy will not preclude you from attending 
the General Meeting and voting in person should you wish. 

Voting on the business of the meeting will be conducted by way of a poll. Only the formal business of the 
Resolutions will be carried out at the General Meeting. If the Company intends to make any changes to the 
proposed format of the General Meeting, the Company will notify Shareholders of this, or any other change, 
as soon as possible via RIS and its website at www.sensynehealth.com. 

Shareholders who hold their Ordinary Shares through a nominee should instruct their nominees to submit 
a Form of Proxy on their behalf. 

17.   Irrevocable undertakings 
As at the Last Practicable Date, the Company has received voting irrevocable undertakings from the following 
Shareholders to vote in favour of the Resolutions: 

(a)     Lord Paul Drayson in respect of 20,103,384 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
12.08 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date); and 

(b)     Lady Elspeth Drayson in respect of 17,444,569 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 10.48 per 
cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date). 

As at the Last Practicable Date, the Company has received voting irrevocable undertakings from the following 
Shareholders to vote in favour of the Resolutions (excluding the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution): 

(c)     Sand Grove Capital Management LLP on behalf of Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd in 
respect of 11,024,633 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 6.62 per cent. of the Company’s 
issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date). 

As at the date of this document, the Company has therefore obtained irrevocable undertakings, in aggregate, 
to vote in favour of: 

(i)      the Resolutions in respect of 37,547,953 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 22.56 per cent. 
of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date); and 

(ii)     the Resolutions (excluding the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution) in respect of 48,572,586 Ordinary Shares 
(representing approximately 29.18 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last 
Practicable Date). 

The irrevocable undertakings cease to be binding and shall lapse if the General Meeting is not held before 
31 July 2022. 

Additionally, the Relevant Purchasers, who have undertaken in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement to vote in favour of the Resolutions (excluding the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution), hold 23,328,875 
Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 14.01 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at 
the Last Practicable Date).  

The Company has received total commitments in respect of 71,901,461 Ordinary Shares (representing 
approximately 43.19 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date) to 
vote in favour of the Resolutions (including from irrevocable undertakings, plus undertakings given under 
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement). 
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18.   Recommendation 
As described in paragraph 2 – Background to and reasons for the Strategic Financing, the Company did 
not receive an offer under the FSP, nor was it successful in raising alternative sources of capital and, 
consequently, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement in order to 
continue trading.  

The Independent Directors consider that the Strategic Financing and the passing of the Resolutions to be 
in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Independent Directors 
unanimously recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of all of the Resolutions. Alex Snow, who is a 
member of the Concert Party and who has been appointed to the Board as Chief Executive Officer to 
implement the restructuring and refocusing plan pursuant to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement, has a conflict of interest and accordingly has taken no part in the recommendation of the Board 
in connection with the Resolutions. The Directors who are Shareholders intend, in respect of their own 
beneficial shareholdings, to vote in favour of the Resolutions. 

The Independent Directors, having been so advised by Peel Hunt, consider that the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution 
is fair and reasonable and in the best interests of Shareholders and the Company as a whole. In providing 
this advice, Peel Hunt has taken into account the Independent Directors’ commercial assessments. 
Consequently, the Independent Directors recommend that Independent Shareholders vote in favour of the 
Rule 9 Waiver Resolution as they intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings, which amount in 
aggregate to 83,332 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 0.05 per cent. of the existing issued share 
capital of the Company held by the Independent Shareholders). 

If Shareholders do not approve the Resolutions, the Relevant Purchasers will be able to exercise 
the Asset Purchase Option under the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement and will 
be able to require the transfer of all material assets of the Group (including the Strategic Research 
Agreements and other data collaboration agreements) to be transferred into Sensyne Holdings 
UK, and to then purchase the entire issued share capital of Sensyne Holdings UK for 
consideration of (i) the sum of £1 and (ii) the assumption by the Relevant Purchasers of all the 
Company’s outstanding obligations in respect of the Loan Notes.  

Yours faithfully, 

Sir Bruce Keogh 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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PART II 

DETAILS OF THE STRATEGIC FINANCING 

SECTION A 

THE AMENDED AND RESTATED NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

1.     Background 
1.1   The Company is party to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement between the 

Company, the Noteholders Representative and the Security Agent, dated 26 January 2022 and as 
amended and restated on 18 April 2022, pursuant to which the Note Purchasers agreed to purchase 
in Sterling the following principal amounts of Loan Notes: 

        Principal Principal  
        amount of amount of  
        Original Additional  
        Note Purchaser Notes A Notes 

        Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund £1,000,000 nil 
        Gatemore Investment Partners I LP nil £1,000,000 
        Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited £1,735,200 £1,928,000 
        Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment Master  

Fund Limited £64,800 £72,000 
        Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. £2,800,000 nil 
        Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP £350,000 nil 
        Peel Hunt LLP £400,000 nil 
        MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited nil £3,000,000 
        Total £6,350,000 £6,000,000 

1.2   Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, two subsequent tranches of Loan 
Notes (the Additional B Notes and the Additional C Notes) may each be issued in any principal amount 
provided that the total aggregate amount of Additional Notes does not exceed £20,000,000. The 
Additional B Notes and the Additional C Notes will be issued at the request of the Company and will 
be allocated as follows: 

        1.2.1    Alex Snow may subscribe for up to £2,000,000 of the Additional B Notes and the Additional 
C Notes (in aggregate across both tranches); 

        1.2.2    subject to paragraph 1.2.1 above, the Relevant Purchasers may subscribe for their pro rata 
proportion of the remaining Additional B Notes and/or the Additional C Notes. To the extent 
that any Relevant Purchaser does not exercise its right in full to subscribe for Additional B Notes 
or Additional C Notes, its remaining pro rata share may be taken up by the other Relevant 
Purchasers; and 

        1.2.3    if the amount of Additional B Notes or Additional C Notes subscribed for by Alex Snow and 
each Relevant Purchaser as described above is less than the aggregate issuance amount of 
the Additional B Notes or the Additional C Notes, the Company may offer the unallocated 
balance of the Additional B Notes or Additional C Notes to any third party, save that in the 
case of any issuance of Additional C Notes, such offer of Additional C Notes to third parties is 
subject to the unanimous consent of the Additional A Note Purchasers. 

1.3   On 26 January 2022, the Company entered into a fee letter with the Noteholders Representative and 
the Security Agent in respect of the payment of agency fees to the Noteholders Representative and 
the Security Agent. Pursuant to clause 2.2(f) (Additional Notes costs and expenses) of the Amended 
and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay additional agency fees to 
the Noteholders Representative and Security Agent of up to £3,000. 
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2.     Security 
2.1   On 26 January 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales 

and/or the United States entered into the First Ranking Debenture and the First Ranking Security 
Agreement respectively, pursuant to which, subject to certain agreed exceptions, the Company and 
each of its subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales and/or the United States granted to the 
Security Agent, for the benefit of the Noteholders as secured parties thereunder, first ranking security 
over substantially all of their assets, including but not limited to their intellectual property, bank accounts, 
investments, securities and other assets. The Security Agreements contain typical covenants, 
restrictions on disposal and negative pledge protections for the Noteholders. 

2.2   On 18 April 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales 
and/or the United States have entered into the Second Ranking Debenture and the Second Ranking 
Security Agreement respectively, pursuant to which, subject to certain agreed exceptions, the 
Company and certain of its subsidiaries incorporated in England and Wales and/or the United States 
granted to the Security Agent, for the benefit of the Noteholders as secured parties thereunder, second 
ranking security over substantially all of their assets, including but not limited to their intellectual 
property, bank accounts, investments, securities and other assets. The Security Agreements contain 
typical covenants, restrictions on disposal and negative pledge protections for the Noteholders. 

3.     Conversion 
3.1   The Additional A Note Purchasers (acting together) may, without further condition at any time prior to 

the date on which the Conversion Conditions have been satisfied in full or waived (as applicable), 
deliver a conversion notice to the Company to convert all but not part of such portion of the principal 
amount of the Additional A Notes as would result upon Conversion in the Note Purchasers collectively 
holding 29.9 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company (the “Unconditional A Notes”) into 
Ordinary Shares at the Conversion Price. 

3.2   The Relevant Purchasers (acting together) may, without further condition at any time on or after the 
time at which the Conversion Conditions have been satisfied in full or waived (as applicable), deliver a 
conversion notice to the Company to convert all but not part of the Original Notes and the balance of 
the Additional Notes less the Unconditional A Notes (the “Conditional A Notes”) (including any 
Redemption Premium to be paid on such Original Notes and Conditional A Notes) into Ordinary Shares 
at the Conversion Price. 

4.     Asset Purchase Option 
4.1   If the Conversion Conditions have not been satisfied in full or waived (as applicable) in accordance 

with the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement by 9 July 2022, the Relevant Purchasers 
shall together have the option (subject to Shareholder approval having been obtained), exercisable at 
their sole election (acting together), to require the transfer of all material assets of the Group (including 
the Strategic Research Agreements and other data collaboration agreements) to be transferred into 
Sensyne Holdings UK, and to then purchase the entire issued share capital of Sensyne Holdings UK 
for consideration of (i) the sum of £1, and (ii) the assumption by the Relevant Purchasers of the 
Company’s outstanding obligations in respect of the Loan Notes. 

5.     Repayment 
5.1   The Loan Notes are repayable in full on the earlier of (a) the initial termination date (being the date 

falling 364 days after and including the date of purchase of the Original Notes), and (b) the date on 
which all of the Loan Notes are prepaid pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Note 
Purchase Agreement (the “Termination Date”). 

5.2   In addition to repayment of the Loan Notes in full as stated in paragraph 5.1 above, the Company shall 
in respect of all repayments (other than as described in paragraph 5.5 below) also pay the applicable 
Redemption Premium. 

5.3   The Company may, if it gives the Noteholders Representative not less than ten (10) Business Days’ 
prior written notice (or such shorter period as the Noteholders Representative may agree) prepay, 
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redeem or repurchase the whole or any part of the Loan Notes prior to the Termination Date. Any such 
prepayment shall be made on the date specified in the notice provided by the Company and shall 
include the payment of the principal outstanding in respect of those Loan Notes being redeemed and 
any applicable Redemption Premium thereon. 

5.4   If there is a Change of Control or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Group, a Note 
Purchaser can elect to have the whole or part of the principal amount of its Loan Notes and any other 
amounts owing to it under the Finance Documents (as defined in the Amended and Restated Note 
Purchase Agreement) repaid, redeemed or repurchased. A “Change of Control” includes: 

        5.4.1    any transaction which is not approved by the Noteholders Representative (acting on the 
instructions of all Noteholders) (including an offer or scheme of arrangement) which results in 
a party or one or more parties acting in concert (other than the Note Purchasers and/or any 
party acting in concert with the Note Purchasers): 

                    (a)     having the power to appoint or remove all, or the majority, of the directors or other 
equivalent officers of the Company; 

                    (b)     having the power to give directions with respect to the operating and financial policies of 
the Company with which the directors or other equivalent officers of the Company are 
obliged to comply; 

                    (c)     holding all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the Group (taken as a 
whole); or 

                    (d)     holding more than 50 per cent. of the Company’s outstanding issued shares; and 

        5.4.2    any merger or similar reorganisation of the Company, which is not approved by the Noteholders 
Representative (acting on the instructions of all Note Purchasers), which results in a party or 
one or more parties acting in concert (other than the Note Purchasers and/or any party acting 
in concert with the Note Purchasers): 

                    (a)     having the power to appoint or remove all, or the majority, of the directors or other 
equivalent officers of the Company; 

                    (b)     having the power to give directions with respect to the operating and financial policies of 
the Company with which the directors or other equivalent officers of the Company are 
obliged to comply; 

                    (c)     holding all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the Group (taken as a 
whole); or 

                    (d)     holding more than 50 per cent. of the Company’s outstanding issued voting shares, 

        where “acting in concert” means a group of persons who, pursuant to an agreement or 
understanding (whether formal or informal), actively co-operate, through the acquisition and/or 
ownership of voting shares in the Company, to obtain or consolidate control (directly or indirectly) of 
the Company, provided that persons voting in the same or consistent manner at a general meeting of 
the Company will not be considered to be acting in concert by virtue only of exercising their votes in 
such manner. 

5.5   The Loan Notes held by a Note Purchaser are also repayable if it becomes unlawful for that Note 
Purchaser to perform any of its obligations as contemplated by the Amended and Restated Note 
Purchase Agreement or to fund, issue or maintain its participation in the Loan Notes, provided that 
the Redemption Premium shall be reduced in the event of such repayment, with such amount to be 
calculated at the rate of 10 per cent. of the redemption or repurchase price in relation to any Loan 
Notes that are prepaid. 

5.6   If any member of the Group receives cumulative net proceeds in excess of £2,000,000 from: (a) any 
share issuance by the Company or member of the Group (other than to another member of the Group, 
or as a result of the exercise of the Warrants, or as a result of the exercise of any of the Conversion 
provisions of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement in respect of the Loan Notes) or 
a recapitalisation of the Company or a member of the Group; or (b) any material asset sale by the 
Company or another member of the Group, the Noteholders shall be entitled to require the Company 
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to apply such cumulative net proceeds received in repayment of the Loan Notes held by the Note 
Purchasers on a pro rata basis within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the cumulative net proceeds. 

5.7   The Loan Notes are also repayable on demand in whole or part at the option of the Noteholders 
Representative in the event of certain standard events of default (including a material adverse change 
in the business of the Company) occurring. 

6.     Redemption Premium 
6.1   Other than as described in paragraph 5.5 above, there is a Redemption Premium in respect of the 

participation in any Loan Note being prepaid, redeemed or repurchased, which is an amount calculated 
at the rate of 25 per cent. of the redemption or repurchase price (such redemption or repurchase price 
being equal to the principal amount thereof). 

7.     Information Rights 
7.1   The Note Purchasers have the right to be provided with certain information by the Company for so 

long as any of the Loan Notes are outstanding, including: 

        7.1.1    the annual budget for the financial year ending on 30 April or 31 December (as applicable for 
each Obligor (as defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement) 
incorporated in the United States); and 

        7.1.2    weekly cash level updates.  

7.2   The Company has agreed that it will not (and will procure that none of its subsidiaries will), at any time, 
provide to a Note Purchaser, the Noteholders Representative or the Security Agent any “inside 
information” as defined in Article 7 of UK MAR, other than: 

        7.2.1    at the same time such information is publicly announced; 

        7.2.2    where the Note Purchaser, Noteholders Representative or Security Agent consents in writing 
to receiving such “inside information” prior to being provided with it; or 

        7.2.3    where such information is being provided to the Noteholders Representative, where such 
“inside information” is identified to the Noteholders Representative. 

8.     Covenants by the Company 
8.1   For so long as any of the Loan Notes are outstanding, the Company and the Group are subject to 

certain standard positive and negative covenants in a form typical to market standard finance 
documents. These covenants also include budgetary compliance and restrictions on director bonuses 
while the Loan Notes are outstanding. 

9.     Transfers 
9.1   A Note Purchaser must obtain the prior written consent of the Company before it may assign any of 

its rights or transfer by novation any of its rights and obligations under any Finance Document (as 
defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement and including, for the avoidance of 
doubt, the Loan Notes), unless (a) the assignment or transfer is to another Note Purchaser or its 
affiliates and (other than any Original Purchaser) the aggregate funding commitment under the 
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement of the Note Purchaser and its affiliates is at least 
the lower of (i) £500,000, and (ii) the amount of Loan Notes held by that Note Purchaser immediately 
prior to and following such assignment or transfer; and (b) in the case of Hambro Perks Nominee, the 
transfer is a direct or indirect transfer of beneficial interests to other investors managed or advised by 
Hambro Perks Asset Management Limited. 
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9.2   If an event of default (such as those detailed in paragraph 5.7 above) is continuing, a Note Purchaser 
may assign any of its rights or transfer by novation any of its rights and obligations under any Finance 
Document (as defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement and including, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the Loan Notes) without the prior written consent of the Company. 

10.   Representations and Warranties 
10.1 The Company and each Obligor (as defined in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement) 

gives customary representations and warranties in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase 
Agreement as at the date of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Amendment and Restatement 
Agreement and the effective date of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement (under 
the Amendment and Restatement Agreement) and as at the date of issue of the Loan Notes. Certain 
of the representations and warranties will be repeated on the last day of each calendar month for so 
long as any part of the Loan Notes are outstanding. 

11.   Amendments and Waivers 
11.1 Amendments to, and waivers of, the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Note 

Purchase Agreement require the consent of the Company and a two thirds majority of the Noteholders, 
save for certain material amendments and waivers, which require unanimous consent from the 
Noteholders and the Company. 

12.   Lord Drayson Undertaking  
12.1 Lord Drayson has entered into a letter of undertaking to the Company and the Note Purchasers dated 

7 April 2022 which provides that until the Loan Notes have been redeemed in full (and notwithstanding 
any Conversion thereof and notwithstanding anything contained in the Amended and Restated Note 
Purchase Agreement to the contrary), Lord Drayson will not, without prejudice to his rights under 
clause 4 of a relationship agreement between Lord Drayson, Peel Hunt and the Company dated 
13 August 2018, use his or his family’s holdings in the Company or any member of the Group to 
attempt to appoint or remove any directors of the Company or a member of the Group. 

13.   Governing Law and Jurisdiction 
13.1 The Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement is governed by the laws of England and the 

courts of England and Wales have exclusive jurisdiction in relation to disputes. 
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SECTION B 

AMENDED AND RESTATED WARRANT INSTRUMENT 

1.     Background 
1.1   The Company entered into the Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument by way of a deed poll on 

18 April 2022 for the purposes of creating Warrants to subscribe for Ordinary Shares. The total number 
of Ordinary Shares over which Warrants may be issued under the Warrant Instrument is 29,169,448 
(representing approximately 17.52 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last 
Practicable Date).  

2.     Key Terms  
2.1   The Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument provides that: 

        2.1.1    each Warrant carries the right to subscribe for one Ordinary Share at an exercise price of £0.10 
(being the current nominal value of the Ordinary Shares) per Warrant, and, following completion 
of the Sub-division, at an exercise price of £0.008 (being the resulting nominal value of the 
Ordinary Shares following the Sub-division) per Warrant; 

        2.1.2    the Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part at any time from the date of issue until 
5.00 p.m. on 15 January 2025 (the “Final Date”). A failure by any Warrant Holder to exercise 
the Warrants ahead of 5.00 p.m. on the Final Date shall mean that the Warrants shall 
immediately lapse and be cancelled; 

        2.1.3    upon any Adjustment Event (as defined in the Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument), 
which includes: 

                    (a)     any allotment or issue of Ordinary Shares, including out of profits or share premium 
account or other reserves where the consideration for such allotment or issue is at a price 
per Ordinary Share which is less than the fair market value of an Ordinary Share at the 
date of such allotment or issue (which, while the Ordinary Shares are traded on AIM, is 
calculated by reference to the volume weighted average price of one Ordinary Share 
during the ten (10) consecutive trading day period immediately preceding the relevant 
date (the “Fair Market Value”)), excluding (i) any allotment or issue of Ordinary Shares 
pursuant to the exercise of the Warrants, (ii) any allotment or issue of Ordinary Shares in 
connection with employee share schemes; (iii) any allotment or issue of Ordinary Shares 
pursuant to the Strategic Research Agreements; (iv) the grant of rights of Conversion of 
the principal amount of the Loan Notes (including any Redemption Premium) into Ordinary 
Shares under the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement; or (v) any allotment 
or issue of Ordinary Shares upon the exercise of such rights of Conversion in accordance 
with the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement; 

                    (b)     any re-designation or amendment of the terms of any security or instrument such that it 
becomes convertible or exchangeable into an Ordinary Share where the aggregate of the 
consideration received by the Company is less than the Fair Market Value;  

                    (c)     any re-designation or amendment of the terms of any security or instrument such that it 
is converted or exchanged into or becomes an Ordinary Share where the aggregate of 
the consideration received by the Company is less than the Fair Market Value;  

                    (d)     any sub-division or consolidation or reclassification of Ordinary Shares but excluding the 
Sub-division;  

                    (e)     any cancellation or reduction of the Company’s share capital, share premium account or 
capital redemption reserve or any purchase or redemption of Ordinary Shares or 
instruments or rights convertible into Ordinary Shares; or 

                    (f)      any increase in the nominal value of Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of reserves, 

                    provided that this does not include an allotment or issue of Ordinary Shares (or instruments or 
rights convertible or exchangeable into Ordinary Shares) for cash or in respect of any of the 
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events referred to in paragraph 2.1.3(b) and (c) insofar as the Fair Market Value per Ordinary 
Share immediately prior to the Adjustment Event is £0.75 (75 pence) or more, the number 
and/or nominal value of Ordinary Shares to be subscribed for on any subsequent exercise of 
the Subscription Rights will be increased or reduced, as the case may be, as the auditors 
acting as experts and not as arbitrators shall certify as being necessary in order that, after 
such adjustment, a Warrant Holder will be in the same economic position as it had been prior 
to the adjustment and notice of any such adjustment will be sent to each Warrant Holder within 
10 Business Days thereafter; 

        2.1.4    the Warrant Holders may exercise the Warrants without paying cash by reducing the number 
of Ordinary Shares receivable by the Warrant Holder by an amount equal in value to the 
aggregate Warrant Exercise Price that the Warrant Holder would otherwise have to pay; and 

        2.1.5    the Warrants are not transferable except with the prior written consent of the Company, save 
for a Warrant Holder may freely transfer the Warrants in whole or in part (but not less than 
500,000 Warrants per transfer) to any of such Warrant Holder’s affiliates upon written notice 
to the Company. 

3.     Issued Warrants 
3.1   Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, the Company has 

issued Warrants to subscribe for 29,169,448 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
17.52 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date) as follows: 

        3.1.1    Warrants to subscribe for 8,239,950 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
4.95 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which 
were issued pro rata to the Original Purchasers on issue of the Original Notes (the “Closing 
Warrants”); 

        3.1.2    Warrants to subscribe for 12,689,541 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
7.62 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which 
were issued pro rata to the Original Purchasers in connection with the Original Notes, subject 
to certain conditions as set out in the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement (the 
“Post-Closing Warrants”); and 

        3.1.3    Warrants to subscribe for 8,239,957 Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 
4.95 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital as at the Last Practicable Date), which 
were issued pro rata to the Additional A Note Purchasers on issue of the Additional A Notes 
(the “Additional A Note Warrants”). 

3.2   The Warrants have been issued as described above to the persons listed below in the numbers set 
out against their name: 

         Post- Additional  
        Closing Closing A Note  
        Purchaser Name Warrants Warrants Warrants 

        Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 1,297,629 1,998,352 nil 
        Gatemore Investment Partners I LP nil nil 1,373,326 
        Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 2,251,647 3,467,542 2,647,773 
        Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment  

Master Fund Limited 84,086 129,493 98,879 
        MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited nil nil 4,119,979 
        Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd 3,633,366 5,595,389 nil 
        Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP 454,171 699,424 nil 
        Peel Hunt LLP 519,051 799,341 nil 
 –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
        Total 8,239,950 12,689,541 8,239,957 
 –––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––  –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
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PART III 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

1.     Responsibility  
1.1   The Directors accept responsibility for the information (including any expressions of opinion) contained 

in this Circular, other than information relating to the Concert Party and the Independent Directors’ 
recommendation in relation to the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting. 
To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure 
that such is the case), the information contained in this Circular for which they accept responsibility is 
in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

1.2   The Independent Directors accept responsibility for their recommendation (including any expressions 
of opinion) in relation to the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting. To the 
best of the knowledge and belief of the Independent Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to 
ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Circular for which they accept 
responsibility is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of 
such information. 

1.3   Each of the responsible persons of each member of the Concert Party (excluding Alex Snow) accepts 
responsibility for the information (including any expressions of opinion) contained in this Circular relating 
to the relevant member of the Concert Party (excluding Alex Snow). To the best of the knowledge and 
belief of the responsible persons of each such member of the Concert Party (excluding Alex Snow) 
(who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this 
Circular for which they accept responsibility is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything 
likely to affect the import of such information. 

1.4   Alex Snow accepts responsibility for the information (including any expressions of opinion) contained 
in this Circular relating to Alex Snow (as a member of the Concert Party). To the best of the knowledge 
and belief of Alex Snow (who has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the 
information contained in this Circular for which he accepts responsibility is in accordance with the facts 
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

2.     Incorporation and general information 
The Company was incorporated in England on 20 June 2018 as a private limited company with the name 
Drayson Health Holdco Limited with registered number 11425451. On 5 July 2018, the Company changed 
its name to Sensyne Health Limited. On 13 August 2018, the Company was re-registered as a public limited 
company with the name Sensyne Health plc. 

The registered office of the Company and its principal place of business is at John Eccles House, Robert 
Robinson Avenue, Oxford Science Park, Oxford, Oxfordshire OX4 4GP. The telephone number of the 
Company’s registered office and principal place of business is +44 (0) 330 058 1845 and its website is 
www.sensynehealth.com. The Company is domiciled in England. 

3.     Directors 
The Directors of the Company and their functions are set out in the table below. 

The business address of the Directors is John Eccles House, Robert Robinson Avenue, Oxford Science 
Park, Oxford, Oxfordshire, England OX4 4GP. 

Director                                                                                                                                          Function 

Sir Bruce Keogh                                                                                                   Non-Executive Chairman 
Alex Snow                                                                                                                Chief Executive Officer 
Dr. Richard Pye                                                                                                          Chief Financial Officer 
Tony Bourne                                                                                        Independent Non-Executive Director 
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Director                                                                                                                                          Function 

Mary Hardy                                                                                                     Senior Independent Director 
Dr. Ian Hudson                                                                                   Independent Non-Executive Director 
Michael Norris                                                                                    Independent Non-Executive Director 
Geoff Race                                                                                         Independent Non-Executive Director 
Professor Lionel Tarassenko                                                        Non-Executive Director & Director of R&D 

Alex Snow cannot be treated as an independent director of the Company in relation to the Rule 9 Waiver 
Resolution as he is a member of the Concert Party. Accordingly, Alex Snow has taken no part in the 
recommendation of the Board in connection with the Resolutions. The Independent Directors comprise 
Bruce Keogh, Richard Pye, Tony Bourne, Mary Hardy, Ian Hudson, Michael Norris, Geoff Race and Lionel 
Tarassenko. 

4.     Details of members of the Concert Party 

4.1   Gatemore 
        4.1.1  Founded in 2005 and based in London, Gatemore is an independent asset manager focused 

on two strategies: (i) turnarounds and shareholder activism; and (ii) clean technology ventures. 
Gatemore Capital Management LLP is a UK, FCA-regulated investment manager. 

        4.1.2  In September 2015, Gatemore launched the Gatemore Special Opportunities Fund, a highly 
concentrated, activist strategy focused on turnarounds, recoveries and growth across small-cap  
companies in the UK and US.  

        4.1.3  Gatemore Capital Management LLP first invested in the Company in February 2020. Gatemore 
is presently the sixth largest Shareholder, with 9,892,099 Ordinary Shares comprising 
5.94 per cent. of the issued share capital. 

        4.1.4  Further information on Gatemore can be found at http://www.gatemore.com/  

        4.1.5  Responsible persons 

                  Liad Meidar (Managing Partner) 

                  George Cadbury (Partner) 

                  David Cassells (Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer) 

        4.1.6  Incorporation and registered office 

                  Gatemore Capital Management LLP was incorporated on 15 June 2009, and its registered office 
is at 33 Cavendish Square, London, W1G 0PW, company number OC346366. 

        4.1.7  Share Capital 

                  Gatemore’s interests in Ordinary Shares are held by GCM Partners II LP. Gatemore has three 
partners, (i) a corporate entity based in the US, Gatemore Capital Management LLC, (ii) Liad 
Meidar, an individual who resides in the UK, and (iii) George Cadbury, an individual who resides 
in the UK. Liad Meidar also has ultimate control of Gatemore Capital Management LLC. 
Gatemore Capital Management LLP acts as the investment manager to GCM Partners II LP. 

        4.1.8  Ultimate ownership of Gatemore 

                  Gatemore is 100 per cent. owned by Liad Meidar, Managing Partner of Gatemore and his wife. 
As Managing Partner, Liad Meidar oversees portfolio management including the direct 
investments of Gatemore. Prior to founding Gatemore in 2005, Liad was a Founder and Principal 
at Felix Partners, a financial advisory firm based in New York advising family offices on private 
investments. Prior to that he was Founder and CEO of i5 Digital, a technology company 
incubator based in Seattle, and CEO of Ubarter.com, a publicly-traded online business also 
based in Seattle. Liad began his career in New York in leveraged finance at BT Alex Brown, the 
investment banking division of Bankers Trust (Deutsche Bank). Liad has extensive experience 
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as a board member of companies undergoing turnarounds. The first was at Jazz Technologies, 
a publicly-traded semiconductor wafer foundry based in Newport, California which was acquired 
by Tower Semiconductor. The second was at MAG Industrial Automation Systems, a 
privately-held global machine tool builder with dual headquarters in the US and Germany. 

4.2   Lansdowne 
        4.2.1  Founded in 1998, Lansdowne Partners operates as an investment management firm. The firm 

offers portfolio management and advisory services to professional investors such as institutions, 
trusts, private funds, charitable organisations, and investment companies. Lansdowne Partners 
serves customers worldwide and has offices in London and Vienna and with approximately 
$8 billion assets under management. 

        4.2.2  Lansdowne first invested in the pre-cursor business to Sensyne (Drayson Technologies) in 
April 2015 in its Series B private funding round. Lansdowne’s investment decisions are taken 
by Peter Davies and his team for the benefit of Lansdowne’s clients. Lansdowne is presently 
the second largest Shareholder, with 13,436,786 Ordinary Shares comprising 8.07 per cent. of 
the issued share capital. 

        4.2.3  Further information on Lansdowne can be found at https://www.lansdownepartners.com/  

        4.2.4  Responsible persons 

                  Suzi Nutton (Managing Partner and Chief Executive Officer) 

                  Brian Heyworth (Managing Partner) 

                  Hugh Orange (Partner, Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer) 

        4.2.5  Incorporation and Registered Office 

                  Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP was incorporated on 5 November 2013, and its registered office 
is at 15 Davies Street, London, W1K 3AG, company number OC388966. 

        4.2.6  Share Capital 

                  Lansdowne’s interests in Ordinary Shares are held by Lansdowne Developed Markets Master 
Fund Limited and Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment Master Fund Limited. 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP, the duly appointed investment manager, has two designated 
members, a corporate entity based in the UK, Lansdowne Partners Limited, and Peter Davies, 
an individual who resides in the UK. 

        4.2.7  Ultimate ownership of Lansdowne 

                  The immediate parent company is Lansdowne Partners Limited and the ultimate parent 
undertaking is Lansdowne Partners International Limited, a company registered in Georgetown, 
Cayman Islands. 

4.3   Sand Grove 
        4.3.1  Sand Grove Capital Management LLP (“Sand Grove”) is an alternative investment manager 

based in London that was founded in 2014 by Simon Davies. The firm employs a traditional 
European focused event driven strategy on behalf of its clients. The team seeks to exploit 
opportunities across the capital structure with a flexible value biased approach. Sand Grove is 
headquartered in London, with an office in New York, and has approximately $2 billion in assets 
under management or advisement. 

        4.3.2  Sand Grove first invested in the Company in August 2018 on behalf of one of its clients. Sand 
Grove, through its clients, is presently the third largest Shareholder, with 11,024,633 Ordinary 
Shares comprising 6.62 per cent. of the issued share capital. Any references herein to Sand 
Grove’s shareholding or interests in the Company should be interpreted as references to Sand 
Grove’s advisory clients for which it exercises investment discretion.  
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        4.3.3  Further information on Sand Grove can be found at https://sandgrovecapital.com/  

        4.3.4  Responsible persons 

                  Simon Davies (Founder, CIO, Senior Member) 

                  Anooj Unarket (Portfolio Manager, Senior Member) 

                  Jonathan Groom (COO, Senior Member) 

        4.3.5  Incorporation and Registered Office 

                  Sand Grove was incorporated on 11 July 2014, and its registered office is at 5 Hanover Square, 
London W1S 1HE, company number OC394221. 

        4.3.6  Share Capital 

                  Sand Grove’s interests in Ordinary Shares are held by Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund, 
a client for which Sand Grove exercises investment discretion. Sand Grove Capital Management 
LLP has two designated members, a corporate entity based in the Cayman Islands, Sand Grove 
Capital Intermediate Ltd, and Simon Davies, an individual who resides in the UK. 

        4.3.7  Ultimate ownership of Sand Grove 

                  The ultimate controlling party of Sand Grove Capital Management LLP is Simon Davies, a senior 
member of the Sand Grove Capital Management LLP. 

4.4   Hambro Perks Limited 
        4.4.1  HPL is a European venture capital investment group that focuses on building, financing and 

developing high-growth European technology companies. HPL invests under numerous 
strategies and has aggregate assets under management of just under £400 million. 

        4.4.2  Further information on HPL can be found at www.hambroperks.com.  

        4.4.3  Responsible persons 

                  Sir Anthony Salz (Chairman) 

                  Dominic Perks (Director) 

                  Andrew Wyke (Director) 

                  George Davies (Director) 

        4.4.4  Incorporation and Registered Office 

                  HPL was incorporated on 4 November 2013, and has its registered office at 111 Buckingham 
Palace Road, London, England SW1W 0SR, company number 08760647. 

        4.4.5  Share Capital 

                  HPL does not hold any interest in Ordinary Shares. 

        4.4.6  Ultimate ownership of HPL 

                  HPL has over 100 individual shareholders, none of whom hold over 10 per cent. of the issued 
share capital of HPL. 

4.5   Alex Snow 
        Alex Snow is an experienced entrepreneur with extensive, executive leadership and a proven track 

record in AI drug discovery. Alex has a strong background in entrepreneurship and investment in both 
finance and data driven life science industries. He recently stepped down as Chairman of AI drug 
discovery company Exscientia prior to its successful $2.6 billion Nasdaq IPO. In 2015 he co-founded 
Oxford Sciences Innovation Plc, now called Oxford Science Enterprises plc (“OSE”), and raised more 
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than £600 million to commercialise world-leading science originating at Oxford University. Prior to OSE, 
Alex spent 20 years in investment banking and fund management, including as CEO of Lansdowne 
Partners UK LLP, a long-standing shareholder in Sensyne, and as founder and CEO of Evolution Group, 
a UK mid-market investment banking and wealth management group sold to Investec Bank. 

5.     Interests and dealings in relevant securities 
For the purpose of this paragraph: 

“acting in concert” has the meaning attributed to it in the Takeover Code; 

“arrangement” includes any indemnity or option arrangements, and any agreement or understanding, 
formal or informal, of whatever nature, relating to relevant securities which may be an inducement to deal 
or refrain from dealing; 

“connected person” has the meaning attributed to it in section 252 of the Companies Act 2006; 

“control” means a holding, or aggregate holdings, of shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting 
rights attributable to the share capital of a company which are currently exercisable at a general meeting, 
irrespective of whether the holding or aggregate holding gives de facto control; 

“dealing” or “dealt” includes the following: (a) the acquisition or disposal of relevant securities, of the right 
(whether conditional or absolute) to exercise or direct the exercise of voting rights attached to relevant 
securities, or of general control of relevant securities; (b) the taking, granting, acquisition, disposal, entering 
into, closing out, termination, exercise (by either party) or variation of an option (including a trade option 
contract) in respect of any relevant securities; (c) subscribing or agreeing to subscribe for relevant securities; 
(d) the exercise or conversion of any relevant securities carrying conversion or subscription rights (whether 
in respect of new or existing securities); (e) the acquisition of, disposal of, entering into, closing out, exercise 
(by either party) of any rights under, or variation of, a derivative referenced, directly or indirectly, to relevant 
securities; (f) entering into, terminating or varying the terms of any agreement to purchase or sell relevant 
securities; and (g) any other action resulting, or which may result, in an increase or decrease in the number 
of relevant securities in which a person is interested or in respect of which he/she has a short position; 

“derivative” includes any financial product whose value in whole or in part is determined directly or indirectly 
by reference to the price of an underlying security; 

“interested” in relevant securities includes where a person: (a) owns relevant securities; (b) has a right 
(whether conditional or absolute) to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting rights attaching to relevant 
securities or has general control of them; (c) by virtue of any agreement to purchase, option or derivative, 
has the right or option to acquire relevant securities or call for their delivery or is under an obligation to take 
delivery of them, whether the right, option or obligation is conditional or absolute and whether it is in the 
money or otherwise; or (d) is party to any derivative whose value is determined by reference to their price 
and which results, or may result, in his having a long position in them; 

“relevant securities” includes: (a) shares and any other securities carrying voting rights; (b) equity share 
capital (or derivatives referenced thereto); and (c) securities carrying conversion or subscription rights 
(including traded options); and 

“short position” means any short position (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the money or 
otherwise) including any short position under a derivative, agreement to sell or any delivery obligation or 
right to require any other person to purchase or take delivery. 

The Takeover Panel will not normally waive an obligation under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code if any member 
of the Concert Party, or any person acting in concert with it, has acquired any interest in Ordinary Shares in 
the Company in the 12 months preceding the date of this Circular relating to the proposals but subsequent 
to negotiations, discussions or the reaching of understandings and/or agreements with the Directors in 
relation to the Strategic Financing. In addition, the Rule 9 Waiver will be invalidated if any acquisition of any 
interest in Ordinary Shares in the Company are made in the period between the date of this Circular and the 
General Meeting. 
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5.1   Interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Shares 
        As at the Last Practicable Date, the interests of the Directors and their immediate families, related 

trusts and connected persons (all of which are beneficial unless otherwise stated) in the Ordinary Shares 
of the Company were as follows: 

Ordinary Shares  
as a percentage 

Number of of issued 
Director Ordinary Shares share capital  

Bruce Keogh 11,111 0.01 
Alex Snow 0 0 
Richard Pye*3 0 0 
Mary Hardy 22,222 0.01 
Lionel Tarassenko 22,222 0.01 
Tony Bourne 0 0 
Ian Hudson 0 0 
Michael Norris 27,777 0.02 
Geoff Race 0 0 

        No dealings in Ordinary Shares by Directors have taken place during the 12 months prior to the Last 
Practicable Date. 

5.2   Interests of the Concert Party 

        (a)       Interests of members of the Concert Party in the Ordinary Shares 

                  As at the Last Practicable Date, the interests of members of the Concert Party in the Ordinary 
Shares of the Company were as follows: 

Percentage of  
Number of the issued  

Ordinary Shares share capital 
Name held of the Company 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 9,892,099 5.94% 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP nil 0% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 12,952,838 7.78% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment 
Master Fund Limited 483,948 0.29% 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP nil 0% 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 11,024,633 6.62% 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP nil 0% 
Hambro Perks Limited nil 0% 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited nil 0% 
Alex Snow nil 0% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 34,353,518 20.64% 
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3 Dr. Pye also has 8,000 outstanding unit awards under the Company’s value creation plan.



        (b)      Interests of members of the Concert Party in the Warrants 

        As at the Last Practicable Date, the interests of members of the Concert Party in Warrants to subscribe 
for Ordinary Shares in the Company were as follows: 

Number of 
Name Warrants held 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP 0 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 3,295,981 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP 1,373,326 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP 0 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 8,366,962 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment Master Fund Limited 312,458 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP 0 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 9,228,755 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP 1,153,595 
Hambro Perks Limited 0 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited 4,119,979 
Alex Snow 0 

–––––––––––––––––– 
Total 27,851,056 

        (c)       Maximum potential percentage holdings of the members of the Concert Party in the Ordinary 
Shares 

        The maximum potential percentage holdings of the members of the Concert Party in the Ordinary 
Shares based on (i) the Conversion in full of the Original Notes and the Additional A Notes and the 
exercise of Warrants in full and (ii) the Conversion in full of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes 
and the exercise of Warrants in full, were as follows4: 

Potential maximum  
shareholding  

(percentage of the issued  
share capital  

of the Company) 
(i) (ii) 

Conversion Conversion 
of the Original of the Original 

Notes and Notes and 
the Additional the Additional 

A Notes Notes  
and the and the  

exercise of exercise 
Name Warrants of Warrants 

Gatemore Capital Management LLP 0% 0% 
Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund 7.91% 7.54% 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP 7.29% 7.23% 
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP 0% 0% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited 27.54% 26.90% 
Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment  
Master Fund Limited 1.03% 1.00% 
Sand Grove Capital Management LLP 0% 0% 
Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. 21.19% 20.63% 
Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP 2.57% 2.54% 
Hambro Perks Limited 0% 0% 
MNL (Hambro Perks) Nominees Limited 21.87% 21.69% 
Alex Snow 0% 7.20% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 89.40% 94.74% 

 

42

4 For illustrative purposes only, the Company has assumed that Alex Snow will subscribe for the entire £2 million in principal amount 
of loan notes and that the other members of the Concert Party shall subscribe pro rata in accordance with the Amended and Restated 
Note Purchase Agreement.



        (d)      Dealings in Ordinary Shares by the members of the Concert Party1 

                  The following dealings in Ordinary Shares by members of the Concert Party have taken place 
during the 12 months prior to the Last Practicable Date: 

        Gatemore: 
                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                 Ordinary  
        Date of transaction         Transaction details                                                        Shares             Price 

        04/10/2021                    CFD                                                                              75,000          115.00  
        05/10/2021                    CFD                                                                              25,000          114.00  
        05/10/2021                    CFD                                                                              50,000          115.00  
        05/10/2021                    CFD                                                                              60,000          115.00  
        29/10/2021                    Equity - Transfer to CFDs                                       - 2,150,457                   – 
        29/10/2021                    CFD - Transfer from Equities                                    2,150,457                   – 
        28/01/2022                    Acquisition of Closing Warrants                               1,297,629                   – 
        11/02/2022                    Acquisition of Post-Closing Warrants                       1,998,352                   – 
        21/04/2022                    Acquisition of Additional A Note Warrants                1,373,326                   – 
        28/04/2022                    CFD - Transfer to Equity                                          2,660,457                   – 

        Lansdowne: 
                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                 Ordinary  
        Date of transaction         Transaction details                                                        Shares             Price 

        08/07/2021                    Sale                                                                              10,662              1.41 
        14/07/2021                    Sale                                                                              10,000              1.40 
        15/07/2021                    Sale                                                                              15,000              1.40 
        16/07/2021                    Sale                                                                            700,000              1.40 
        28/01/2022                    Acquisition of Closing Warrants                               2,335,733                   – 
        11/02/2022                    Acquisition of Post-Closing Warrants                       3,597,035                   – 
        21/04/2022                    Acquisition of Additional A Note Warrants                2,746,652                   – 

        Sand Grove: 
                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                 Ordinary  
        Date of transaction         Transaction details                                                        Shares             Price 

        28/01/2022                    Acquisition of Closing Warrants                               4,087,537                   – 
        11/02/2022                    Acquisition of Post-Closing Warrants                       6,294,813                   – 

        Hambro Perks: 
                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                 Ordinary  
        Date of transaction         Transaction details                                                        Shares             Price 

        21/04/2022                    Acquisition of Additional A Note Warrants                4,119,979                   – 

        Alex Snow: 
                                                                                                                              Number of  
                                                                                                                                 Ordinary  
        Date of transaction         Transaction details                                                        Shares             Price 

        –                                     –                                                                                            –                   – 
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5 Note: Certain of the defined terms used in this section, such as ‘Closing Warrants’, ‘Post-Closing Warrants’ and ‘Additional A Note 
Warrants’ are defined in the Note Purchase Agreement.



        (e)       No dealings in Ordinary Shares have been undertaken by the responsible persons of the 
members of the Concert Party during the 12 months prior to the Last Practicable Date. 

        (f)        Pre-existing interests in the members of the Concert Party 

        The following persons have pre-existing interests in a member of the Concert Party which would create 
potential indirect interests of five per cent. or more in the capital of the Company following (i) the 
Conversion in full of the Original Notes and the Additional A Notes and the exercise of Warrants in full 
and (ii) the Conversion in full of the Original Notes and the Additional Notes and the exercise of 
Warrants: 

Percentage of the issued  
share capital of the  

Company to be indirectly held 
(i) (ii)  

Conversion Conversion 
of the Original of the Original  

Notes and Notes and 
the Additional the Additional  

A Notes Notes(1) 
and the and the 

exercise of exercise of  
Name Warrants Warrants 

Liad Meidar (Gatemore) 9.50% 8.60% 
Peter Davies (Lansdowne) 11.70% 11.40% 

–––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– 
Total 21.2% 20.0% 

        Gatemore Investment Partners I LP was established by Gatemore in connection with the Strategic 
Financing specifically for the purchase of Additional A Notes. Liad Meidar made an investment in 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP for the purposes of the Strategic Financing, thereby increasing his 
total investment in Gatemore and increasing his potential indirect interest in the issued share capital of 
the Company. Liad Meidar’s potential indirect interests in the issued share capital of the Company are 
set out above. Liad Meidar is the Managing Partner and ultimate controller of Gatemore Capital 
Management LLC. 

        No other person has made (nor proposes to make or increase) an investment in any member of the 
Concert Party for the purposes of the Strategic Financing. 

          Notes: 

          (1)       Assuming pro rata allocation between the Relevant Purchasers of the Additional B Notes and Additional C 

5.3   Interests of the Offeree concert parties in the Ordinary Shares 
        As at the Last Practicable Date, the interests of members of the Offeree concert party in the Ordinary 

Shares of the Company were as follows: 

Percentage of  
the issued  

Number of share capital  
Name Warrants held of the Company 

Peel Hunt LLP 1,318,392 0.8% 

5.4   General 
        Save as disclosed in this Circular, as at the Last Practicable Date and during the 12 months prior to 

the Last Practicable Date, to the best of their knowledge, the members of the Concert Party confirm: 

        (a)       none of the members of the Concert Party, had any interest in or a right to subscribe for, or had 
any short position in relation to, any relevant securities of the Company, nor had any such person 
dealt in any relevant securities of the Company; 
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        (b)       none of the members of the Concert Party, had borrowed or lent any relevant securities of the 
Company (save for any borrowed shares which have either been on-lent or sold or shares 
subject to rehypothecation by prime brokers); 

        (c)       none of the responsible persons of any member of the Concert Party (including any members 
of their respective immediate families, related trusts or connected persons) had any interest in 
or a right to subscribe for, or had any short positions in relation to any relevant securities of the 
Company, nor had any such person dealt in any relevant securities of the Company; and 

        (d)       none of the responsible persons of any member of the Concert Party (including any members 
of their respective immediate families, related trusts or connected persons) had borrowed or 
lent any relevant securities of the Company (save for any borrowed shares which have either 
been on-lent or sold). 

6.     Additional disclosures required by the Takeover Code 
6.1   Save as disclosed in this Circular, none of the responsible persons of any member of the Concert Party 

have any interest, direct or indirect, in any assets which have been or are proposed to be acquired or 
disposed of by, or leased to, the Company. 

6.2   No relationship (personal, financial or commercial), arrangement or understanding (including any 
compensation arrangement) exists between any member of the Concert Party and any of (i) the 
Directors, or recent directors (or their close relatives and related trusts), (ii) Shareholders or recent 
shareholders of the Company, or any person who is, or is presumed to be, acting in concert with such 
Shareholders or recent shareholders, (iii) Peel Hunt (as the Company’s Rule 3 adviser (within the 
meaning of the Takeover Code)) or any person who is, or is presumed to be, acting in concert with 
Peel Hunt, or (iv) any person interested or recently interested in the Ordinary Shares; having any 
connection with or dependence upon the Rule 9 Waiver or the proposals set out in this Circular or 
which is conditional on the outcome of the consideration of the Rule 9 Waiver or the proposals set out 
in this Circular. 

6.3   The legal interest in any Ordinary Shares acquired by the Concert Party upon Conversion and the 
exercise of Warrants will not be transferred to any other persons and there are no agreements, 
arrangements or understandings in relation to any such transfer. The Concert Party or funds under its 
management will be the ultimate owner(s) of the Ordinary Shares acquired upon Conversion and the 
exercise of Warrants.  

6.4   Save as disclosed in this Circular, as at the Last Practicable Date and during the 12 months prior to 
the Last Practicable Date: 

        (a)       the Company had undertaken no dealings in its own relevant securities; 

        (b)       the Company had not redeemed or purchased any of its own relevant securities; 

        (c)       neither the Company, nor any of the Directors nor any member of their immediate families or 
related trusts or connected persons, nor any person acting in concert with the Company or the 
Directors had an interest in or a right to subscribe for, or had any short position in any relevant 
securities of the Company or has dealt in any relevant securities of the Company; and 

        (d)       neither the Company or the Directors nor any person acting in concert with the Company or 
the Directors had borrowed or lent any relevant securities of the Company (save for any 
borrowed shares which have either been on-lent or sold). 

6.5   Save as disclosed in this Circular, as at the Last Practicable Date and during the 12 months prior to 
the Last Practicable Date: 

        (a)       neither the Company, nor any of the Directors nor any member of their immediate families or 
related trusts or connected persons, nor any person acting in concert with the Company or the 
Directors had an interest in or a right to subscribe for, or had any short position in any relevant 
securities of any member of the Concert Party or has dealt in any relevant securities of any 
member of the Concert Party; and 
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        (b)       neither the Company or the Directors nor any person acting in concert with the Company or 
the Directors had borrowed or lent any relevant securities of any member of the Concert Party 
(save for any borrowed shares which have either been on-lent or sold). 

6.6   The Concert Party confirms that no potentially disqualifying transactions have been undertaken by the 
Concert Party during the 12 months prior to the Last Practicable Date. 

7.     Directors’ service agreements and non-executive letters of appointment  
7.1   Alex Snow is employed as Chief Executive Officer under the terms of a service contract between the 

Company and Mr. Snow, entered into on 17 May 2022 for an indefinite period commencing from the 
date of his appointment, unless terminated by either party upon giving at least twelve months’ notice, 
at a base salary of £180,000 per annum for his role as Chief Executive Officer. The terms of Mr. Snow’s 
contract do not anticipate a bonus being payable. 

7.2   The services of Dr. Richard Pye as Chief Financial Officer are provided under the terms of a service 
contract between the Company and Dr. Pye, entered into on 26 February 2021 and commencing from 
the date of his appointment, to continue unless terminated upon at least six months’ notice, at a base 
salary of £250,000 per annum for his role as Chief Financial Officer. Dr. Pye received a bonus in the 
year ended 30 April 2021 of £19,000. Dr. Pye also has 8,000 outstanding unit awards under the 
Company’s value creation plan. 

7.3   The services of Sir Bruce Keogh as Non-Executive Director and Chairman are provided under the 
terms of a letter of appointment between the Company and Sir Bruce Keogh, entered into on 10 August 
2018 for an initial period of one year commencing from the date of his appointment, and thereafter 
unless and until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £75,000 per annum. 

7.4   The services of Tony Bourne as Independent Non-Executive Director are provided under the terms of 
a letter of appointment between the Company and Tony Bourne, entered into on 31 January 2021 for 
an initial period of three years commencing from the date of his appointment, and thereafter unless 
and until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £35,000 per annum and an 
additional £5,000 for serving as Chair of the Remuneration Committee. 

7.5   The services of Mary Hardy as Senior Independent Director are provided under the terms of a letter of 
appointment between the Company and Mary Hardy, entered into on 10 August 2018 for an initial 
period of one year commencing from the date of her appointment, and thereafter unless and until 
terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £35,000 per annum and an additional 
£5,000 for serving as Chair of the Audit Committee and £5,000 as being the senior non-executive 
director. 

7.6   The services of Dr. Ian Hudson as Independent Non-Executive Director are provided under the terms 
of a letter of appointment between the Company and Dr. Hudson, entered into on 17 June 2021 for 
an initial period of three years commencing from the date of his appointment, and thereafter unless 
and until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a fee of £35,000 per annum. 

7.7   The services of Michael Norris as Independent Non-Executive Director are provided under the terms 
of a letter of appointment between the Company and Michael Norris, entered into on 5 March 2021 
for an initial period of three years commencing from the date of his appointment, and thereafter unless 
and until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £35,000 per annum. 

7.8   The services of Geoff Race as Independent Non-Executive Director are provided under the terms of a 
letter of appointment between the Company and Geoff Race, entered into on 27 February 2021 for an 
initial period of three years commencing from the date of his appointment, and thereafter unless and 
until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £35,000 per annum. 

7.9   The services of Prof. Lionel Tarassenko as Non-Executive Director and Director of R&D are provided 
under the terms of a letter of appointment between the Company and Prof. Tarassenko, entered into 
on 2 October 2018 for an initial period of one year commencing from the date of his appointment, and 
thereafter unless and until terminated upon at least one months’ notice, at a base salary of £161,000 
per annum, which includes £35,000 for his services as a Non-Executive Director. Prof. Tarassenko 
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received a bonus in the year ended 30 April 2021 of £5,000. Prof. Tarassenko also has outstanding 
options of 214,285 under the Company’s Share Option Plan 2018. 

7.10 Save as disclosed in this Circular, there are no service agreements in existence between any of the 
Directors and the Company and no service contracts have been entered into nor have existing service 
contracts been replaced or amended during the period of six months prior to the date of this Circular. 

7.11 Each of the non-executive directors has signed a waiver letter dated 14 April 2022 agreeing to waiver 
their economic interests in the Company (and any other member of the Company’s Group) from and 
including April 2022. In doing so, they each waivered any and all future economic rights that they have 
in the Company (or any other member of the Company’s group) arising out of their continuing 
appointment as a non-executive director of the Company under their letter of appointment. Each 
non-executive director is not eligible for any further payment from the Company relating to their 
appointment as a non-executive director (including, payment of bonuses, any benefit or award 
programme, under any share plan operated by the Company or any stand-alone share incentive 
arrangement). The waiver does not apply to any personal economic interests such as the holding of 
ordinary shares in the Company (if any). The Directors’ shareholdings and share interests are set out 
in section 5.1 in this Part III. 

7.12 There will be no change to any of the letters of appointment as a result of the passing of the 
Resolutions. 

8.     Financial Information on the Company 
The following information is incorporated by reference into this document pursuant to Rule 24.15 of the 
Takeover Code and is available free of charge on the Company’s website at www.sensynehealth.com. 
A Shareholder may request a copy of such information in hard copy form (hard copies will not be provided 
unless requested). Hard copies may be requested by written request to Laura Hillier at the Company’s 
registered address, by email on company.secretary@sensynehealth.com, or by calling +44 (0) 330 058 1845 
between 8.30 a.m. and 5.30 p.m. Monday to Friday (except UK public holidays). 

–      the Interim Results of the Company for the six month period ended 31 October 2021; 

–      the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2021; 

–      the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2020; and 

–      the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2019. 

All reports referenced above can be found at the following website address: 
https://www.sensynehealth.com/investors/reports-presentations 

Paragraph 3 of Part I of this document contains an update on current trading. The Company’s Annual Report 
and Accounts listed above contain the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial 
years ended 30 April 2021, 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2019, together with the audit report in respect of 
each year. 

                                                                                                                                                           Page  
Information incorporated by reference to this document                    Reference Document             Number 

For the Six Months ended 31 October 2021 
Interim Results announcement                                                          Announcement dated  
                                                                                                         31 January 2022 
For the year ended 30 April 2021 
Independent Auditors’ report to the members                                   Annual report 2021                        60 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income                            Annual report 2021                        69 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity                                     Annual report 2021                        73 
Consolidated statement of financial position                                      Annual report 2021                        70 
Consolidated statement of cash flows                                               Annual report 2021                        72 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements                                  Annual report 2021                        75 
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                                                                                                                                                           Page  
Information incorporated by reference to this document                    Reference Document             Number 

For the year ended 30 April 2020 
Independent Auditors’ report to the members                                   Annual report 2020                        54 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income                            Annual report 2020                        59 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity                                     Annual report 2020                        63 
Consolidated statement of financial position                                      Annual report 2020                        60 
Consolidated statement of cash flows                                               Annual report 2020                        62 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements                                  Annual report 2020                        65 
 
For the year ended 30 April 2019 
Independent Auditors’ report to the members                                   Annual report 2019 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income                            Annual report 2019                        50 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity                                     Annual report 2019                        59 
Consolidated statement of financial position                                      Annual report 2019                        57 
Consolidated statement of cash flows                                               Annual report 2019                        58 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements                                  Annual report 2019                        61 

9.     Financial Information on Gatemore, Lansdowne, Sand Grove and HPL  
9.1   Gatemore Capital Management LLP’s accounts are incorporated by reference and are available at 

the following website address https://find-and-update.company-
information.service.gov.uk/company/OC346366/filing-history. 

9.2   Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund and Gatemore Investment Partners I LP are not required 
to publish financial information and there is no financial information relating to them that is publicly 
available. 

9.3   Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP’s accounts are incorporated by reference and are available at the 
following website address https://find-and-update.company-
information.service.gov.uk/company/OC388966/filing-history. 

9.4   Lansdowne Developed Markets Master Fund Limited and Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic 
Investment Master Fund Limited are not required to publish financial information and there is no financial 
information relating to them that is publicly available. 

9.5   Sand Grove Capital Management LLP’s accounts are incorporated by reference and are available on: 
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/OC394221/filing-history 

9.6   Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. and Sand Grove Tactical Fund LP are not required to 
publish financial information and there is no financial information relating to them that is publicly 
available. 

9.7   HPL’s accounts are incorporated by reference and are available at the following website address 
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/08760647/filing-history.  

10.   Ratings and Outlook 

10.1 Ratings and Outlook of the Concert Party 
        There are no current public ratings or outlooks accorded to Gatemore, Lansdowne, Sand Grove or 

HPL by ratings agencies. 

10.2 Ratings and Outlook of the Company 
        There are no current public ratings or outlooks accorded to the Company by ratings agencies. 
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11.   Material Contracts 

11.1 Material Contracts of the Concert Party 

        (a)       Gatemore, Lansdowne and Sand Grove 

                  Neither Gatemore, Lansdowne nor Sand Grove have entered into any material contract (other 
than any contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) since the date two years 
prior to the date of this document. 

        (b)       HPL 

                  2021 Sponsor Warrant Purchase Agreement 

                  On 24 November 2021, HPAC Sponsor LLP, an affiliate of HPL (the “Sponsor”), and Hambro 
Perks Acquisition Company Limited (“HPA”), entered into a sponsor warrant purchase 
agreement in connection with the initial public offering of HPA (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the 
agreement, the Sponsor agreed to subscribe for class B warrants (the “Sponsor Warrants”) 
in a private placement occurring concurrently with the Placing. The Sponsor has also committed 
further additional funds to HPA in the event of HPA extending the deadline of its acquisition of  
a majority stake in a company or operating business through a merger, capital stock exchange, 
share purchase, asset acquisition, reorganisation or similar transaction (the “Business 
Combination”). The proceeds from this private placement were used to finance the listing 
expenses and the operating costs of HPA. 

                  In addition, under the agreement, the Sponsor or an affiliate of the Sponsor may (but is not 
obligated) loan HPA funds required to finance transaction costs in connection with the Business 
Combination. Up to £1,500,000 of such loans may be convertible into warrants of the 
post-Business Combination company at the option of the lender. 

                  In addition, the Sponsor has agreed that it will be liable to HPA if and to the extent any claims 
by a third party (other than HPA’s independent auditors and legal counsel) for services rendered 
or products sold to HPA, or a prospective target company or business with which HPA has 
discussed entering into a transaction agreement, reduce the amount of funds in HPA’s escrow 
account to below certain levels.  

11.2 Material Contracts of the Company 
        The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have been 

entered into by the Company during the two years preceding the date of this Circular and are or may 
be material or have been entered into by the Company and contain any provision under which the 
Company has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Company at the date of this Circular: 

        (a)       Documents relating to the Strategic Financing 

                  Please see summaries of the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, and the 
Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument at Part II (Details of the Strategic Financing).  

        (b)       Lease Assignment 

                  Sensyne Group UK assigned its interests in three leasehold interests at the Schrödinger Building, 
The Oxford Science Park, Oxford to ExScientia AI Limited (“Exscientia”) on 25 March 2022. 
The transaction was effected via a licence to assign made between The Oxford Science Park 
(Properties) Limited (“OSP”), Sensyne Group UK and Exscientia and a Sale Contract and a Form 
TR1 made between Sensyne Group UK and ExScientia (the “Lease Transfer Documents”). 
No consideration was payable to Sensyne Group UK by Exscientia under the Lease Transfer 
Documents (other than that Exscientia covered Sensyne Group UK’s legal fees) and no 
authorised guarantee agreement was given by Sensyne Group UK to OSP in respect of this 
transaction. 

        (c)       Peel Hunt Engagement Letters 

                  An engagement letter entered into between the Company and Peel Hunt dated 1 November 
2021 pursuant to which the Company appointed Peel Hunt to act as nominated adviser, 
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corporate broker, joint financial adviser and joint independent adviser to the Company in relation 
to a formal sale process (the “Project Green Engagement Letter”). The Company agreed to 
pay Peel Hunt a corporate finance fee subject to certain market standard terms and conditions. 
Peel Hunt’s appointment continues until terminated by either party giving the other at least 
30 days’ written notice. 

                  An engagement letter entered into between the Company and Peel Hunt dated 6 December 
2021 pursuant to which the Company appointed Peel Hunt to act as nominated adviser, joint 
broker and joint bookrunner to the Company in relation to a proposed placing for cash of new 
ordinary shares by the Company of approximately £10 million, (the “Project Oresund 2021 
Engagement Letter”). The Project Oresund 2021 Engagement Letter was terminated and 
replaced on 24 January 2022 by an engagement letter entered into by the Company and Peel 
Hunt (the “Project Oresund 2022 Engagement Letter”), pursuant to which the Company 
appointed Peel Hunt to act as nominated adviser and arranger to the Company in relation to a 
proposed debt financing by the Company of £11.35 million to be raised in two tranches of 
£6.35m and £5m respectively (the “Debt Financing”). The Company agreed to pay Peel Hunt 
an investment banking fee and a commission calculated by reference to funds raised in 
connection with the Debt Financing. Peel Hunt’s appointment continues until terminated by 
either party giving the other at least 30 days’ written notice. 

                  A side letter entered into between the Company and Peel Hunt dated 25 January 2022 relating 
to set off fees under the Note Purchase Agreement (the “Project Oresund Side Letter”). This 
letter noted that Peel Hunt was owed fees pursuant to the terms of the Project Oresund 2022 
Engagement Letter (the “Fee”). In accordance with clause 2.1(c) of the Note Purchase 
Agreement, the Company and Peel Hunt agreed that, immediately upon the Purchase Date (as 
defined in the Note Purchase Agreement) in respect of the Original Notes (as defined in the Note 
Purchase Agreement), certain amounts of the Fee shall be set off against Peel Hunt’s 
Commitment to pay for Original Notes pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement. The remaining 
balance of the Fee shall be paid in cash pursuant to the terms of the Project Oresund 2022 
Engagement Letter. 

                  An amendment side letter entered into between the Company and Peel Hunt dated 13 April 
2022 and relating to the Project Oresund 2022 Engagement Letter (the “Project Starling Side 
Letter”) pursuant to which the Project Oresund 2022 Engagement Letter was varied as follows: 
(i) “the Transaction” shall refer to a first tranche of £6.35m and a second tranche of up to £15m, 
(ii) clause 1.3 shall be deleted, and (iii) clause 3.1 shall be varied such that Peel Hunt will charge 
in relation to the second tranche a corporate finance fee and a commission calculated by 
reference to funds raised (together with any VAT chargeable thereon). The commission will be 
paid upon receipt of the first instalment of the second tranche monies by the Company and the 
corporate finance fee will be paid upon publication of the circular regarding the second tranche. 

        (d)       2020 Placing Agreement with Peel Hunt and Liberum Capital Limited 

                  The Company entered into a placing agreement with Peel Hunt and Liberum Capital Limited 
(as “Joint Bookrunners”) on 8 December 2020 (the “Placing Agreement”) under which the 
Joint Bookrunners agreed on a conditional basis to use their reasonable endeavours as agents 
of the Company to procure placees to subscribe for ordinary shares at a price of 90 pence per 
ordinary share issued by the Company pursuant to the placing (the “Placing Shares”). 

                  The placing was conditional on several conditions, including the Placing Agreement becoming 
unconditional in all respects and not having been terminated in accordance with its terms, and 
admission of the Placing Shares occurring. The Company provided customary warranties and 
indemnities under the Placing Agreement in favour of the Joint Bookrunners, in relation to, 
amongst other things, the accuracy of the information in this document and other matters 
relating to the Group and its business. In addition, the Company agreed to indemnify the Joint 
Bookrunners (and their affiliates) in relation to certain liabilities which they may incur in respect 
of the Placing and the Subscription. 
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                  The result of the placing was announced on 9 December 2020, such that as at the date of this 
Circular both the Company and the Joint Bookrunners had substantively completed their 
obligations under the terms of the Placing Agreement.  

12.   Offer-related arrangements 

12.1 Lansdowne Non-Disclosure Agreement 
        The Company and Lansdowne have entered into a confidentiality agreement dated 3 March 2022, 

pursuant to which Lansdowne has undertaken, among other things, to keep confidential information 
relating to the Company and not to disclose it to third parties (other than to permitted disclosees) 
unless required by law or regulation. This agreement also contains undertakings from Lansdowne that 
for a period of 12 months, subject to certain exceptions, Lansdowne will not solicit or employ any 
person employed by the Group in a senior managerial or technical capacity. 

12.2 Hambro Perks Non-Disclosure Agreement 
        The Company and Hambro Perks Advisory LLP have entered into a confidentiality agreement dated 

30 March 2022, pursuant to which Hambro Perks Advisory LLP has undertaken, among other things, 
to keep confidential information relating to the Company and not to disclose it to third parties (other 
than to permitted disclosees) unless required by law or regulation. 

13.   Persons acting in concert with the Company 
The persons (other than the Directors and members of the Group) who, for the purposes of the Takeover 
Code, are acting in concert with the Company are Peel Hunt of 7th Floor, 100 Liverpool Street, London 
EC2M 2AT (connected adviser), JP Morgan Cazenove of 25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London E14 5JP 
(connected adviser) and Liberum Capital of 25 Ropemaker Street, London EC2Y 9LY (connected adviser). 

14.   Significant change 
The Company published its unaudited interim results for the six month period ended 31 October 2021 on 
31 January 2022 in which it stated:  

“Whilst the total contract value of professional services agreements that may be signed by the end of the 
financial year exceeds £29 million, there remains significant uncertainty over the timing of when or if 
these agreements will be signed. Currently, the Company believes up to approximately £26 million could be 
recognised in the current financial year, but this is entirely contingent on customers signing contracts in 
the near term. Whilst the Company’s short term financing needs have been addressed through the loan 
note financing, new customers may still wait for clarification of the Company’s financial position prior to 
confirming such orders and therefore this revenue figure could be very materially lower.” 

Whilst the Company has signed one contract and expects to sign a number of other new small contracts 
with major pharmaceutical companies this year, these are modest in size and will not be recognised in the 
financial year ended 30 April 2022. Total (unaudited) revenue for the year ended 30 April 2022 was 
approximately £2.0 million.  

Without the proceeds from the Additional A Notes, the Company would have become insolvent and been 
placed into administration in April 2022. 
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15.   Middle market quotations 
Set out below are the closing middle-market quotations for the Ordinary Shares for the first dealing day of 
each of the six months immediately preceding the date of this Circular and for 17 May 2022. 

        Closing middle market  
Date (pence) quotation  

1 December 2021 90.00 
4 January 2022 79.00 
1 February 2022 19.25 
1 March 2022 15.50 
1 April 2022 11.55 
3 May 2022 1.90 
17 May 2022 1.45 

16.   Independent advice provided to the Board 
The Takeover Code requires the Board to obtain competent independent advice regarding the Rule 9 Waiver 
which is the subject of the Rule 9 Waiver Resolution, the controlling position which it will create, and the 
effect it will have on Shareholders generally. The Independent Directors have been advised by Peel Hunt, as 
the Company’s financial adviser, that the Rule 9 Waiver is fair and reasonable and in the best interests of 
Shareholders and the Company as a whole. In providing this advice, Peel Hunt has taken into account the 
Independent Directors’ commercial assessments. Peel Hunt has given and not withdrawn its written consent 
to the issue of this Circular with the inclusion herein of the references to its name in the form and context in 
which it appears. Peel Hunt confirms that it is independent of the Concert Party. 

17.   Documents available for inspection 
Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection free of charge at the registered office of 
the Company during normal business hours on any Business Day and on the Company’s website at 
www.sensynehealth.com. The documents will also be available at the location of the General Meeting (being 
the offices of Covington & Burling LLP at 22 Bishopsgate, London EC2N 4BQ) 15 minutes before the General 
Meeting. 

(a)     the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company; 

(b)     the Company’s consolidated audited annual financial reports for the financial years ended 30 April 
2020 and 30 April 2021; 

(c)     the Company’s unconsolidated unaudited interim results for the six months ended 31 October 2021; 

(d)     Gatemore Capital Management LLP’s accounts referred to in paragraph 9.1 of this Part III (Additional 
Information); 

(e)     Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP’s accounts referred to in paragraph 9.3 of this Part III (Additional 
Information); 

(f)      Sand Grove Capital Management LLP’s accounts referred to in paragraph 9.5 of this Part III (Additional 
Information); 

(g)     HPL’s accounts referred to in paragraph 9.7 of this Part III (Additional Information); 

(h)     the irrevocable commitments referred to in paragraph 17 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Sensyne 
Health plc); 

(i)      the consent letter from Peel Hunt regarding inclusion of their name as it appears in this document;  

(j)      the Peel Hunt engagement letters and related side letters referred to in paragraph 11.2(c) of this Part III 
(Additional Information); 
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(k)     the Lansdowne non-disclosure agreement referred to in paragraph 12.1 of this Part III (Additional 
Information); 

(l)      the Memorandum and Articles of Association of HPL; 

(m)    the Hambro Perks Advisory LLP non-disclosure agreement referred to in paragraph 12.2 of this Part III 
(Additional Information); 

(n)     the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement;  

(o)     the Amended and Restated Warrant Instrument; 

(p)     the Amendment Letter to the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement; 

(q)     the First Ranking Debenture; 

(r)     the Second Ranking Debenture; and 

(s)     the Circular.  

        A Shareholder may request a copy of any document in hard copy form (hard copies will not be provided 
unless requested). Hard copies may be requested by written request to Laura Hillier at the Company’s 
registered address, by email on company.secretary@sensynehealth.com, or by calling +44 (0) 330 058 
1845 between 8.30 a.m. and 5.30 p.m. Monday to Friday (except UK public holidays). 
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PART IV 

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING 

Sensyne Health plc 
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales under number 11425451) 

(the “Company”) 

Notice is hereby given that a general meeting of the Company will be held at 22 Bishopsgate, London EC2N 
4BQ on 6 June 2022 at 11.00 a.m. (London time) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing 
the following resolutions, of which resolutions 1, 3, 5 and 7 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and 
resolutions 2, 4, 6, 8, 9 and 10 will be proposed as special resolutions. 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
(1)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 2, each of the 166,464,335 ordinary shares of £0.10 in 

the capital of the Company (the “Existing Ordinary Shares”) which are credited as fully paid, be 
sub-divided and re-designated into one ordinary share of £0.008 in the capital of the Company, having 
the same rights and being subject to the same restrictions (save as to nominal value) as each of the 
Existing Ordinary Shares, and one deferred share of £0.092 in the capital of the Company, having the 
rights and being subject to the restrictions set out in the articles of association of the Company as 
amended by Resolution 2 (the “Sub-division”). 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(2)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 1, the articles of association of the Company be amended 

by inserting the following article as the new article 5A; 

 “5A. Rights and Restrictions attaching to the Deferred Shares 
The deferred shares of £0.092 each in the capital of the Company (the “Deferred Shares”) shall have the 
rights attaching to shares set out in these articles save that in the event of a conflict between any provision 
in this article 5A and any other provision in these articles, the provisions in this article 5A shall prevail.  

(i)      Income 
        The Deferred Shares shall confer no right to participate in the profits of the Company.  

(ii)     Capital 
        On a return of capital on a winding-up (excluding any intra-group reorganisation on a solvent basis) 

there shall be paid to the holders of the Deferred Shares the nominal capital paid up or credited as 
paid up on such Deferred Shares but only after paying to the holders of the Ordinary Shares the nominal 
capital paid up or credited as paid up on the Ordinary Shares. The holders of the Deferred Shares shall 
not be entitled to any further right of participation in the assets of the Company. 

(iii)     Attendance and voting at general meetings 
        The holders of the Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of any general meeting of the 

Company or to attend, speak or vote at any such meeting.  

(iv)    Form 
        The Deferred Shares shall not be listed on any stock exchange nor shall any share certificates be 

issued in respect of such shares. The Deferred Shares shall not be transferable except in accordance 
with article 5A(vi) below or with the written consent of the Directors.
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(v)     Class rights 
        (a)     The Company may from time to time create, allot and issue further shares, whether ranking 

pari passu with or in priority to the Deferred Shares, and on such creation, allotment or issue any 
such further shares (whether or not ranking in any respect in priority to the Deferred Shares) shall 
be treated as being in accordance with the rights attaching to the Deferred Shares and shall not 
involve a variation of such rights for any purpose or require the consent of the holders of the 
Deferred Shares. 

        (b)     Any reduction by the company of the capital paid up on the Deferred Shares shall be in 
accordance with the rights attaching to the Deferred Shares and shall not involve a variation of 
such rights for any purpose and the Company shall be authorised at any time to reduce its capital 
(subject to the confirmation of the High Court in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 
(if required)) without obtaining the consent of the holders of the Deferred Shares. 

(vi)    Transfer and purchase 
        The Company may at any time (and from time to time), without obtaining the sanction of the holder or 

holders of the Deferred Shares:  

        (a)     appoint any person to execute on behalf of any holder of Deferred Shares a transfer of all of the 
Deferred Shares or any part thereof (and/or an agreement to transfer the same) to the Company 
or to such person as the Directors may determine (whether or not an officer of the Company), in 
any case for not more than 1 pence for all the Deferred Shares then being purchased, without 
such person having to account for such sum to the holder or holders of the Deferred Shares; 
and 

        (b)     cancel all or any of the Deferred Shares so purchased by the company in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006. 

(vii)    Deletion of Article 5A when no Deferred Shares in existence 
        Article 5A shall remain in force until there are no longer any Deferred Shares in existence, notwithstanding 

any provision in the articles to the contrary. Thereafter article 5A shall be and shall be deemed to be of 
no effect (save to the extent that the provisions of article 5A are referred to in superseding articles of 
association) and shall (without any further action by the Company) automatically be deleted and replaced 
with the wording “Article 5A has been deleted”, and the separate register for the holders of Deferred 
Shares shall no longer be required to be maintained by the company; but the validity of anything done 
under article 5A before that date shall not otherwise be affected and any actions taken under article 5A 
before that date shall be conclusive and shall not be open to challenge on any grounds whatsoever.” 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
(3)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, in addition to all existing unexercised authorities 

and powers granted to the Directors pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), 
the Directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to section 551 of 
the Act to exercise all the powers of the Company to grant rights to convert the Loan Notes (as defined 
in the circular of which this notice forms part (the “Circular”)) into ordinary shares at a conversion price 
of £0.008 per ordinary share up to an aggregate nominal amount of £26,350,000, provided that such 
authority shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting) 
on the commencement of the next annual general meeting of the Company. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(4)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1, 2 and 3, in addition to all existing unexercised powers 

of the Directors under sections 570 of the Act, which shall continue in full force and effect, the Directors 
be and are hereby empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Act to allot equity securities (within the 
meaning of section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority granted by Resolution 3 above 
as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that such power shall be 
limited to the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £26,350,000 and 
shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting) on the 
commencement of the next annual general meeting of the Company. 
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
(5)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, in addition to all existing unexercised authorities 

and powers granted to the Directors pursuant to section 551 of the Act, the Directors be and are 
hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to section 551 of the Act to exercise all the 
powers of the Company to issue warrants to subscribe for up to 29,169,448 ordinary shares of £0.008 
each (the “Warrants”), provided that such authority shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or 
revoked by the Company in general meeting) on the commencement of the next annual general 
meeting of the Company. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(6)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1, 2 and 5, in addition to all existing unexercised powers of 

the Directors under sections 570 of the Act, which shall continue in full force and effect, the Directors be 
and are hereby empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning 
of section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority granted by Resolution 5 above as if section 
561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that such power shall be limited to the issue 
of the Warrants and shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general 
meeting) on the commencement of the next annual general meeting of the Company. 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
(7)     THAT, subject to the passing of Resolutions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, the waiver granted by the Panel on 

Takeovers and Mergers of the obligations which would otherwise arise on the Concert Party (as such 
term is defined in the Circular), both individually and collectively, to make a general offer to the 
shareholders of the Company pursuant to Rule 9 of the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers as a 
result of the issue to them of Ordinary Shares (as such term is defined in the Circular) in the Company 
pursuant to the Conversion (as such term is defined in the Circular) and/or the exercise of the Warrants, 
as described in the Circular, be and is hereby approved.  

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(8)     THAT, in accordance with Rule 41 of the AIM Rules for Companies published by London Stock 

Exchange plc, the cancellation of the admission to trading on AIM of the Ordinary Shares of the 
Company be and is hereby approved and the Directors of the Company be authorised to take all action 
reasonable or necessary to effect such cancellation. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(9)     THAT, conditional on the passing of resolution 8, the Company be re-registered as a private limited 

company under the Companies Act 2006. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
(10)   THAT, conditional on the passing of Resolution 9, and with effect from the Company’s re-registration 

as a private limited company, the New Articles appended to the Circular at Appendix C, be adopted 
as the articles of association of the Company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing 
articles of association (to reflect its Delisting and status as a private limited company). 

18 May 2022 

By order of the Board 

Laura Hillier 
Company Secretary 
Sensyne Health plc  
Registered in England and Wales No. 11425451 
John Eccles House 
Robert Robinson Avenue 
Oxford Science Park  
Oxford OX4 4GP
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Notes 

1.       The following notes explain your general rights as a shareholder and your rights to attend and vote at the General Meeting or to 
appoint someone else to vote at the General Meeting on your behalf. Any changes to the arrangements for the holding of the 
General Meeting will be communicated to shareholders in advance through the Company’s website at www.sensynehealth.com. 

2.       Voting on the business of the General Meeting will be conducted by way of poll, to reflect the proxy voting instructions received. 
Shareholders are asked to register their vote in advance by appointing the chair of the meeting as their proxy and giving voting 
instructions, using the methods, and by the deadline, set out in this Notice. Form of Proxy should be submitted as soon as 
possible and in any event so as to be received no later than 11.00 a.m. on 31 May 2022. The results of voting on the Resolutions 
will be posted on the Company’s website as soon as practicable after the General Meeting. 

3.       In order to comply with the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, Resolution 7 will be taken on a poll of independent shareholders. 
Gatemore Capital Management LLP (acting for itself and for and on behalf of Gatemore Special Opportunities Master Fund) and 
Gatemore Investment Partners I LP, Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP (acting for itself and for and on behalf of Lansdowne Developed 
Markets Master Fund Limited and Lansdowne Developed Markets Strategic Investment Master Fund Limited), Sand Grove Capital 
Management LLP (acting for itself and for and on behalf of Sand Grove Opportunities Master Fund Ltd. and Sand Grove Tactical 
Fund LP) who are not considered to be independent, and will not be entitled to vote on Resolution 7.  

4.       A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person as their proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and 
vote at the General Meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Where a shareholder appoints more than one 
proxy, each proxy must be appointed in respect of different shares comprised in his or her shareholding which must be identified 
on the Form of Proxy. Each such proxy will have the right to vote on a poll in respect of the number of votes attaching to the 
number of shares in respect of which the proxy has been appointed. Where more than one joint shareholder purports to appoint 
a proxy in respect of the same shares, only the appointment by the most senior shareholder will be accepted as determined by 
the order in which their names appear in the Company’s register of members. 

5.       A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the 
rights attached to a different share or shares held by him or her. A Form of Proxy is enclosed with this Notice. Shareholders who 
intend to appoint more than one proxy may photocopy the Form of Proxy prior to completion. Alternatively, additional Form of 
Proxy may be obtained by contacting Equiniti Limited on 0371 384 2030 or, if calling from outside the United Kingdom, 
+44 (0)121 415 7047. The Form of Proxy should be returned in the same envelope and each should indicate that it is one or 
more than one appointments being made. To be valid, a Form of Proxy together with, if applicable, the power of attorney or 
other authority under which it is signed, or a certified copy thereof, must be received by Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer 
Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA not later than 11.00 a.m. on 31 May 2022. 

6.       An abstention (or “vote withheld”) option has been included on the Form of Proxy. The legal effect of choosing the abstention 
option on any resolution is that the member concerned will be treated as not having voted on the relevant resolution. The number 
of votes in respect of which there are abstentions will however be counted and recorded, but disregarded in calculating the 
number of votes for or against each Resolution. 

7.       Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy 
information rights (a “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she 
was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the General Meeting. If a 
Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, 
have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights. The statement of rights of shareholders in 
relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 4 and 5 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights described 
in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company. 

8.       The Company, pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, specifies that only those shareholders 
registered in the register of members of the Company as at 6.30 p.m. on 31 May 2022 shall be entitled to attend or vote (whether 
on a show of hands or on a poll) at the General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. 
Changes to entries on the register after 6.30 p.m. on 31 May 2022 (or after close of business on the day which is two days 
before any adjourned meeting, excluding non-working days) shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to 
attend or vote at the meeting. 

9.       The website address for online proxy appointments and voting instructions is www.sharevote.co.uk. Shareholders will need to 
enter the Voting ID, Task ID and Shareholder Reference Number as printed on the Form of Proxy. Alternatively, if you have already 
registered with our Registrars, (Equiniti Limited) online portfolio service, Shareview, you can submit your proxy by logging on to 
your portfolio at www.shareview.co.uk using your usual user ID and password. Once logged in simply click “View” on the “My 
Investments” page, click on the link to vote then follow the on screen instructions. Please note that all electronic appointments 
must be received by 11.00 a.m. on 31 May 2022. 

10.     Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives. Each representative may exercise on 
behalf of the corporation the same powers as the corporation could exercise if it were an individual member of the Company 
provided that they do not do so in relation to the same Ordinary Shares. It is therefore no longer necessary to nominate a 
designated corporate representative.  

A copy of this notice of meeting, is available on the Company’s website at www.sensynehealth.com. 
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APPENDIX A 

Part 1: The General Principles of the Takeover Code 
1.     (1) All holders of the securities of an offeree company of the same class must be afforded equivalent 

treatment. 

        (2) If a person acquires control of a company, the other holders of securities must be protected. 

2.     (1) The holders of the securities of an offeree company must have sufficient time and information to 
enable them to reach a properly informed decision on the takeover bid. 

        (2) Where it advises the holders of securities, the board of directors of the offeree company must give 
its views on the effects of implementation of the takeover bid on: 

        (a)     employment; 

        (b)     conditions of employment; and 

        (c)     the locations of the company’s places of business. 

3.     The board of directors of an offeree company must act in the interests of the company as a whole and 
must not deny the holders of securities the opportunity to decide on the merits of the takeover bid. 

4.     False markets must not be created in the securities of: 

        (a)     the offeree company; 

        (b)     if the offeror is a company, that company; or 

        (c)     any other company concerned by the takeover bid 

        in such a way that the rise or fall of the prices of the securities becomes artificial and the normal 
functioning of the markets is distorted. 

5.     An offeror must announce a takeover bid only after: 

        (a)     ensuring that the offeror can fulfil in full any cash consideration, if such is offered; and 

        (b)     taking all reasonable measures to secure the implementation of any other type of consideration. 

6.     An offeree company must not be hindered in the conduct of its affairs for longer than is reasonable by 
a takeover bid for its securities. 

Part 2: Detailed application of the City Code 
The following is a summary of key provisions of the Takeover Code which apply to transactions to which 
the Takeover Code applies. You should note that, by agreeing to the AIM Delisting and 
Re-registration of the Company, you will be giving up the protections afforded by the Takeover 
Code when the Takeover Code ceases to apply to the Company in the future. 

Equality of treatment 
General Principle 1 of the Takeover Code states that all holders of the securities of an offeree company of 
the same class must be afforded equivalent treatment. Furthermore, Rule 16.1 requires that, except with 
the consent of the Takeover Panel, special arrangements may not be made with certain shareholders in the 
Company if there are favourable conditions attached which are not being extended to all shareholders.  

Information to shareholders 
General Principle 2 requires that the holders of the securities of an offeree company must have sufficient 
time and information to enable them to reach a properly informed decision on the takeover bid. 
Consequently, a document setting out full details of an offer must be sent to the offeree company’s 
shareholders.  
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The opinion of the offeree board and independent advice 
The board of the offeree company is required by Rule 3.1 of the Takeover Code to obtain competent 
independent advice as to whether the financial terms of an offer are fair and reasonable and the substance 
of such advice must be made known to its shareholders. Rule 25.2 requires that the board of the offeree 
company must send to the offeree company’s shareholders and persons with information rights its opinion 
on the offer and its reasons for forming that opinion. That opinion must include the board’s views on: (i) the 
effects of implementation of the offer on all the company’s interests, including, specifically, employment; and 
(ii) the offeror’s strategic plans for the offeree company and their likely repercussions on employment and 
the locations of the offeree company’s places of business. 

The document sent to shareholders must also deal with other matters such as interests and recent dealings 
in the securities of the offeror and the offeree company by relevant parties and whether the directors of the 
offeree company intend to accept or reject the offer in respect of their own beneficial shareholdings. 

Rule 20.1 states that, except in certain circumstances (i.e. with the consent of the Takeover Panel or as 
provided in the Notes on Rule 20.1), information and opinions relating to an offer or a party to an offer must 
be made equally available to all offeree company shareholders and persons with information rights as nearly 
as possible at the same time and in the same manner. 

Optionholders and holders of convertible securities or subscription rights 
Rule 15 of the Takeover Code provides that when an offer is made and the offeree company has convertible 
securities outstanding, the offeror must make an appropriate offer or proposal to the holders of those 
securities to ensure their interests are safeguarded. Rule 15 also applies in relation to holders of options 
and other subscription rights. 
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APPENDIX B 

EFFECTS OF RE-REGISTRATION  

1.     Accounts 
A public company is required to file its accounts within six months following the end of its financial year and 
then to circulate copies of the accounts to its shareholders. Following the Re-registration, the period for the 
preparation of accounts is extended to nine months following the end of the financial year. The Company 
will still be required to circulate accounts to Shareholders (although the period for doing so is extended for 
private companies). 

2.     General meetings and resolutions 
A public company is required to hold an annual general meeting of its shareholders each year, whereas a 
private company is not.  

In addition, after the Re-registration, resolutions of the Shareholders of the Company may be obtained via 
written resolutions, rather than via physical meetings. This is done by obtaining the approval in writing to 
that resolution of the holders of a majority of voting shares then in issue (in the case of ordinary resolutions) 
and the holders of 75 per cent. of the voting shares then in issue (in the case of special resolutions). 

3.     Issue of shares for non-cash consideration 
As a public company, there are restrictions on the ability of the Company to issue new shares, for example, 
by requiring the Company to obtain a valuation report in the case of shares issued for non-cash 
consideration. These restrictions will not apply following the Re-registration. 

4.     Financial assistance, reductions of capital and purchase of own shares out of capital 
As a public limited company, the Company is currently prohibited from performing actions which constitute 
financial assistance for the acquisition of its own shares. This limits the ability of the Company to engage in 
certain transactions. However, following the Re-registration, these restrictions will no longer apply. 

In addition, the Company must currently obtain the sanction of the Court for any reduction of capital, which 
can be a lengthy and expensive process. However, following the Re-registration, the Company will be able 
to take advantage of more flexible provisions applicable to private companies, which do not require the 
approval of the Court. Similarly, following Re-registration, the Company will be able to effect buy backs of 
shares out of capital, which it is currently prohibited from doing as a public limited company. 

5.     Company Secretary 
There is no requirement for a company secretary to be appointed, although the Company may retain one 
should it wish. 

6.     Removal of unnecessary provisions and simplification of articles 
The New Articles will not contain many of the detailed provisions of the Articles which are common for 
publicly quoted companies, and which will not be necessary for the Company following the Cancellation. 
Many of these provisions duplicate provisions of company law or can be simplified. 
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1 

Company number 

11425451 

THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

A PRIVATE  COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

OF  

SENSYNE HEALTH LIMITED 

 
(adopted by special resolution passed on 2022) 

PRELIMINARY 
 

1. Standard regulations do not apply 

None of the regulations in the model articles for private companies set out in Schedule 1 to the 
Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008 (or any amendments thereto) shall apply to the 
Company. 

2. Interpretation 

(a) In these articles, unless the contrary intention appears: 

(i) the following definitions apply: 

these articles means these articles of association, as from time to time altered; 

board means the board of directors for the time being of the Company;  

CA 2006 means the Companies Act 2006 as in force from time to time; 

clear days means, in relation to the period of a notice, that period excluding the 
day when the notice is given or deemed to be given and the day for which it is 
given or on which it is to take effect; 

a combined physical and electronic general meeting means a general meeting 
held or conducted at one or more physical venues in such a way that allows 
persons who may not be physically present together to communicate 

with each other any information or opinions they may have on any particular 
item of business of the meeting; 

committee means a committee of the board; 

the Company means Sensyne Health Limited; 
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director means a director for the time being of the Company; 

electronic address has the same meaning as in the CA 2006; electronic form 
has the same meaning as in the CA 2006; electronic means has the same 
meaning as in the CA 2006; hard copy form has the same meaning as in the CA 
2006; 

holder in relation to any share means the member whose name is entered in the 
register as the holder of that share; 

office means the registered office for the time being of the Company; 

paid up means paid up or credited as paid up; 

person entitled by transmission means a person whose entitlement to a share in 
consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any other event giving 
rise to its transmission by operation of law has been noted in the register; 

a physical general meeting means a general meeting held or conducted at one or 
more physical venues (at which facilities are not available to allow for persons 
who are not at such physical venue to attend or participate in the meeting 
electronically); 

a proxy notification address means the address or addresses (including any 
electronic address) specified in a notice of a meeting or in any other information 
issued by the Company in relation to a meeting (or, as the case may be, an 
adjourned meeting or a poll) for the receipt of proxy notices relating to that 
meeting (or adjourned meeting or poll) or, if no such address is specified, the 
office; 

register means either or both of the issuer register of members and the Operator 
register of members; 

relevant system means a computer-based system, and procedures, which enable 
title to units of a security to be evidenced and transferred without a written 
instrument, pursuant to the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 or any 
relevant regulations made pursuant to the CA 2006; 

seal means any common seal of the Company or any official seal or securities 
seal which the Company may have or be permitted to have under the Statutes; 

secretary means the secretary of the Company or, if there are joint secretaries, 
any of the joint secretaries and includes an assistant or deputy secretary and any 
person appointed by the board to perform any of the duties of the secretary of the 
Company; 

Statutes means the CA 2006, the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 and 
every other statute, statutory instrument, regulation or order for the time being in 
force concerning the Company; and 

treasury shares means those shares held by the Company in treasury in 
accordance with section 724 of the CA 2006; 

(ii) any reference to an uncertificated share, or to a share being held in uncertificated 
form, means a share title to which may be transferred by means of a relevant 
system, and any reference to a certificated share means any share other than an 
uncertificated share; 
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(iii) any other words or expressions defined in the CA 2006 or, if not defined in the 
CA 2006, in any other of the Statutes (in each case as in force on the date these 
articles take effect) have the same meaning in these articles except that the word 
company includes any body corporate; 

(iv) any reference in these articles to any statute or statutory provision includes a 
reference to any modification or re-enactment of it for the time being in force; 

(v) words importing the singular number include the plural number and vice versa, 
words importing one gender include the other gender and words importing 
persons include bodies corporate and unincorporated associations; 

(vi) any reference to writing includes a reference to any method of reproducing words 
in a legible form; 

(vii) any reference to a document being sealed or executed under seal or under the 
common seal of any body corporate (including the Company) or any similar 
expression includes a reference to its being executed in any other manner which 
has the same effect as if it were executed under seal; 

(viii) any reference to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person 
to be present in person if any quorum requirement can be satisfied by one person; 

(ix) any reference to a show of hands includes such other method of casting votes as 
the board may from time to time approve; 

(x) any reference to a person who is attending or participating in a meeting 
electronically is a reference to a person whose attendance or participation at that 
meeting is enabled by a facility or facilities (whether electronic or otherwise), 
other than physical presence at a general meeting, which allows persons who 
may not be physically present together to communicate with each other any 
information or opinions they may have on any particular item of business of the 
meeting; electronic attendance and participation shall be construed accordingly; 

(xi) where the Company has a power of sale or other right of disposal in relation to 
any share, any reference to the power of the Company or the board to authorise a 
person to transfer that share to or as directed by the person to whom the share has 
been sold or disposed of shall, in the case of an uncertificated share, be deemed 
to include a reference to such other action as may be necessary to enable that 
share to be registered in the name of that person or as directed by him; and 

(xii) any reference to: 

(A) rights attaching to any share; 

(B) members having a right to attend and vote at general meetings of the 
Company; 

(C) dividends being paid, or any other distribution of the Company's assets 
being made, to members; or 

(D) interests in a certain proportion or percentage of the issued share capital, 
or any class of share capital, 

shall, unless otherwise expressly provided by the Statutes, be construed as though 
any treasury shares held by the Company had been cancelled. 

(b) Subject to the Statutes, a special resolution shall be effective for any purpose for which 
an ordinary resolution is expressed to be required under these articles. 
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(c) Headings to these articles are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect 
construction. 

3. Objects 

Nothing in these articles shall constitute a restriction on the objects of the Company to do (or 
omit to do) any act and, in accordance with section 31(1) of the CA 2006, the Company's objects 
are unrestricted. 

4. Limited liability 

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the Company 
respectively held by them. 

 
SHARE CAPITAL 

5. Rights attached to shares 

Subject to the Statutes and to the rights conferred on the holders of any other shares, any share 
may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions as the Company may by 
ordinary resolution decide or, if no such resolution is in effect or so far as the resolution does not 
make specific provision, as the board may decide. 

6. Rights and Restrictions attaching to the Deferred Shares 

Deferred Shares
have the rights attaching to shares set out in these articles save that in the event of a conflict 
between any provision in this article 6 and any other provision in these articles, the provisions in 
this article 6 shall prevail.  

(a) Income 

The Deferred Shares shall confer no right to participate in the profits of the Company. 

(b) Capital 

On a return of capital on a winding-up (excluding any intra-group reorganisation on a solvent 
basis) there shall be paid to the holders of the Deferred Shares the nominal capital paid up or 
credited as paid up on such Deferred Shares but only after paying to the holders of the Ordinary 
Shares the nominal capital paid up or credited as paid up on the Ordinary Shares. The holders of 
the Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to any further right of participation in the assets of the 
Company. 

(c) Attendance and voting at general meetings 

The holders of the Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of any general meeting 
of the Company or to attend, speak or vote at any such meeting. 

(d) Form 

The Deferred Shares shall not be listed on any stock exchange nor shall any share certificates be 
issued in respect of such shares. The Deferred Shares shall not be transferable except in 
accordance with article 6(f) below or with the written consent of the Directors. 

(e) Class rights 

(i) The Company may from time to time create, allot and issue further shares, 
whether ranking pari passu with or in priority to the Deferred Shares, and on such 
creation, allotment or issue any such further shares (whether or not ranking in 
any respect in priority to the Deferred Shares) shall be treated as being in 
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accordance with the rights attaching to the Deferred Shares and shall not involve 
a variation of such rights for any purpose or require the consent of the holders of 
the Deferred Shares. 

(ii) Any reduction by the company of the capital paid up on the Deferred Shares shall 
be in accordance with the rights attaching to the Deferred Shares and shall not 
involve a variation of such rights for any purpose and the Company shall be 
authorised at any time to reduce its capital (subject to the confirmation of the 
High Court in accordance with the CA 2006 (if required)) without obtaining the 
consent of the holders of the Deferred Shares. 

(f) Transfer and purchase 

The Company may at any time (and from time to time), without obtaining the sanction of 
the holder or holders of the Deferred Shares: 

(i) appoint any person to execute on behalf of any holder of Deferred Shares a 
transfer of all of the Deferred Shares or any part thereof (and/or an agreement to 
transfer the same) to the Company or to such person as the Directors may 
determine (whether or not an officer of the Company), in any case for not more 
than 1 pence for all the Deferred Shares then being purchased, without such 
person having to account for such sum to the holder or holders of the Deferred 
Shares; and 

(ii) cancel all or any of the Deferred Shares so purchased by the company in 
accordance with the CA 2006. 

(g) Deletion of Article 6 when no Deferred Shares in existence 

Article 6 shall remain in force until there are no longer any Deferred Shares in existence, 
notwithstanding any provision in the articles to the contrary. Thereafter article 6 shall be 
and shall be deemed to be of no effect (save to the extent that the provisions of article 6 
are referred to in superseding articles of association) and shall (without any further action 

or the holders of Deferred Shares shall no longer 
be required to be maintained by the company; but the validity of anything done under 
article 6 before that date shall not otherwise be affected and any actions taken under 
article 6 before that date shall be conclusive and shall not be open to challenge on any 

 

7. Allotment (etc.) of shares 

Subject to the Statutes, these articles and any resolution of the Company, the board may offer, 
allot (with or without conferring a right of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise deal 
with or dispose of any shares to such persons, at such times and generally on such terms as the 
board may decide. 

8. Authority to allot shares and grant rights 

The Company may from time to time pass an ordinary resolution referring to this article and 
authorising, in accordance with section 551 of the CA 2006, the board to exercise all the powers 
of the Company to allot shares in the Company or to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert 
any security into shares in the Company and: 

(a) on the passing of the resolution the board shall be generally and unconditionally 
authorised to allot such shares or grant such rights up to the maximum nominal amount 
specified in the resolution; and 
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(b) unless previously revoked the authority shall expire on the day specified in the resolution 
(not being more than five years from the date on which the resolution is passed), 

but any authority given under this article shall allow the Company, before the authority expires, 
to make an offer or agreement which would or might require shares to be allotted or rights to be 
granted after it expires. 

9. Dis-application of pre-emption rights 

(a) Subject (other than in relation to the sale of treasury shares) to the board being generally 
authorised to allot shares and grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into 
shares in the Company in accordance with section 551 of the CA 2006, the Company 
may from time to time resolve, by a special resolution referring to this article, that the 
board be given power to allot equity securities for cash and, on the passing of the 
resolution, the board shall have power to allot (pursuant to that authority) equity 
securities for cash as if section 561 of the CA 2006 did not apply to the allotment but that 
power shall be limited to: 

(i) the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue; and 

(ii) the allotment (other than in connection with a rights issue) of equity securities 
having a nominal amount not exceeding in aggregate the sum specified in the 
special resolution, 

and unless previously revoked, that power shall (if so provided in the special resolution) 
expire on the date specified in the special resolution of the Company. The Company may 
before the power expires make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after it expires. 

(b) For the purposes of this article: 

(i) equity securities and ordinary shares have the meanings given in section 560 of 
the CA 2006; 

(ii) rights issue means an offer or issue of equity securities open for acceptance for a 
period fixed by the board to or in favour of holders of shares in proportion (as 
nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings but the board may make 
such exclusions or other arrangements as the board considers expedient in 
relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical 
problems under the laws in any territory or the requirements of any relevant 
regulatory body or stock exchange or any other matter; and 

(iii) a reference to the allotment of equity securities includes (pursuant to sections 
560(2) and (3) of the CA 2006) the grant of a right to subscribe for, or to convert 
any securities into, ordinary shares in the Company, and the sale of any ordinary 
shares in the Company or (as the case may be) shares of a particular class, that 
immediately before the sale, were held by the Company as treasury shares. 

10. Power to pay commission 

The Company may in connection with the issue of any shares exercise all powers of paying 
commission conferred or permitted by the Statutes. 

11. Power to alter share capital 

(a) The Company may exercise the powers conferred by the Statutes to: 

(i) increase its share capital by allotting new shares; 
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(ii) reduce its share capital; 

(iii) sub-divide or consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital; and 

(iv) redenominate all or any of its shares and reduce its share capital in connection 
with such a redenomination. 

(b) A resolution by which any share is sub-divided may determine that, as between the 
holders of the shares resulting from the sub-division, one or more of the shares may have 
such preferred or other special rights, or may have such qualified or deferred rights or be 
subject to such restrictions, as compared with the other or others, as the Company has 
power to attach to new shares. 

(c) If as a result of any consolidation and division or sub-division of shares any members 
would become entitled to fractions of a share, the board may deal with the fractions as it 
thinks fit. In particular, the board may: 

(i) (on behalf of those members) aggregate and sell the shares representing the 
fractions to any person (including, subject to the Statutes, the Company) and 
distribute the net proceeds of sale in due proportion among those members 
(except that any proceeds in respect of any holding less than a sum fixed by the 
board may be retained for the benefit of the Company); or 

(ii) subject to the Statutes, first, allot to a member credited as fully paid by way of 
capitalisation of any reserve account of the Company such number of shares as 
rounds up his holding to a number which, following consolidation and division or 
sub-division, leaves a whole number of shares. 

(d) For the purpose of a sale under paragraph (c)(i) above, the board may authorise a person 
to transfer the shares to, or as directed by, the purchaser, who shall not be bound to see to 
the application of the purchase money and the title of the new holder to the shares shall 
not be affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings relating to the sale. 

12. Power to issue redeemable shares 

Subject to the Statutes, any share may be issued on terms that it is to be redeemed or is liable to 
be redeemed at the option of the Company or the holder. The terms, conditions and manner of 
redemption of such shares may be determined by the board before the shares are allotted. 

13. Power to purchase own shares 

Subject to the Statutes, and to any rights conferred on the holders of any class of shares, the 
Company may purchase all or any of its shares of any class, including any redeemable shares. 

14. Power to reduce capital 

Subject to the Statutes and to any rights conferred on the holders of any class of shares, the 
Company may by special resolution reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve and 
any share premium account in any way. 

15. Trusts not recognised 

Except as required by law or these articles, no person shall be recognised by the Company as 
holding any share upon any trust and the Company shall not be bound by or required to recognise 
(even when having notice of it) any interest in or in respect of any share, except the holder's 
absolute right to the entirety of the share. 

 
UNCERTIFICATED SHARES  GENERAL POWERS 
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16. Uncertificated shares  general powers 

(a) The board may permit any class of shares to be held in uncertificated form and to be 
transferred by means of a relevant system and may revoke any such permission. 

(b) In relation to any share which is for the time being held in uncertificated form: 

(i) the Company may utilise the relevant system in which it is held to the fullest 
extent available from time to time in the exercise of any of its powers or 
functions under the Statutes or these articles or otherwise in effecting any actions 
and the board may from time to time determine the manner in which such 
powers, functions and actions shall be so exercised or effected; 

(ii) any provision in these articles which is inconsistent with: 

(A) the holding or transfer of that share in the manner prescribed or permitted 
by the Statutes; 

(B) any other provision of the Statutes relating to shares held in 
uncertificated form; or 

(C) the exercise of any powers or functions by the Company or the effecting 
by the Company of any actions by means of a relevant system, shall not 
apply; 

(iii) the Company may, by notice to the holder of that share, require the holder to 
change the form of such share to certificated form within such period as may be 
specified in the notice; 

(iv) the Company may require that share to be converted into certificated form in 
accordance with the Statutes; and 

(v) the Company shall not issue a certificate. 

(c) The Company may, by notice to the holder of any share in certificated form, direct that 
the form of such share may not be changed to uncertificated form for a period specified in 
such notice. 

(d) For the purpose of effecting any action by the Company, the board may determine that 
shares held by a person in uncertificated form shall be treated as a separate holding from 
shares held by that person in certificated form but shares of a class held by a person in 
uncertificated form shall not be treated as a separate class from shares of that class held 
by that person in certificated form. 

 
VARIATION OF RIGHTS 

17. Variation of rights 

(a) Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, all 
or any of the rights for the time being attached to any class of shares in issue may from 
time to time (whether or not the Company is being wound up) be varied in such manner 
as those rights may provide or (if no such provision is made) either with the consent in 
writing of the holders of three-fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of that class 
or with the authority of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the 
holders of those shares. 

(b) The provisions of these articles relating to general meetings of the Company or to the 
proceedings at general meetings shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to every such separate 
general meeting, except that: 
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(i) the quorum at any such meeting (other than an adjourned meeting) shall be two 
members present in person or by proxy holding at least one-third in nominal 
amount of the issued shares of the class; 

(ii) at an adjourned meeting the quorum shall be one member present in person or by 
proxy holding shares of the class; 

(iii) every holder of shares of the class shall, on a poll, have one vote in respect of 
every share of the class held by him; and 

(iv) a poll may be demanded by any one holder of shares of the class whether present 
in person or by proxy. 

(c) Unless otherwise expressly provided by the rights attached to any class of shares those 
rights shall not be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking 
pari passu with them or by the purchase or redemption by the Company of any of its own 
shares. 

 
TRANSFERS OF SHARES 

18. Right to transfer shares 

Subject to the restrictions in these articles, a member may transfer all or any of his shares in any 
manner which is permitted by the Statutes and is from time to time approved by the board. 

19. Security interests 

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in these articles or the CA 2006 to the 
contrary: 

(a) Where a security interest has been granted over any share pursuant to a security agreement 
granted in favour of any bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which 
is regularly engaged in or established for the purposes of making, purchasing or investing 
in loans, securities or other financial assets, such share shall be exempt from all liens 
(whether present or future) in favour of the Company that would arise pursuant to these 
articles or otherwise howsoever and the Company shall not claim any lien (howsoever 
arising) in respect of such share while such security interest remains unreleased. A 
certificate executed by the party to whom such security interest has been granted that such 
security interest remains unreleased shall be conclusive evidence of fact. 

(b) The directors and/or the Company shall have no discretion to decline to register, or suspend 
registration of, a transfer of shares where the proposed transferee is a bank, financial 
institution or a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for 
the purposes of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets 
(or any agent, trustee, nominee or nominees or receiver of such entity) to whom such shares 
are being transferred by way of security or a purchaser, transferee or other recipient of the 
shares from such bank, institution or other entity and a certificate signed by an official of 
such bank, financial institution or other entity that the relevant shares are charged shall be 
conclusive evidence of such fact. 

(c) Any pre-emption rights conferred on existing members or any other person by these articles 
or otherwise and any other restrictions on the transfer of shares contained in these articles 
shall not apply where shares are being transferred by way of security to a bank, financial 
institution or a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for 
the purposes of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets 
(or any agent, trustee, nominee or nominees or receiver of such bank, financial institution, 
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or other entity) or a purchaser, transferee or other recipient of the shares from such bank, 
financial institution or other entity. 

20. Transfers of uncertificated shares 

The Company shall maintain a record of uncertificated shares in accordance with the Statutes. 

21. Transfers of certificated shares 

(a) An instrument of transfer of a certificated share may be in any usual form or in any other 
form which the board may approve and shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor 
and (except in the case of a fully paid share) by or on behalf of the transferee. 

(b) The board may, in its absolute discretion refuse to register any instrument of transfer of a 
certificated share: 

(i) which is not fully paid up; or 

(ii) on which the Company has a lien. 

(c) The board may also refuse to register any instrument of transfer of a certificated share 
unless it is: 

(i) left at the office, or at such other place as the board may decide, for registration; 

(ii) accompanied by the certificate for the shares to be transferred and such other 
evidence (if any) as the board may reasonably require to prove the title of the 
intending transferor or his right to transfer the shares; and 

(iii) in respect of only one class of shares. 

(d) All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company, but any 
instrument of transfer which the board refuses to register shall (except in any case where 
fraud or any other crime involving dishonesty is suspected in relation to such transfer) be 
returned to the person presenting it. 

22. Other provisions relating to transfers 

(a) No fee shall be charged for registration of a transfer or other document or instruction 
relating to or affecting the title to any share. 

(b) The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share until the name of the 
transferee is entered in the register in respect of the share. 

(c) Nothing in these articles shall preclude the board from recognising a renunciation of the 
allotment of any share by the allottee in favour of some other person. 

(d) Unless otherwise agreed by the board in any particular case, the maximum number of 
persons who may be entered on the register as joint holders of a share is four. 

23. Notice of refusal 

If the board refuses to register a transfer of a certificated share it shall, as soon as practicable and 
in any event within two months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged, 
give to the transferee notice of the refusal together with its reasons for refusal. The board shall 
provide the transferee with such further information about the reasons for the refusal as the 
transferee may reasonably request. 

 
TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 

24. Transmission on death 
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If a member dies, the survivor, where the deceased was a joint holder, and his personal 
representatives where he was a sole or the only surviving holder, shall be the only person or 
persons recognised by the Company as having any title to his shares; but nothing in these articles 
shall release the estate of a deceased holder from any liability in respect of any share held by him 
solely or jointly. 

25. Election of person entitled by transmission 

(a) A person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a 
member or of any other event giving rise to a transmission by operation of law may, on 
producing such evidence as the board may require and subject as provided in this article, 
elect either to be registered himself as the holder of the share or to have some person 
nominated by him registered as the holder of the share. 

(b) If he elects to be registered himself, he shall give notice to the Company to that effect. If 
he elects to have another person registered, he shall execute a transfer of the share to that 
person or shall execute such other document or take such other action as the board may 
require to enable that person to be registered. 

(c) The provisions of these articles relating to the transfer of shares shall apply to the notice 
or instrument of transfer or other document or action as if it were a transfer effected by 
the person from whom the title by transmission is derived and the event giving rise to 
such transmission had not occurred. 

26. Rights of person entitled by transmission 

(a) A person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of a death or bankruptcy or of any 
other event giving rise to a transmission by operation of law shall have the right to 
receive and give a discharge for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the 
share and shall have the same rights in relation to the share as he would have if he were 
the holder except that, until he becomes the holder, he shall not be entitled to attend or 
vote at any general meeting of the Company. 

(b) The board may at any time give notice requiring any such person to elect either to be 
registered himself or to transfer the share and, if after 90 days the notice has not been 
complied with, the board may withhold payment of all dividends or other moneys 
payable in respect of the share until the requirements of the notice have been complied 
with. 

 
GENERAL MEETINGS 

27. General meetings 

(a) The board shall determine whether any general meeting is to be held as: 

(i) a physical general meeting; or 

(ii) a combined physical and electronic general meeting. 

(b) The board may make whatever arrangements it considers fit to allow those entitled to do 
so to participate in any general meeting. 

(c) Unless otherwise specified in the notice of meeting; decided by the board in accordance 
with article 28(a)(ii); or determined by the chairman of the meeting either pursuant to 
article 28(a)(iii) or otherwise, a general meeting is deemed to take place at the place 
where the chairman of the meeting is at the time of the meeting. 
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(d) Two or more persons who may not be in the same place as each other attend a general 
meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have rights to speak and vote at that 
meeting, they are able to exercise them. 

(e) A person is present at a general meeting if he attends it in accordance with the provisions 
of these articles. 

(f) A person is able to participate in a meeting if his circumstances are such that if he has 
rights in relation to the meeting, he is able to exercise them. 

(g) In determining whether persons are attending or participating in a meeting, other than a 
physical general meeting, it is immaterial where any of them are or how they are able to 
communicate with each other. 

(h) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when the chairman of 
the meeting is satisfied that arrangements are in place so as to enable that person to 
communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any information or 
opinions which that person has on the business of the meeting. 

(i) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when: 

(i) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at 
the meeting; and 

(ii) that person's vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such 
resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons 
attending the meeting. 

28. Meeting at more than one place or in more than one format 

(a) A general meeting may be held at more than one place, or may be participated in in more 
than one way, if: 

(i) the notice convening the meeting so specifies; or 

(ii) the board resolves, after the notice convening the meeting has been given, that: 

(A) the meeting shall be held at one or more than one place in addition to any 
place or places specified in the notice; or 

(B) arrangements will also be made for attendance and participation 
electronically; or 

(iii) it appears to the chairman of the meeting that the place of the meeting specified 
in the notice convening the meeting is inadequate to accommodate all persons 
entitled and wishing to attend at that place. 

(b) A general meeting held at more than one place or participated in in more than one way in 
accordance with paragraph (a) above, is duly constituted and its proceedings are valid if 
(in addition to the other provisions of these articles relating to general meetings being 
satisfied) the chairman of the meeting is satisfied that facilities (whether electronic or 
otherwise) are available to enable each person present at each place and/or attending or 
participating in it electronically to participate in the business of the meeting. 

Each person who is present at any place of the meeting or who is attending it electronically, and 
who would be entitled to count towards the quorum in accordance with the provisions of article 
33 shall be counted in the quorum for, and shall be entitled to vote at, the meeting. 

29. Convening of general meetings  
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(a) The board may convene a general meeting whenever it thinks fit. 

(b) A general meeting may also be convened in accordance with article 66. 

(c) A general meeting shall also be convened by the board on the requisition of members 
under the Statutes or, in default, may be convened by such requisitionists, as provided by 
the Statutes. 

(d) The board shall comply with the Statutes regarding the giving and the circulation, on the 
requisition of members, of notices of resolutions and of statements with respect to matters 
relating to any resolution to be proposed or business to be dealt with at any general 
meeting of the Company. 

30. General meetings 

Subject to these articles and to any rights for the time being attached to any class of shares in the 
Company, the provisions of these articles relating to general meetings of the Company (including, 
for the avoidance of doubt, provisions relating to the proceedings at general meetings or to the 
rights of any person to attend or vote or be represented at general meetings or to any restrictions 
on these rights) shall apply, mutatis mutandis, in relation to every separate general meeting of the 
holders of any class of shares in the Company. 

 
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

31. Length, form and content of notice 

(a) Subject to the Statutes, general meetings shall be called by not less than 14 clear days' 
notice or by not less than such minimum notice period as is permitted by the Statutes. 

(b) Notice of every general meeting shall be given to all members other than any who, under 
these articles or the terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such 
notices from the Company, and also to the auditors (or, if more than one, each of them) 
and to each director. 

(c) The notice (including any notice given by means of a website) shall comply with all 
applicable requirements in the Statutes. 

(d) Without prejudice to the provisions of article 28(a), if it is anticipated that a meeting will 
be conducted as a combined physical and electronic general meeting, the notice of 
meeting shall state how it is proposed that persons attending or participating in the 
meeting electronically should communicate with the meeting. 

32. Omission or non-receipt of notice 

(a) The accidental omission to give notice of a general meeting to, or the non-receipt of 
notice by, any person entitled to receive the notice shall not invalidate the proceedings of 
that meeting. 

(b) Paragraph (a) above applies to confirmatory copies of notices (and confirmatory 
notifications of website notices) of meetings sent pursuant to article 122(b)(ii) in the 
same way as it applies to notices of meetings. 

 
PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

33. Quorum 

(a) No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless the requisite quorum is 
present when the meeting proceeds to business. 
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(b) Except as otherwise provided by these articles two qualifying persons entitled to vote 
shall be a quorum, unless: 

(i) each is a qualifying person only because he is authorised to act as the 
representative of a corporation in relation to the meeting, and they are 
representatives of the same corporation; or 

(ii) each is a qualifying person only because he is appointed as proxy of a member in 
relation to the meeting, and they are proxies of the same member. 

(c) For the purposes of this article, a qualifying person means: 

(i) an individual who is a member of the Company; 

(ii) a person authorised to act as the representative of a corporation in relation to the 
meeting; or 

(iii) a person appointed as proxy of a member in relation to the meeting. 

(d) If within 30 minutes from the time fixed for holding a general meeting a quorum is not 
present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. In 
any other case, it shall stand adjourned for ten clear days (or, if that day is a Saturday, a 
Sunday or a holiday, to the next working day) and at the same time and place (and, if 
appropriate, with similar or equivalent facilities for electronic attendance and 
participation) as the original meeting, or, subject to article 38(g) and the Statutes, to such 
other day, and at such other time and place (and, if appropriate, with such other facilities 
for electronic attendance and participation), as the board may decide. 

(e) If at an adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 15 minutes from the time fixed 
for holding the meeting, the meeting shall be dissolved. 

34. Security 

The board may, subject to the Statutes, make any physical or electronic security arrangements 
which it considers appropriate relating to the holding of a general meeting of the Company 
including, without limitation, arranging for any person attending a meeting physically to be 
searched and for items of personal property which may be taken into a meeting to be restricted. A 
director or the secretary may: 

(i) refuse physical or electronic entry to a meeting to any person who refuses to 
comply with any such arrangements; and 

(ii) physically or electronically eject from a meeting any person who causes the 
proceedings to become disorderly. 

35. Chairman 

(a) At each general meeting, the chairman of the board (if any) or, if he is absent or 
unwilling, the deputy chairman (if any) of the board or (if more than one deputy chairman 
is present and willing) the deputy chairman who has been longest in such office, shall 
preside as chairman of the meeting. If neither the chairman nor deputy chairman is 
present and willing, one of the other directors selected for the purpose by the directors 
present or, if only one director is present and willing, that director, shall preside as 
chairman of the meeting. If no director is present within 15 minutes after the time fixed 
for holding the meeting or if none of the directors present is willing to preside as 
chairman of the meeting, the members present and entitled to vote shall choose one of 
their number to preside as chairman of the meeting. 
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(b) Subject to the Statutes (and without prejudice to any other powers vested in the chairman 
of a meeting) when conducting a general meeting, the chairman of the meeting may make 
whatever arrangements and take whatever actions as he considers, in his sole discretion, 
to be appropriate or conducive to the facilitation of the conduct of the business of the 
meeting, proportionate discussion on any item of business of the meeting, or the 
maintenance of good order. 

(c) If the chairman of a general meeting is participating in that meeting electronically and 
becomes disconnected from the meeting, another person (determined in accordance with 
the provisions of paragraph (a) above) shall preside as chairman of the meeting unless 
and until the original chairman regains electronic connection with the meeting. In the 
event that no replacement chairman is presiding over the general meeting (and the 
original chairman has not regained electronic connection with the meeting) 20 minutes 
after the original chairman became disconnected from the meeting, the meeting shall be 
adjourned to a time and place (and, if appropriate, facilities for electronic attendance and 
participation) to be fixed by the board. 

36. Right to attend and speak 

(a) A director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company 
whether or not he is a member. 

(b) The chairman may invite any person to attend and speak at any general meeting of the 
Company if he considers that such person has the appropriate knowledge or experience of 
the Company's business to assist in the deliberations of the meeting. 

(c) A proxy shall be entitled to speak at any general meeting of the Company. 

37. Resolutions and amendments 

(a) Subject to the Statutes, a resolution may only be put to the vote at a general meeting if the 
chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that the resolution may 
properly be regarded as within the scope of the meeting. 

(b) In the case of a resolution to be proposed as a special resolution no amendment may be 
made, at or before the time at which the resolution is put to the vote, to the form of the 
resolution as set out in the notice of meeting, except to correct a patent error or as may 
otherwise be permitted by law. 

(c) In the case of a resolution to be proposed as an ordinary resolution no amendment may be 
made, at or before the time at which the resolution is put to the vote, unless: 

(i) in the case of an amendment to the form of the resolution as set out in the notice 
of meeting, notice of the intention to move the amendment is received at the 
office at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the relevant 
meeting; or 

(ii) in any case, the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion otherwise 
decides that the amendment or amended resolution may properly be put to the 
vote. 

The giving of notice under paragraph (i) above shall not prejudice the power of the 
chairman of the meeting to rule the amendment out of order. 

(d) With the consent of the chairman of the meeting, a person who proposes an amendment 
to a resolution may withdraw it before it is put to the vote. 
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(e) If the chairman of the meeting rules a resolution or an amendment to a resolution 
admissible or out of order (as the case may be), the proceedings of the meeting or the 
resolution in question shall not be invalidated by any error in his ruling. Any ruling by 
the chairman of the meeting in relation to a resolution or an amendment to a resolution 
shall be final and conclusive. 

38. Adjournment 

(a) With the consent of any general meeting at which a quorum is present the chairman of the 
meeting may (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to 
time and from place (and, if appropriate, facilities for electronic attendance and 
participation) to place (and, if appropriate, facilities for electronic attendance and 
participation). 

(b) In addition, the chairman of the meeting may at any time without the consent of the 
meeting adjourn the meeting (whether or not it has commenced or a quorum is present) to 
another time and/or place if, in his opinion, it would facilitate the conduct of the business 
of the meeting to do so. 

(c) In addition, the chairman of the meeting shall at any time without the consent of the 
meeting adjourn the meeting (whether or not it has commenced or a quorum is present) to 
another time and/or place (and, if appropriate, with other facilities for electronic 
attendance and participation) if, in his opinion, the facilities (whether electronic or 
otherwise, and whether affecting the place (or more than one place) of the meeting or any 
electronic participation arrangements) are not sufficient to allow the meeting to be 
conducted substantially in accordance with the provisions set out in the notice of meeting. 

(d) Nothing in this article shall limit any other power vested in the chairman of the meeting 
to adjourn the meeting. 

(e) All business conducted at a general meeting up to the time of any adjournment shall, 
subject to paragraph (f) below, be valid. 

(f) The chairman of the meeting may specify that only the business conducted at a general 
meeting up to a point in time which is earlier than the time of adjournment is valid if, in 
his opinion, to do so would be more appropriate. 

(g) Whenever a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more or sine die, at least 14 clear days' 
notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in the same manner as in the case of the 
original meeting but otherwise no person shall be entitled to any notice of an adjourned 
meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting. 

(h) No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business which 
might have been transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. 

39. Method of voting and demand for poll 

(a) At a general meeting which is held as a physical general meeting: 

(i) A resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, 
unless (before, or immediately after the declaration of the result of, the show of 
hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll) a poll is demanded 
by: 

(A) the chairman of the meeting; or 

(B) at least five members present in person or by proxy having the right to 
vote on the resolution; or 
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(C) a member or members present in person or by proxy representing in 
aggregate not less than 10% of the total voting rights of all the members 
having the right to vote on the resolution (excluding any voting rights 
attached to any shares in the Company held as treasury shares); or 

(D) a member or members present in person or by proxy holding shares 
conferring the right to vote on the resolution on which an aggregate sum 
has been paid up equal to not less than 10% of the total sum paid up on 
all the shares conferring that right (excluding shares in the Company 
conferring a right to vote on the resolution which are held as treasury 
shares), and a demand for a poll by a person as proxy for a member shall 
be as valid as if the demand were made by the member himself. 

(ii) No poll may be demanded on the appointment of a chairman of the meeting. 

(iii) A demand for a poll may, before the poll is taken, be withdrawn but only with the 
consent of the chairman of the meeting and the demand so withdrawn shall not be 
taken to have invalidated the result of a show of hands declared before the 
demand was made. If a poll is demanded before the declaration of the result of a 
show of hands and the demand is duly withdrawn, the meeting shall continue as 
if the demand had not been made. 

(iv) Unless a poll is demanded (and the demand is not withdrawn), a declaration by 
the chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been carried, or carried 
unanimously, or has been carried by a particular majority, or lost, or not carried 
by a particular majority, shall be conclusive, and an entry to that effect in the 
minutes of the meeting shall be conclusive evidence of that fact, without proof of 
the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the 
resolution. 

(v) The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the 
transaction of any business other than the question on which a poll has been 
demanded. 

(b) At a general meeting which is held as a combined physical and electronic general 
meeting: 

(i) a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, and any 
such poll will be deemed to have been validly demanded at the time fixed for 
holding the meeting to which it relates; 

(ii) any demand for a poll which is deemed to have been made in accordance with 
paragraph (b) above may not be withdrawn; 

(iii) no poll may be demanded on the appointment of a chairman of the meeting. 

40. How poll is to be taken 

(a) If a poll is demanded (and the demand is not withdrawn), it shall be taken at such time 
(either at the meeting at which the poll is demanded or within 30 days after the meeting), 
at such place and in such manner (including electronically) as the chairman of the 
meeting shall direct and he may appoint scrutineers (who need not be members). 

(b) A poll demanded on a question of adjournment shall be taken at the meeting without 
adjournment. 

(c) It shall not be necessary (unless the chairman of the meeting otherwise directs) for notice 
to be given of a poll whether taken at or after the meeting at which it was demanded. 
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(d) On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy and a member entitled to 
more than one vote need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same 
way. 

(e) The result of the poll shall be deemed to be a resolution of the meeting at which the poll 
was demanded (or deemed to have been demanded). 

41. Validity of meeting 

All persons seeking to attend or participate in a general meeting electronically shall be 
responsible for maintaining adequate facilities to enable them to do so. Subject only to the 
requirement for the chairman to adjourn a general meeting in accordance with the provisions of 
article 38(c), any inability of a person or persons to attend or participate in a general meeting 
electronically shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting. 

 
VOTES OF MEMBERS 

42. Voting rights 

(a) Subject to these articles and to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time 
being attached to any class of shares in the Company, the provisions of the CA 2006 shall 
apply in relation to voting rights. 

(b) Subject to paragraph (c) below, on a vote on a resolution on a show of hands at a general 
meeting which is being held as a physical general meeting, every proxy present who has 
been duly appointed by one or more members entitled to vote on the resolution has one 
vote. 

(c) On a vote on a resolution on a show of hands at a general meeting which is being held as 
a physical general meeting, a proxy has one vote for and one vote against the resolution 
if: 

(i) the proxy has been duly appointed by more than one member entitled to vote on 
the resolution; and 

(ii) the proxy has been instructed by, or exercises his discretion given by, one or 
more of those members to vote for the resolution and has been instructed by, or 
exercises his discretion given by, one or more other of those members to vote 
against it. 

(d) For the purposes of determining which persons are entitled to attend or vote at any 
general meeting, and how many votes such persons may cast, the Company may specify 
in the notice of the meeting a time, not more than 48 hours before the time fixed for the 
meeting, by which a person must be entered on the register in order to have the right to 
attend or vote at the meeting. In calculating the period mentioned, no account shall be 
taken of any part of a day that is not a working day. Changes to entries on the register 
after the time so specified shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to 
attend or vote at the meeting, notwithstanding any provisions in the Statutes or these 
articles to the contrary. 

43. Representation of corporations 

(a) Any corporation which is a member of the Company may, by resolution of its board or 
other governing body, authorise any person or persons to act as its representative or 
representatives at any general meeting of the Company. 

(b) The board or any director or the secretary may (but shall not be bound to) require 
evidence of the authority of any such representative. 
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44. Voting rights of joint holders 

If more than one of the joint holders of a share tenders a vote on the same resolution, whether in 
person or by proxy, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote shall be accepted to the exclusion of 
the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s); and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the 
order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the relevant share. 

45. Voting rights of members incapable of managing their affairs 

A member in respect of whom an order has been made by any court having jurisdiction (whether 
in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder may vote, whether on 
a show of hands or on a poll, by his receiver, curator bonis or other person in the nature of a 
receiver or curator bonis appointed by that court, and the receiver, curator bonis or other person 
may, on a poll, vote by proxy. Evidence to the satisfaction of the board of the authority of the 
person claiming the right to vote must be received at the office (or at such other address as may 
be specified for the receipt of proxy appointments) not later than the last time by which a proxy 
appointment must be received in order to be valid for use at the meeting or adjourned meeting or 
on the holding of the poll at or on which that person proposes to vote and, in default, the right to 
vote shall not be exercisable. 

46. Voting rights suspended where sums overdue 

Unless the board otherwise decides, a member shall not be entitled to vote, either in person or by 
proxy, at any general meeting of the Company in respect of any share held by him unless all calls 
and other sums presently payable by him in respect of that share have been paid. 

47. Objections to admissibility of votes 

No objection shall be raised as to the admissibility of any vote except at the meeting or adjourned 
meeting or poll at which the vote objected to is or may be given or tendered, and every vote not 
disallowed at such meeting or poll shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection made in due 
time shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting, whose decision shall be final and 
conclusive. 

 
PROXIES 

48. Proxies 

(a) A proxy need not be a member of the Company and a member may appoint more than 
one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the 
rights attached to a different share or shares held by him. 

(b) The appointment of a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting in 
person at the meeting or on the poll concerned. 

(c) The appointment of a proxy shall only be valid for the meeting mentioned in it and any 
adjournment of that meeting (including on any poll demanded at the meeting or any 
adjourned meeting). 

49. Appointment of proxy 

(a) Subject to the Statutes, the appointment of a proxy may be in such form as is usual or 
common or in such other form as the board may from time to time approve and shall be 
signed by the appointor, or his duly authorised agent, or, if the appointor is a corporation, 
shall either be executed under its common seal or be signed by an agent or officer 
authorised for that purpose. The signature need not be witnessed. 
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(b) Without limiting the provisions of these articles, the board may from time to time in 
relation to uncertificated shares: (i) approve the appointment of a proxy by means of a 
communication sent in electronic form in the form of an "uncertificated proxy 
instruction" (a properly authenticated dematerialised instruction and/or other instruction 
or notification, which is sent by means of the relevant system and received by such 
participant in that system acting on behalf of the Company as the board may prescribe, in 
such form and subject to such terms and conditions as the board may from time to time 
prescribe (subject always to the facilities and requirements of the relevant system)); and 
(ii) approve supplements to, or amendments or revocations of, any such uncertificated 
proxy instruction by the same means. In addition, the board may prescribe the method of 
determining the time at which any such uncertificated proxy instruction is to be treated as 
received by the Company or such participant and may treat any such uncertificated proxy 
instruction which purports to be or is expressed to be sent on behalf of a holder of a share 
as sufficient evidence of the authority of the person sending that instruction to send it on 
behalf of that holder. 

50. Receipt of proxy 

(a) A proxy appointment: 

(i) must be received at a proxy notification address not less than 48 hours (or such 
shorter time as the board decides) before the time fixed for holding the meeting at 
which the appointee proposes to vote; or 

(ii) in the case of a poll taken more than 48 hours after it is demanded or in the case 
of an adjourned meeting to be held more than 48 hours after the time fixed for 
holding the original meeting, must be received at a proxy notification address not 
less than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the board decides) before the time 
fixed for the taking of the poll or, as the case may be, the time fixed for holding 
the adjourned meeting; or 

(iii) in the case of a poll which is not taken at the meeting at which it is demanded but 
is taken 48 hours or less after it is demanded, or in the case of an adjourned 
meeting to be held 48 hours or less after the time fixed for holding the original 
meeting, must be received: 

(A) at a proxy notification address in accordance with (i) above; 

(B) by the chairman of the meeting or the secretary or any director at the 
meeting at which the poll is demanded or, as the case may be, at the 
original meeting; or 

(C) at a proxy notification address by such time as the chairman of the 
meeting may direct at the meeting at which the poll is demanded. 

In calculating the periods mentioned, no account shall be taken of any part of a day that is 
not a working day. 

(b) In the case of a proxy appointment signed by an agent of a member who is not a 
corporation, the authority under which the appointment is signed or a copy of it certified 
in such manner as shall be specified in the notice of the relevant meeting or in any other 
information issued by the Company in relation to the relevant meeting, or such other 
information as shall be so specified, must also be received by the Company in the manner 
set out in paragraph (a). 

(c) In the case of a proxy appointment signed by an officer or other agent of a corporation, 
the board may also require the receipt, in the manner set out in paragraph (a), of the 
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authority under which the appointment is signed or a copy of it certified in such manner 
as shall be specified in the notice of the relevant meeting or in any other information 
issued by the Company in relation to the relevant meeting, or of such other authorities or 
information as shall be so specified. 

(d) Subject to the Statutes, the board may, but shall not be bound to, require such further 
evidence as it thinks fit of the authenticity or integrity of any signature on a proxy 
appointment and, if the signatory is an agent or, where the appointor is a corporation, an 
officer, of his authority. 

(e) The board may decide, either generally or in any particular case, to treat a proxy 
appointment as valid notwithstanding that the appointment or any of the information 
required under paragraph (b), above has not been received in accordance with the 
requirements of this article. 

(f) Subject to paragraph (e) above, if the proxy appointment and any of the information 
required under paragraph (b) above, is not received in the manner set out in paragraph (a) 
above, the appointee shall not be entitled to vote in respect of the shares in question. 

(g) If two or more valid but differing proxy appointments are received in respect of the same 
share for use at the same meeting or on the same poll, the one which is last received 
(regardless of its date or of the date of its execution) shall be treated as replacing and 
revoking the others as regards that share and if the Company is unable to determine 
which was last received, none of them shall be treated as valid in respect of that share. 

51. Notice of revocation of authority etc. 

(a) A vote given or poll demanded by proxy or by a representative of a corporation shall be 
valid notwithstanding the previous termination of the authority of the person voting or 
demanding a poll or (until entered in the register) the transfer of the share in respect of 
which the appointment of the relevant person was made unless notice of the termination 
was received at a proxy notification address not less than six hours before the time fixed 
for holding the relevant meeting or adjourned meeting or, in the case of a poll not taken 
on the same day as the meeting or adjourned meeting, before the time fixed for taking the 
poll. 

(b) A vote given by a proxy or by a representative of a corporation shall be valid 
notwithstanding that he has not voted in accordance with any instructions given by the 
member by whom he is appointed. The Company shall not be obliged to check whether 
the proxy or representative of a corporation has in fact voted in accordance with any such 
member's instructions. 

 
DIRECTORS 

52. Number of directors 

The directors (other than alternate directors) shall not, unless otherwise determined by an 
ordinary resolution of the Company, be less than two nor more than 14 in number. 

53. Directors need not be members 

A director need not be a member of the Company. 

 
ELECTION, RETIREMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS 

54. Election of directors by the Company 
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(a) Subject to these articles, the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person who 
is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional director, but so 
that the total number of directors shall not exceed any maximum number fixed by or in 
accordance with these articles. 

(b) No person (other than a director retiring in accordance with these articles) shall be elected 
or re-elected a director at any general meeting unless: 

(i) he is recommended by the board; or 

(ii) not less than 14 nor more than 42 days before the date appointed for the meeting 
there has been given to the Company, by a member (other than the person to be 
proposed) entitled to vote at the meeting, notice of his intention to propose a 
resolution for the election of that person, stating the particulars which would, if 
he were so elected, be required to be included in the Company's register of 
directors and a notice executed by that person of his willingness to be elected. 

55. Separate resolutions for election of each director 

Every resolution of a general meeting for the election of a director shall relate to one named 
person and a single resolution for the election of two or more persons shall be void, unless a 
resolution that it shall be so proposed has been first agreed to by the meeting without any vote 
being cast against it. 

56. The board's power to appoint directors 

The board may appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or 
by way of addition to their number, but so that the total number of directors shall not exceed any 
maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles. 

57. Removal of directors 

(a) The Company may by special resolution, or by ordinary resolution of which special 
notice has been given in accordance with the Statutes, remove any director before his 
period of office has expired notwithstanding anything in these articles or in any 
agreement between him and the Company. 

(b) A director may also be removed from office by giving him notice to that effect signed by 
or on behalf of not less than three quarters of the other directors (or their alternates), 
being not less than three in number. 

(c) Any removal of a director under this article shall be without prejudice to any claim which 
such director may have for damages for breach of any agreement between him and the 
Company. 

58. Vacation of office of director 

Without prejudice to the provisions of these articles for retirement or removal, the office of a 
director shall be vacated if: 

(i) he is prohibited by law from being a director; or 

(ii) he becomes bankrupt or he makes any arrangement or composition with his 
creditors generally; or 

(iii) a registered medical practitioner who has examined him gives a written opinion 
to the Company stating that he has become physically or mentally incapable of 
acting as a director and may remain so for more than three months and the board 
resolves that his office be vacated; or 
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(iv) if for more than six months he is absent (whether or not an alternate director 
attends in his place), without special leave of absence from the board, from board 
meetings held during that period and the board resolves that his office be 
vacated; or 

(v) he gives to the Company notice of his wish to resign, in which event he shall 
vacate that office on the receipt of that notice by the Company or at such later 
time as is specified in the notice. 

59. Executive directors 

(a) The board may appoint one or more directors to hold any executive office under the 
Company (including that of chairman, chief executive or managing director) for such 
period (subject to the Statutes) and on such terms as it may decide and may revoke or 
terminate any appointment so made without prejudice to any claim for damages for 
breach of any contract of service between the director and the Company. 

(b) The remuneration of a director appointed to any executive office shall be fixed by the 
board and may be by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise and 
either in addition to or inclusive of his remuneration as a director. 

(c) A director appointed as executive chairman, chief executive or managing director shall 
automatically cease to hold that office if he ceases to be a director but without prejudice 
to any claim for damages for breach of any contract of service between him and the 
Company. A director appointed to any other executive office shall not automatically 
cease to hold that office if he ceases to be a director unless the contract or any resolution 
under which he holds office expressly states that he shall, in which case that cessation 
shall be without prejudice to any claim for damages for breach of any contract of service 
between him and the Company. 

 
ALTERNATE DIRECTORS 

60. Power to appoint alternate directors 

(a) Each director may appoint another director or any other person who is willing to act as 
his alternate and may remove him from that office. The appointment as an alternate 
director of any person who is not himself a director shall be subject to the approval of a 
majority of the directors or a resolution of the board. 

(b) An alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all board meetings and of all 
meetings of committees of which the director appointing him is a member, to attend and 
vote at any such meeting at which the director appointing him is not personally present 
and at the meeting to exercise and discharge all the functions, powers and duties of his 
appointor as a director and for the purposes of the proceedings at the meeting these 
articles shall apply as if he were a director. 

(c) Every person acting as an alternate director shall (except as regards the power to appoint 
an alternate and remuneration) be subject in all respects to these articles relating to 
directors and shall alone be responsible to the Company for his acts and defaults and shall 
not be deemed to be the agent of the director appointing him. An alternate director may 
be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company to the same 
extent as if he were a director but shall not be entitled to receive from the Company any 
fee in his capacity as an alternate director. 
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(d) Every person acting as an alternate director shall have one vote for each director for 
whom he acts as alternate, in addition to his own vote if he is also a director, but he shall 
count as only one for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present. 

(e) Any person appointed as an alternate director shall vacate his office as alternate director 
if the director by whom he has been appointed vacates his office as director (otherwise 
than by retirement at a general meeting of the Company at which he is reappointed) or 
removes him by notice to the Company or on the happening of any event which, if he is 
or were a director, causes or would cause him to vacate that office. 

(f) Every appointment or removal of an alternate director shall be made by notice and shall 
be effective (subject to paragraph (a) above) on receipt by the secretary of the notice. 

 
REMUNERATION, EXPENSES, PENSIONS AND OTHER BENEFITS 

61. Directors' fees 

The directors shall be paid such fees not exceeding in aggregate £2,000,000 per annum (or such 
larger sum as the Company may, by ordinary resolution, determine) as the board may decide to be 
divided among them in such proportion and manner as they may agree or, failing agreement, 
equally. Any fee payable under this article shall be distinct from any remuneration or other 
amounts payable to a director under other provisions of these articles and shall accrue from day to 
day. 

62. Special remuneration 

(a) The board may grant special remuneration to any director who performs any special or 
extra services to or at the request of the Company. 

(b) Such special remuneration may be paid by way of lump sum, salary, commission, 
participation in profits or otherwise as the board may decide in addition to any 
remuneration payable under or pursuant to any other of these articles. 

63. Expenses 

A director shall be paid out of the funds of the Company all travelling, hotel and other expenses 
properly incurred by him in and about the discharge of his duties, including his expenses of 
travelling to and from board meetings, committee meetings and general meetings. Subject to any 
guidelines and procedures established from time to time by the board, a director may also be paid 
out of the funds of the Company all expenses incurred by him in obtaining professional advice in 
connection with the affairs of the Company or the discharge of his duties as a director. 

64. Pensions and other benefits 

The board may exercise all the powers of the Company to: 

(a) pay, provide, arrange or procure the grant of pensions or other retirement benefits, death, 
disability or sickness benefits, health, accident and other insurances or other such 
benefits, allowances, gratuities or insurances, including in relation to the termination of 
employment, to or for the benefit of any person who is or has been at any time a director 
of the Company or in the employment or service of the Company or of any body 
corporate which is or was associated with the Company or of the predecessors in business 
of the Company or any such associated body corporate, or the relatives or dependants of 
any such person. For that purpose the board may procure the establishment and 
maintenance of, or participation in, or contribution to, any pension fund, scheme or 
arrangement and the payment of any insurance premiums; 
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(b) establish, maintain, adopt and enable participation in any profit sharing or incentive 
scheme including shares, share options or cash or any similar schemes for the benefit of 
any director or employee of the Company or of any associated body corporate, and to 
lend money to any such director or employee or to trustees on their behalf to enable any 
such schemes to be established, maintained or adopted; and 

(c) support and subscribe to any institution or association which may be for the benefit of the 
Company or of any associated body corporate or any directors or employees of the 
Company or associated body corporate or their relatives or dependants or connected with 
any town or place where the Company or an associated body corporate carries on 
business, and to support and subscribe to any charitable or public object whatsoever. 

 
POWERS OF THE BOARD 

65. General powers of the board to manage the Company's business 

(a) The business of the Company shall be managed by the board which may exercise all the 
powers of the Company, subject to the Statutes, these articles and any special resolution 
of the Company. No special resolution or alteration of these articles shall invalidate any 
prior act of the board which would have been valid if the resolution had not been passed 
or the alteration had not been made. 

(b) The powers given by this article shall not be limited by any special authority or power 
given to the board by any other article or any resolution of the Company. 

66. Power to act notwithstanding vacancy 

The continuing directors or the sole continuing director at any time may act notwithstanding any 
vacancy in their number; but, if the number of directors is less than the minimum number of 
directors fixed by or in accordance with these articles, they or he may act for the purpose of 
filling up vacancies or calling a general meeting of the Company, but not for any other purpose. If 
no director is able or willing to act, then any two members may summon a general meeting for 
the purpose of appointing directors. 

67. Provisions for employees 

The board may exercise any of the powers conferred by the Statutes to make provision for the 
benefit of any persons employed or formerly employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
(other than a director or former director or shadow director) in connection with the cessation or 
the transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries. 

68. Power to borrow money 

The board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or 
charge all or any part of its undertaking, property and assets (both present and future) and 
uncalled capital and to issue debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral 
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party. 

69. Power to change the name of the Company  

The board may change the name of the Company. 

 
DELEGATION OF BOARD'S POWERS 

70. Delegation to individual directors 
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The board may entrust to and confer upon any director any of its powers, authorities and 
diseretions (with power to sub-delegate) on such terms and conditions as it thinks fit and may 
revoke or vary all or any of them, but no person dealing in good faith shall be affected by any 
revocation or variation. 

71. Committees 

(a) The board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-
delegate) to any committee consisting of such person or persons (whether directors or 
not) as it thinks fit. The board may make any such delegation on such terms and 
conditions as it thinks fit and may revoke or vary any such delegation and discharge any 
committee wholly or in part, but no person dealing in good faith shall be affected by any 
revocation or variation. Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, 
authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations that may be imposed 
on it by the board. 

(b) The proceedings of a committee with two or more members shall be governed by any 
regulations imposed on it by the board and (subject to such regulations) by these articles 
regulating the proceedings of the board so far as they are capable of applying. 

72. Local boards 

(a) The board may establish any local or divisional board or agency for managing any of the 
affairs of the Company whether in the United Kingdom or elsewhere and may appoint 
any persons to be members of a local or divisional board, or to be managers or agents, 
and may fix their remuneration. 

(b) The board may delegate to any local or divisional board, manager or agent any of its 
powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) and may authorise the 
members of any local or divisional board or any of them to fill any vacancies and to act 
notwithstanding vacancies. 

(c) Any appointment or delegation under this article may be made on such terms and subject 
to such conditions as the board thinks fit and the board may remove any person so 
appointed, and may revoke or vary any delegation, but no person dealing in good faith 
shall be affected by the revocation or variation. 

73. Powers of attorney 

The board may by power of attorney or otherwise appoint any person to be the agent of the 
Company on such terms (including terms as to remuneration) as it may decide and may delegate 
to any person so appointed any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-
delegate). The board may remove any person appointed under this article and may revoke or vary 
the delegation, but no person dealing in good faith shall be affected by the revocation or variation. 

 
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS 

74. Directors' interests other than in relation to transactions or arrangements with the 
Company 

(a) If a situation (a Relevant Situation) arises in which a director has, or can have, a direct 
or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the 
Company (including, without limitation, in relation to the exploitation of any property, 
information or opportunity, whether or not the Company could take advantage of it but 
excluding any situation which cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a 
conflict of interest) the following provisions shall apply if the conflict of interest does not 
arise in relation to a transaction or arrangement with the Company: 
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(i) if the Relevant Situation arises from the appointment or proposed appointment of 
a person as a director of the Company, the directors (other than the director, and 
any other director with a similar interest, who shall not be counted in the quorum 
at the meeting and shall not vote on the resolution) may resolve to authorise the 
appointment of the director and the Relevant Situation on such terms as they may 
determine; 

(ii) if the Relevant Situation arises in circumstances other than in paragraph (i) 
above, the directors (other than the director and any other director with a similar 
interest who shall not be counted in the quorum at the meeting and shall not vote 
on the resolution) may resolve to authorise the Relevant Situation and the 
continuing performance by the director of his duties on such terms as they may 
determine. 

(b) Any reference in paragraph (a) above to a conflict of interest includes a conflict of 
interest and duty and a conflict of duties. 

(c) Any terms determined by directors under paragraphs (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above may be 
imposed at the time of the authorisation or may be imposed or varied subsequently and 
may include (without limitation): 

(i) whether the interested directors may vote (or be counted in the quorum at a 
meeting) in relation to any resolution relating to the Relevant Situation; 

(ii) the exclusion of the interested directors from all information and discussion by 
the Company of the Relevant Situation; and 

(iii) (without prejudice to the general obligations of confidentiality) the application to 
the interested directors of a strict duty of confidentiality to the Company for any 
confidential information of the Company in relation to the Relevant Situation. 

(d) An interested director must act in accordance with any terms determined by the directors 
under paragraphs (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above. 

(e) Except as specified in paragraph (a) above, any proposal made to the directors and any 
authorisation by the directors in relation to a Relevant Situation shall be dealt with in the 
same way as any other matter may be proposed to and resolved upon by the directors in 
accordance with the provisions of these articles. 

(f) Any authorisation of a Relevant Situation given by the directors under paragraph (a) 
above may provide that, where the interested director obtains (other than through his 
position as a director of the Company) information that is confidential to a third party, he 
will not be obliged to disclose it to the Company or to use it in relation to the Company's 
affairs in circumstances where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence. 

75. Declaration of interests other than in relation to transactions or arrangements with the 
Company 

A director shall declare the nature and extent of his interest in a Relevant Situation within article 
74(a)(i) or 74(a)(ii) to the other directors. 

76. Declaration of interests in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the Company 

If a director is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed transaction or 
arrangement with the Company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the other 
directors. 

77. Declaration of interest in an existing transaction or arrangement with the Company 
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Where a director is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a transaction or arrangement 
that has been entered into by the Company, he must declare the nature and extent of his interest to 
the other directors, unless the interest has already been declared under article 76 above. 

78. Provisions applicable to declarations of interest 

(a) The declaration of interest must (in the case of article 77) and may, but need not (in the 
case of article 75 or 76) be made: 

(i) at a meeting of the directors; or 

(ii) by notice to the directors in accordance with: 

(A) section 184 of the CA 2006 (notice in writing); or 

(B) section 185 of the CA 2006 (general notice). 

(b) If a declaration of interest proves to be, or becomes, inaccurate or incomplete, a further 
declaration must be made. 

(c) Any declaration of interest required by article 75 above must be made as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 

Failure to comply with this requirement does not affect the underlying duty to make the 
declaration of interest. 

(d) Any declaration of interest required by article 76 above must be made before the 
Company enters into the transaction or arrangement. 

(e) Any declaration of interest required by article 77 above must be made as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 

Failure to comply with this requirement does not affect the underlying duty to make the 
declaration of interest. 

(f) A declaration in relation to an interest of which the director is not aware, or where the 
director is not aware of the transaction or arrangement in question, is not required.  For 
this purpose, a director is treated as being aware of matters of which he ought reasonably 
to be aware. 

(g) A director need not declare an interest: 

(i) if it cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest; 

(ii) if, or to the extent that, the other directors are already aware of it (and for this 
purpose the other directors are treated as aware of anything of which they ought 
reasonably to be aware); or 

(iii) if, or to the extent that, it concerns terms of his service contract that have been or 
are to be considered: 

(A) by a meeting of the directors; or 

(B) by a committee of the directors appointed for the purpose under the 
articles. 

79. Directors' interests and voting 

(a) Subject to the Statutes and to declaring his interest in accordance with article 75, 76 or 77 
above, a director may: 
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(i) enter into or be interested in any transaction or arrangement with the Company, 
either with regard to his tenure of any office or position in the management, 
administration or conduct of the business of the Company or as vendor, 
purchaser or otherwise; 

(ii) hold any other office or place of profit with the Company (except that of auditor) 
in conjunction with his office of director for such period (subject to the Statutes) 
and upon such terms as the board may decide and be paid such extra 
remuneration for so doing (whether by way of salary, commission, participation 
in profits or otherwise) as the board may decide, either in addition to or in lieu of 
any remuneration under any other provision of these articles; 

(iii) act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company (except as 
auditor) and be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were 
not a director; 

(iv) be or become a member or director of, or hold any other office or place of profit 
under, or otherwise be interested in, any holding company or subsidiary 
undertaking of that holding company or any other company in which the 
Company may be interested. The board may cause the voting rights conferred by 
the shares in any other company held or owned by the Company or exercisable 
by them as directors of that other company to be exercised in such manner in all 
respects as it thinks fit (including the exercise of voting rights in favour of any 
resolution appointing the directors or any of them as directors or officers of the 
other company or voting or providing for the payment of any benefit to the 
directors or officers of the other company); and 

(v) be or become a director of any other company in which the Company does not 
have an interest if that cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a 
conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other 
company. 

(b) A director shall not, by reason of his holding office as director (or of the fiduciary 
relationship established by holding that office), be liable to account to the Company for 
any remuneration, profit or other benefit resulting from: 

(i) any Relevant Situation authorised under article 74(a); or 

(ii) any interest permitted under paragraph (a) above, 

and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of any director having any 
type of interest authorised under article 74(a) or permitted under paragraph (a) above. 

(c) A director shall not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a meeting) in respect of any 
resolution concerning his own appointment (including fixing or varying its terms), or the 
termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit with the 
Company or any other company in which the Company is interested but, where proposals 
are under consideration concerning the appointment (including fixing or varying its 
terms), or the termination of the appointment, of two or more directors to offices or 
places of profit with the Company or any other company in which the Company is 
interested, those proposals may be divided and a separate resolution may be put in 
relation to each director and in that case each of the directors concerned (if not otherwise 
debarred from voting under this article) shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the 
quorum) in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the 
termination of his own appointment. 
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(d) A director shall also not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a meeting) in relation to any 
resolution relating to any transaction or arrangement with the Company in which he has 
an interest which may reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest 
and, if he purports to do so, his vote shall not be counted, but this prohibition shall not 
apply and a director may vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect of any resolution 
concerning any one or more of the following matters: 

(i) any transaction or arrangement in which he is interested by virtue of an interest in 
shares, debentures or other securities of the Company or otherwise in or through 
the Company; 

(ii) the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of: 

(A) money lent or obligations incurred by him or by any other person at the 
request of, or for the benefit of, the Company or any of its subsidiary 
undertakings; or 

(B) a debt or obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings 
for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in part 
(either alone or jointly with others) under a guarantee or indemnity or by 
the giving of security; 

(1) indemnification (including loans made in connection with it) by 
the Company in relation to the performance of his duties on 
behalf of the Company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings; 

(2) any issue or offer of shares, debentures or other securities of the 
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings in respect of 
which he is or may be entitled to participate in his capacity as a 
holder of any such securities or as an underwriter or sub-
underwriter; 

(3) any arrangement for the benefit of employees of the Company or 
any of its subsidiary undertakings which does not accord to him 
any privilege or benefit not generally accorded to the employees 
to whom the arrangement relates; and 

(4) the purchase or maintenance of insurance for the benefit of 
directors or for the benefit of persons including directors. 

(e) In the case of an alternate director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an 
interest of the alternate in addition to any interest which the alternate otherwise has. 

(f) If any question arises at any meeting as to whether an interest of a director (other than the 
chairman of the meeting) may reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of 
interest or as to the entitlement of any director (other than the chairman of the meeting) to 
vote in relation to a transaction or arrangement with the Company and the question is not 
resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting, the question shall be referred 
to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to the director concerned shall be 
final and conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the 
director concerned, so far as known to him, has not been fairly disclosed. If any question 
shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting and is not resolved by his voluntarily 
agreeing to abstain from voting, the question shall be decided by a resolution of the board 
(for which purpose the chairman shall be counted in the quorum but shall not vote on the 
matter) and the resolution shall be final and conclusive except in a case where the nature 
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or extent of the interest of the chairman of the meeting, so far as known to him, has not 
been fairly disclosed. 

(g) Subject to the Statutes, the Company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the 
provisions of this article to any extent or ratify any transaction or arrangement not duly 
authorised by reason of a contravention of this article. 

 
PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD 

80. Board meetings 

The board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as 
it thinks fit. A director at any time may, and the secretary at the request of a director at any time 
shall, summon a board meeting. 

81. Notice of board meetings 

Notice of a board meeting may be given to a director personally or by word of mouth or given in 
hard copy form or in electronic form to him at such address as he may from time to time specify 
for this purpose (or if he does not specify an address, at his last known address). A director may 
waive notice of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively. A director will be treated as 
having waived his entitlement to notice unless he has supplied the Company with the information 
necessary to ensure that he receives notice of a meeting before it takes place. 

82. Quorum 

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the board may be fixed by the board 
and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be two. Subject to these articles, any director who 
ceases to be a director at a board meeting may continue to be present and to act as a director and 
be counted in the quorum until the end of the board meeting if no other director objects and if 
otherwise a quorum of directors would not be present. 

83. Chairman or deputy chairman to preside 

(a) The board may appoint a chairman and one or more deputy chairman or chairmen and 
may at any time revoke any such appointment. 

(b) The chairman, or failing him any deputy chairman (the longest in office taking 
precedence, if more than one is present), shall, if present and willing, preside at all board 
meetings but, if no chairman or deputy chairman has been appointed, or if he is not 
present within five minutes after the time fixed for holding the meeting or is unwilling to 
act as chairman of the meeting, the directors present shall choose one of their number to 
act as chairman of the meeting. 

84. Competence of board meetings 

A board meeting at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, 
authorities and discretions for the time being vested in or exercisable by the board. 

85. Voting 

Questions arising at any board meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of 
an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 

86. Telephone/electronic board meetings 

(a) A board meeting may consist of a conference between directors some or all of whom are 
in different places provided that each director may participate in the business of the 
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meeting whether directly, by telephone or by any other means (whether electronically or 
otherwise) which enables him: 

(i) to hear (or otherwise receive real time communications made by) each of the 
other participating directors addressing the meeting; and 

(ii) if he so wishes, to address all of the other participating directors simultaneously 
(or otherwise communicate in real time with them). 

(b) A quorum is deemed to be present if at least the number of directors required to form a 
quorum, subject to the provisions of article 66, may participate in the manner specified 
above in the business of the meeting. 

(c) A board meeting held in this way is deemed to take place at the place where the largest 
group of participating directors is assembled or, if no such group is readily identifiable, at 
the place from where the chairman of the meeting participates. 

87. Resolutions without meetings 

A resolution which is signed or approved by all the directors entitled to vote on that resolution 
(and whose vote would have been counted) shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed 
at a board meeting duly called and constituted. The resolution may be contained in one document 
or communication in electronic form or in several documents or communications in electronic 
form (in like form), each signed or approved by one or more of the directors concerned. For the 
purpose of this article: 

(i) the signature or approval of an alternate director (if any) shall suffice in place of 
the signature of the director appointing him; and 

(ii) the approval of a director or alternate director shall be given in hard copy form or 
in electronic form. 

88. Validity of acts of directors in spite of formal defect 

All acts bona fide done by a meeting of the board, or of a committee, or by any person acting as a 
director or a member of a committee, shall, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that 
there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the board or committee or of the 
person so acting, or that they or any of them were disqualified or had vacated office or were not 
entitled to vote, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and qualified to be a 
director and had continued to be a director or member of the committee and had been entitled to 
vote. 

89. Minutes 

The board shall cause minutes to be made in books kept for the purpose: 

(i) of all appointments of officers made by the board; 

(ii) of the names of all the directors present at each meeting of the board and of any 
committee; and 

(iii) of all resolutions and proceedings of all meetings of the Company and of any 
class of members, and of the board and of any committee. 

 
SECRETARY 

90. Secretary 

The secretary shall be appointed by the board for such term, at such remuneration and on such 
conditions as it thinks fit, and the board may remove from office any person so appointed 
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(without prejudice to any claim for damages for breach of any contract between him and the 
Company). 

 
SHARE CERTIFICATES 

91. Issue of share certificates 

(a) A person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of any certificated shares 
shall be entitled (unless the conditions of issue otherwise provide) to receive one 
certificate for those shares, or one certificate for each class of those shares and, if he 
transfers part of the shares represented by a certificate in his name, or elects to hold part 
in uncertificated form, to receive a new certificate for the balance of those shares. 

(b) In the case of joint holders, the Company shall not be bound to issue more than one 
certificate for all the shares in any particular class registered in their joint names, and 
delivery of a certificate for a share to any one of the joint holders shall be sufficient 
delivery to all. 

(c) A share certificate shall be issued under seal or signed by at least one director and the 
secretary or by at least two directors (which may include any signature being applied 
mechanically or electronically) or by any one director in the presence of a witness who 
attests the signature, or made effective in such other way as the directors decide. A share 
certificate shall specify the number and class of the shares to which it relates and the 
amount or respective amounts paid up on the shares. Any certificate so issued shall, as 
against the Company, be prima facie evidence of title of the person named in that 
certificate to the shares comprised in it. 

(d) A share certificate may be given to a member in accordance with the provisions of these 
articles on notices. 

92. Charges for and replacement of certificates 

(a) Except as expressly provided to the contrary in these articles, no fee shall be charged for 
the issue of a share certificate. 

(b) Any two or more certificates representing shares of any one class held by any member 
may at his request be cancelled and a single new certificate issued. 

(c) If any member surrenders for cancellation a certificate representing shares held by him 
and requests the Company to issue two or more certificates representing those shares in 
such proportions as he may specify, the board may, if it thinks fit, comply with the 
request on payment of such fee (if any) as the board may decide. 

(d) If a certificate is damaged or defaced or alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, a 
new certificate representing the same shares may be issued on compliance with such 
conditions as to evidence, indemnity and security for such indemnity as the board may 
think fit and on payment of any exceptional expenses of the Company incidental to its 
investigation of the evidence and preparation of the indemnity and security and, if 
damaged or defaced, on delivery up of the old certificate. 

(e) In the case of joint holders of a share a request for a new certificate under any of the 
preceding paragraphs of this article may be made by any one of the joint holders unless 
the certificate is alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed. 

 
LIEN ON SHARES 

93. Lien on partly paid shares 
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(a) The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid 
share) for all amounts payable (whether or not due) in respect of that share. The lien shall 
extend to every amount payable in respect of that share. 

(b) The board may at any time either generally or in any particular case declare any share to 
be wholly or partly exempt from this article. Unless otherwise agreed, the registration of 
a transfer of a share shall operate as a waiver of the Company's lien (if any) on that share. 

94. Enforcement of lien 

(a) The Company may sell any share subject to a lien in such manner as the board may 
decide if an amount payable on the share is due and is not paid within 14 clear days after 
a notice has been given to the holder or any person entitled by transmission to the share 
demanding payment of that amount and giving notice of intention to sell in default. 

(b) To give effect to any sale under this article, the board may authorise some person to 
transfer the share sold to, or as directed by, the purchaser. The purchaser shall not be 
bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall the title of the new holder 
to the share be affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings relating to 
the sale. 

(c) The net proceeds of the sale, after payment of the costs of such sale, shall be applied in or 
towards satisfaction of the amount due and any residue shall (subject to a like lien for any 
amounts not presently due as existed on the share before the sale), on surrender, in the 
case of shares held in certificated form, of the certificate for the shares sold, be paid to 
the holder or person entitled by transmission to the share immediately before the sale. 

 
CALLS ON SHARES 

95. Calls 

(a) Subject to the terms of allotment, the board may make calls on the members in respect of 
any moneys unpaid on their shares (whether in respect of nominal amount or premium) 
and each member shall (subject to his receiving at least 14 clear days' notice specifying 
when and where payment is to be made) pay to the Company as required by the notice 
the amount called on his shares. A call may be revoked or postponed as the board may 
decide. 

(b) Any call may be made payable in one sum or by instalments and shall be deemed to be 
made at the time when the resolution of the board authorising that call is passed. 

(c) A person on whom a call is made shall remain liable for it notwithstanding the 
subsequent transfer of the share in respect of which the call is made. 

(d) The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable for the payment of all 
calls in respect of that share. 

96. Interest on calls 

If a call is not paid before or on the due date for payment, the person from whom it is due shall 
pay interest on the amount unpaid, from the due date for payment to the date of actual payment, at 
such rate as the board may decide, but the board may waive payment of the interest, wholly or in 
part. 

97. Sums treated as calls 

A sum which by the terms of allotment of a share is payable on allotment, or at a fixed time, or by 
instalments at fixed times, shall for all purposes of these articles be deemed to be a call duly made 
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and payable on the date or dates fixed for payment and, in case of non-payment, these articles 
shall apply as if that sum had become payable by virtue of a call. 

98. Power to differentiate 

On any allotment of shares the board may make arrangements for a difference between the 
allottees or holders of the shares in the amounts and times of payment of calls on their shares. 

99. Payment of calls in advance 

The board may, if it thinks fit, receive all or any part of the moneys payable on a share beyond the 
sum actually called up on it if the holder is willing to make payment in advance and, on any 
moneys so paid in advance, may (until they would otherwise be due) pay interest at such rate as 
may be agreed between the board and the member paying the sum in advance. 

 
FORFEITURE OF SHARES 

100. Notice of unpaid calls 

(a) If the whole or any part of any call or instalment remains unpaid on any share after the 
due date for payment, the board may give a notice to the holder requiring him to pay so 
much of the call or instalment as remains unpaid, together with any accrued interest. 

(b) The notice shall state a further day, being not less than 14 clear days from the date of the 
notice, on or before which, and the place where, payment is to be made and shall state 
that, in the event of non-payment on or before the day and at the place appointed, the 
share in respect of which the call was made or instalment is payable will be liable to be 
forfeited. 

(c) The board may accept a surrender of any share liable to be forfeited. 

101. Forfeiture on non-compliance with notice 

(a) If the requirements of a notice given under the preceding article are not complied with, 
any share in respect of which it was given may (before the payment required by the 
notice is made) be forfeited by a resolution of the board. The forfeiture shall include all 
dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited share and not 
actually paid before the forfeiture. 

(b) If a share is forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be given to the person who was the 
holder of the share or (as the case may be) the person entitled to the share by 
transmission, and an entry that notice of the forfeiture has been given, with the relevant 
date, shall be made in the register; but no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any omission 
to give such notice or to make such entry. 

102. Power to annul forfeiture or surrender 

The board may, at any time before the forfeited or surrendered share has been sold, re-allotted or 
otherwise disposed of, annul the forfeiture or surrender upon payment of all calls and interest due 
on or incurred in respect of the share and on such further conditions (if any) as it thinks fit. 

103. Disposal of forfeited or surrendered shares 

(a) Every share which is forfeited or surrendered shall become the property of the Company 
and (subject to the Statutes) may be sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of, upon such 
terms and in such manner as the board shall decide either to the person who was before 
the forfeiture the holder of the share or to any other person and whether with or without 
all or any part of the amount previously paid up on the share being credited as so paid up. 
The board may for the purposes of a disposal authorise some person to transfer the 
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forfeited or surrendered share to, or in accordance with the directions of, any person to 
whom the same has been disposed of. 

(b) A statutory declaration by a director or the secretary that a share has been forfeited or 
surrendered on a specified date shall, as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the 
share, be conclusive evidence of the facts stated in it and shall (subject to the execution of 
any necessary transfer) constitute a good title to the share. The person to whom the share 
has been disposed of shall not be bound to see to the application of the consideration for 
the disposal (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity in or 
invalidity of the proceedings connected with the forfeiture, surrender, sale, re-allotment 
or disposal of the share. 

104. Arrears to be paid notwithstanding forfeiture or surrender 

A person any of whose shares have been forfeited or surrendered shall cease to be a member in 
respect of the forfeited or surrendered share and shall, in the case of shares held in certificated 
form, surrender to the Company for cancellation any certificate for the share forfeited or 
surrendered, but shall remain liable (unless payment is waived in whole or in part by the board) to 
pay to the Company all moneys payable by him on or in respect of that share at the time of 
forfeiture or surrender, together with interest from the time of forfeiture or surrender until 
payment at such rate as the board shall decide, in the same manner as if the share had not been 
forfeited or surrendered. He shall also be liable to satisfy all the claims and demands (if any) 
which the Company might have enforced in respect of the share at the time of forfeiture or 
surrender. No deduction or allowance shall be made for the value of the share at the time of 
forfeiture or surrender or for any consideration received on its disposal. 

 
SEAL 

105. Seal 

(a) The Company may exercise the powers conferred by the Statutes with regard to having 
official seals and those powers shall be vested in the board. 

(b) The board shall provide for the safe custody of every seal of the Company. 

(c) A seal shall be used only by the authority of the board or a duly authorised committee but 
that authority may consist of an instruction or approval given in hard copy form or in 
electronic form by a majority of the directors or of the members of a duly authorised 
committee. 

(d) The board may determine who shall sign any instrument to which a seal is applied, either 
generally or in relation to a particular instrument or type of instrument, and may also 
determine, either generally or in any particular case, that such signatures shall be 
dispensed with or affixed by some mechanical means. 

(e) Unless otherwise decided by the board: 

(i) certificates for shares, debentures or other securities of the Company issued 
under seal need not be signed; and 

(ii) every other instrument to which a seal is applied shall be signed by at least one 
director and the secretary or by at least two directors or by one director in the 
presence of a witness who attests the signature. 

 
DIVIDENDS 

106. Declaration of dividends by the Company 
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The Company may, by ordinary resolution, declare a dividend to be paid to the members, 
according to their respective rights and interests in the profits, and may fix the time for payment 
of such dividend, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the board. 

107. Fixed and interim dividends 

The board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the board to be justified by the financial 
position of the Company and may also pay any dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled 
by the board whenever the financial position of the Company, in the opinion of the board, 
justifies its payment. If the board acts in good faith, none of the directors shall incur any liability 
to the holders of shares conferring preferred rights for any loss such holders may suffer in 
consequence of the payment of an interim dividend on any shares having non-preferred or 
deferred rights. 

108. Calculation and currency of dividends 

(a) Except insofar as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise 
provide: 

(i) all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the 
shares in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a share 
in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this article as paid up on 
the share; 

(ii) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts 
paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of 
which the dividend is paid; and 

(iii) dividends may be declared or paid in any currency. 

(b) The board may agree with any member that dividends which may at any time or from 
time to time be declared or become due on his shares in one currency shall be paid or 
satisfied in another, and may agree the basis of conversion to be applied and how and 
when the amount to be paid in the other currency shall be calculated and paid and for the 
Company or any other person to bear any costs involved. 

109. Method of payment 

(a) The Company may pay any dividend or other sum payable in respect of a share by such 
method as the board may decide. The board may decide to use different methods of 
payment for different holders or groups of holders. Without limiting any other method of 
payment which the board may decide upon, the board may decide that payment can be 
made, wholly or partly and exclusively or optionally: 

(i) by cheque or dividend warrant payable to the holder (or, in the case of joint 
holders, the holder whose name stands first in the register in respect of the 
relevant share) or to such other person as the holder (or, in the case of joint 
holders, all the joint holders) may notify to the Company for the purpose; or 

(ii) by a bank or other funds transfer system or by such other electronic means as the 
board may decide (including, in the case of an uncertificated share, a relevant 
system) to such account as the holder (or, in the case of joint holders, all the joint 
holders) may notify to the Company for the purpose; or 

(iii) in such other way as may be agreed between the Company and the holder (or, in 
the case of joint holders, all such holders). 
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(b) If the board decides that any dividend or other sum payable in respect of a share will be 
made exclusively by one or more of the methods referred to in paragraph (a)(ii) above to 
an account, but no such account is nominated by the holder (or, in case of joint holders, 
all the joint holders) or if an attempted payment into a nominated account is rejected or 
refunded, the Company may treat that dividend or other sum payable as unclaimed. 

(c) Any such cheque or dividend warrant may be sent by post to the registered address of the 
holder (or, in the case of joint holders, to the registered address of that person whose 
name stands first in the register in respect of the relevant share) or to such other address 
as the holder (or, in the case of joint holders, all the joint holders) may notify to the 
Company for the purpose. 

(d) Every cheque or warrant is sent, and payment in any other way is made, at the risk of the 
person or persons entitled to it and the Company will not be responsible for any sum lost 
or delayed when it has sent or transmitted the sum in accordance with these articles. 
Clearance of a cheque or warrant or transmission of funds through a bank or other funds 
transfer system or by such other electronic means as is permitted by these articles shall be 
a good discharge to the Company. 

(e) Any joint holder or other person jointly entitled to any share may give an effective receipt 
for any dividend or other sum paid in respect of the share. 

(f) Any dividend or other sum payable in respect of any share may be paid to a person or 
persons entitled by transmission to that share as if he or they were the holder or joint 
holders of that share and his address (or the address of the first named of two or more 
persons jointly entitled) noted in the register were the registered address. 

110. Dividends not to bear interest 

No dividend or other moneys payable by the Company on or in respect of any share shall bear 
interest as against the Company unless otherwise provided by the rights attached to the share. 

111. Calls or debts may be deducted from dividends 

The board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to any person (either alone or 
jointly with another) on or in respect of a share all such sums as may be due from him (either 
alone or jointly with another) to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to 
shares of the Company. 

112. Unclaimed dividends etc. 

All unclaimed dividends, interest or other sums payable may be invested or otherwise made use 
of by the board for the benefit of the Company until claimed. All dividends unclaimed for a 
period of 12 years after having been declared shall be forfeited and cease to remain owing by the 
Company. The payment of any unclaimed dividend, interest or other sum payable by the 
Company on or in respect of any share into a separate account shall not constitute the Company a 
trustee in respect of it. 

113. Uncashed dividends 

If: 

(i) a payment for a dividend or other sum payable in respect of a share sent by the 
Company to the person entitled to it in accordance with these articles is left 
uncashed or is returned to the Company or a payment has failed (including where 
the payment has been rejected or refunded) and, after reasonable enquiries, the 
Company is unable to establish any new address or, with respect to a payment to 
be made by a funds transfer system, a new account, for that person; or 
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(ii) such a payment is left uncashed or returned to the Company or fails (including 
where the payment has been rejected or refunded) on two consecutive occasions, 

the Company shall not be obliged to send any dividends or other sums payable in respect of that 
share to that person until he notifies the Company of an address or, where the payment is to be 
made by a funds transfer system, details of the account, to be used for the purpose. 

114. Dividends in specie 

(a) With the authority of an ordinary resolution of the Company and on the recommendation 
of the board, payment of any dividend may be satisfied wholly or in part by the 
distribution of specific assets and in particular of paid up shares or debentures of any 
other company. 

(b) Where any difficulty arises with the distribution, the board may settle the difficulty as it 
thinks fit and, in particular, may issue fractional certificates (or ignore fractions), fix the 
value for distribution of the specific assets or any part of them, determine that cash 
payments be made to any members on the basis of the value so fixed in order to secure 
equality of distribution and vest any of the specific assets in trustees on such trusts for the 
persons entitled to the dividend as the board may think fit. 

115. Scrip dividends 

(a) The board may, with the authority of an ordinary resolution of the Company, offer any 
holders of any particular class of shares the right to elect to receive further shares of that 
class, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of all (or some part) of any 
dividend specified by the ordinary resolution (a scrip dividend) in accordance with the 
following provisions of this article. 

(b) The ordinary resolution may specify a particular dividend (whether or not already 
declared) or may specify all or any dividends declared within a specified period, but such 
period may not end later than five years after the date of the meeting at which the 
ordinary resolution is passed. 

(c) The basis of allotment shall be decided by the board so that, as nearly as may be 
considered convenient, the value of the further shares, including any fractional 
entitlement, is equal to the amount of the cash dividend which would otherwise have 
been paid (disregarding the amount of any associated tax credit). 

(d) For the purposes of paragraph (c) above the value of the further shares shall be calculated 
in such manner as may be determined by or in accordance with the ordinary resolution. 

(e) The board shall give notice to the holders of shares of their rights of election in respect of 
the scrip dividend and shall specify the procedure to be followed in order to make an 
election. 

(f) The dividend or that part of it in respect of which an election for the scrip dividend is 
made shall not be paid and instead further shares of the relevant class shall be allotted in 
accordance with elections duly made and the board shall capitalise a sum equal to the 
aggregate nominal amount of the shares to be allotted out of such sums available for the 
purpose as the board may consider appropriate. 

(g) The further shares so allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with the fully paid 
shares of the same class then in issue except as regards participation in the relevant 
dividend. 
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(h) The board may decide that the right to elect for any scrip dividend shall not be made 
available to members resident in any territory where, in the opinion of the board, 
compliance with local laws or regulations would be unduly onerous. 

(i) The board may do all acts and things as it considers necessary or expedient to give effect 
to the provisions of a scrip dividend election and the issue of any shares in accordance 
with the provisions of this article, and may make such provisions as it thinks fit for the 
case of shares becoming distributable in fractions (including provisions under which, in 
whole or in part, the benefit of fractional entitlements accrues to the Company rather than 
to the members concerned). To the extent that the entitlement of any holder of shares in 
respect of any dividend is less than the value of one new share of the relevant class (as 
determined for the basis of any scrip dividend) the board may also from time to time 
establish or vary a procedure for such entitlement to be accrued and aggregated with any 
similar entitlement for the purposes of any subsequent scrip dividend. 

(j) The board may from time to time establish or vary a procedure for election mandates, 
under which a holder of shares may, in respect of any future dividends for which a right 
of election pursuant to this article is offered, elect to receive shares in lieu of such 
dividend on the terms of such mandate. 

(k) The board shall not make a scrip dividend available unless the Company has sufficient 
undistributed profits or reserves to give effect to elections which could be made to 
receive that scrip dividend. 

(l) The board may decide at any time before the further shares are allotted that such shares 
shall not be allotted and pay the relevant dividend in cash instead. Such decision may be 
made before or after any election has been made by holders of shares in respect of the 
relevant dividend. 

 
CAPITALISATION OF RESERVES 

116. Capitalisation of reserves 

(a) The board may, with the authority of an ordinary resolution of the Company: 

(i) resolve to capitalise any sum standing to the credit of any reserve account of the 
Company (including share premium account and capital redemption reserve) or 
any sum standing to the credit of profit and loss account not required for the 
payment of any preferential dividend (whether or not it is available for 
distribution); and 

(ii) appropriate that sum as capital to the holders of shares in proportion to the 
nominal amount of the share capital held by them respectively and apply that 
sum on their behalf in paying up in full any shares or debentures of the Company 
of a nominal amount equal to that sum and allot the shares or debentures credited 
as fully paid to those members, or as they may direct, in those proportions or in 
paying up the whole or part of any amounts which are unpaid in respect of any 
issued shares in the Company held by them respectively, or otherwise deal with 
such sum as directed by the resolution provided that the share premium account, 
the capital redemption reserve, any redenomination reserve and any sum not 
available for distribution in accordance with the Statutes may only be applied in 
paying up shares to be allotted credited as fully paid up. 

(b) Where any difficulty arises in respect of any distribution of any capitalised reserve or 
other sum, the board may settle the difficulty as it thinks fit and in particular may make 
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such provisions as it thinks fit in the case of shares or debentures becoming distributable 
in fractions (including provisions under which, in whole or in part, the benefit of 
fractional entitlements accrues to the Company rather than the members concerned) or 
ignore fractions and may fix the value for distribution of any fully paid up shares or 
debentures and may determine that cash payments be made to any members on the basis 
of the value so fixed in order to secure equality of distribution, and may vest any shares 
or debentures in trustees upon such trusts for the persons entitled to share in the 
distribution as the board may think fit. 

(c) The board may also authorise any person to sign on behalf of the persons entitled to share 
in the distribution a contract for the acceptance by those persons of the shares or 
debentures to be allotted to them credited as fully paid under a capitalisation and any 
such contract shall be binding on all those persons. 

117. Capitalisation of reserves  employees' share schemes 

(a) This article (which is without prejudice to the generality of the provisions of the 
immediately preceding article) applies where, pursuant to an employees' share scheme: 

(i) a person is granted a right to acquire shares in the Company for no payment or at 
a price less than their nominal value; or 

(ii) the terms on which any person is entitled to acquire shares in the Company are 
adjusted so that the price payable to acquire them is less than their nominal value, 

and the relevant shares are to be subscribed. 

(b) In any such case the board: 

(i) may, without requiring any further authority of the Company in General Meeting, 
at any time transfer to a reserve account a sum (the reserve amount) which is 
equal to the amount required to pay up the nominal value of the shares in full, 
after taking into account the amount (if any) payable by the person from the 
profits or reserves of the Company which are available for distribution and not 
required for the payment of any preferential dividend; and 

(ii) (subject to paragraph (d) below) will not apply the reserve amount for any 
purpose other than paying up the nominal value on the allotment of the relevant 
shares. 

(c) Whenever the Company allots shares to a person pursuant to a right described in article 
117(a), the board will (subject to the Statutes) appropriate to capital the amount of the 
reserve amount necessary to pay up the nominal value of those shares in full, after taking 
into account the amount (if any) payable by the person, apply that amount in paying up 
the nominal value of those shares in full and allot those shares credited as fully paid to 
the person entitled to them. 

(d) If any person ceases to be entitled to acquire shares as described in article 117(a), the 
restrictions on the reserve amount will cease to apply in relation to the part of that amount 
(if any) applicable to those shares. 

 
RECORD DATES 

118. Fixing of record dates 

(a) Notwithstanding any other of these articles, but without prejudice to any rights attached 
to any shares, the Company or the board may fix a date as the record date by reference to 
which a dividend will be declared or paid or a distribution, allotment or issue made, and 
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that date may be before, on or after the date on which the dividend, distribution, allotment 
or issue is declared, paid or made. 

(b) In the absence of a record date being fixed, entitlement to any dividend, distribution, 
allotment or issue shall be determined by reference to the date on which the dividend is 
declared or the distribution, allotment or issue is made. 

 
ACCOUNTS 

119. Accounting records 

(a) The board shall cause accounting records of the Company to be kept in accordance with 
the Statutes. 

(b) No member (as such) shall have any right of inspecting any account, book or document 
of the Company, except as conferred by law or authorised by the board or by any 
ordinary resolution of the Company. 

 
COMMUNICATIONS 

120. Communications to the Company 

(a) Subject to the Statutes and except where otherwise expressly stated, any document or 
information to be sent or supplied to the Company (whether or not such document or 
information is required or authorised under the Statutes) shall be in hard copy form or, 
subject to paragraph (b) below, be sent or supplied in electronic form or by means of a 
website. 

(b) Subject to the Statutes, a document or information may be given to the Company in 
electronic form only if it is given in such form and manner and to such address as may 
have been specified by the board from time to time for the receipt of documents in 
electronic form. The board may prescribe such procedures as it thinks fit for verifying the 
authenticity or integrity of any such document or information given to it in electronic 
form. 

121. Communications by the Company 

(a) A document or information may be sent or supplied in hard copy form by the Company 
to any member either personally or by sending or supplying it by post addressed to the 
member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address. 

(b) Subject to the Statutes (and other rules applicable to the Company), a document or 
information may be sent or supplied by the Company to any member in electronic form 
to such address as may from time to time be authorised by the member concerned or by 
making it available on a website and notifying the member concerned in accordance with 
the Statutes (and other rules applicable to the Company) that it has been made available. 
A member shall be deemed to have agreed that the Company may send or supply a 
document or information by means of a website if the conditions set out in the Statutes 
have been satisfied. 

(c) In the case of joint holders of a share, any document or information sent or supplied by 
the Company in any manner permitted by these articles to the joint holder who is named 
first in the register in respect of the joint holding shall be deemed to be given to all other 
holders of the share. 
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(d) A member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom shall not be 
entitled to receive any notice from the Company unless he gives the Company a postal 
address within the United Kingdom at which notices may be given to him. 

122. Communication during suspension or curtailment of postal services 

(a) If at any time by reason of the suspension or curtailment of postal services within the 
United Kingdom (or some part of the United Kingdom) the Company is unable 
effectively to give notice of a general meeting to some or all of its members or directors 
then, subject to complying with paragraph (b) below, the Company need only give notice 
of the meeting to those members or directors to whom the Company is entitled, in 
accordance with the Statutes, to give notice by electronic means. 

(b) In the circumstances described in paragraph (a) above, the Company must: 

(i) advertise the general meeting by a notice which appears on its website and in at 
least one national newspaper complying with the notice period requirements set 
out in article 31; and 

(ii) send confirmatory copies of the notice (or, as the case may be, the notification of 
the website notice) by post to those members and directors to whom notice (or 
notification) cannot be given by electronic means if at least six clear days before 
the meeting the posting of notices (and notifications) to addresses throughout the 
United Kingdom again becomes practicable. 

123. When communication is deemed received 

(a) Any document or information, if sent by first class post, shall be deemed to have been 
received on the day following that on which the envelope containing it is put into the 
post, or, if sent by second class post, shall be deemed to have been received on the second 
day following that on which the envelope containing it is put into the post and in proving 
that a document or information has been received it shall be sufficient to prove that the 
letter, envelope or wrapper containing the document or information was properly 
addressed, prepaid and put into the post. 

(b) Any document or information not sent by post but left at a registered address or address 
at which a document or information may be received shall be deemed to have been 
received on the day it was so left. 

(c) Any document or information, if sent or supplied by electronic means, shall be deemed to 
have been received on the day on which the document or information was sent or 
supplied by or on behalf of the Company. 

(d) If the Company receives a delivery failure notification following a communication by 
electronic means in accordance with paragraph (c) above, the Company shall send or 
supply the document or information in hard copy or electronic form (but not by electronic 
means) to the member either personally or by post addressed to the member at his 
registered address or by leaving it at that address. This shall not affect when the 
document or information was deemed to be received in accordance with paragraph (c) 
above. 

(i) Where a document or information is sent or supplied by means of a website, it 
shall be deemed to have been received: 

(ii) when the material was first made available on the website; or 

(iii) if later, when the recipient was deemed to have received notice of the fact that the 
material was available on the website. 
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(e) A member present, either in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the Company or class 
of members of the Company shall be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and, 
where requisite, of the purposes for which the meeting was convened. 

(f) Every person who becomes entitled to a share shall be bound by every notice in respect 
of that share which before his name is entered in the register was given to the person 
from whom he derives his title to the share. 

124. Record date for communications 

(a) For the purposes of giving notices of meetings, or of sending or supplying other 
documents or other information, whether under section 310(1) of the CA 2006, any other 
Statute, a provision in these articles or any other instrument, the Company may determine 
that persons entitled to receive such notices, documents or other information are those 
persons entered on the register at the close of business on a day determined by it. 

(b) The day determined by the Company under paragraph (a) above may not be more than 15 
days before the day that the notice of the meeting, document or other information is 
given. 

125. Communication to person entitled by transmission 

Where a person is entitled by transmission to a share, any notice or other communication shall be 
given to him, as if he were the holder of that share and his address noted in the register were his 
registered address. In any other case, any notice or other communication given to any member 
pursuant to these articles shall, notwithstanding that the member is then dead or bankrupt or that 
any other event giving rise to the transmission of the share by operation of law has occurred and 
whether or not the Company has notice of the death, bankruptcy or other event, be deemed to 
have been properly given in respect of any share registered in the name of that member as sole or 
joint holder. 

126. Returned notices 

A member shall not be entitled to receive any notice, cheque or other instrument of payment from 
the Company if two consecutive notices, cheques or other instruments of payment addressed to 
him, and properly given under these articles, have been returned to the Company undelivered but 
he shall again become entitled to receive notices, cheques or other instruments of payment 
following notice from him to the Company of a new or corrected registered address (or, in the 
case of a member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom, a new postal 
address within the United Kingdom at which notices may be given). Nothing in this article shall 
entitle the Company to cease sending any cheques, dividend warrants or otherwise to cease 
making any payments for dividends or other moneys payable in respect of shares, unless it is so 
entitled under article 113. 

 
UNTRACED MEMBERS 

127. Sale of shares of untraced members 

(a) The Company may sell, in such manner as the board may decide and at the best price it 
considers to be reasonably obtainable at that time, any share of a member, or any share to 
which a person is entitled by transmission if: 

(i) during a period of 12 years at least three cash dividends have become payable in 
respect of the share to be sold; 

(ii) during that period of 12 years no cash dividend payable in respect of the share 
has been claimed, no cheque, warrant, order or other payment for a dividend has 
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been cashed, no dividend sent by means of a bank or other funds transfer system 
or other electronic system or means (including, in the case of uncertificated 
shares, a relevant system) has been paid and no communication has been 
received by the Company from the member or the person entitled by transmission 
to the share; 

(iii) on or after the expiry of that period of 12 years the Company has sent, or caused 
to be sent, a notice to the registered address or last known address the Company 
has for the member or other person entitled by transmission to the share, giving 
notice of its intention to sell the share (provided that before sending such a 
notice, the Company shall have made, or caused to be made, such tracing 
enquiries for the purpose of contacting that member or other person as the board 
considers to be reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances); and 

(iv) during the period of three months following the sending of the notice referred to 
in paragraph (ii) above and after that period until the exercise of the power to sell 
the share, the Company has not received any communication from the member or 
the person entitled by transmission to the share. 

(b) The Company's power of sale shall extend to any further share which, on or before the 
sending of the notice pursuant to paragraph (a)(iii) above, is issued in right of a share to 
which paragraph (a) above applies (or in right of any share to which this paragraph 
applies) if the conditions set out in paragraphs (a)(ii) to (iv) above are satisfied in relation 
to the further share (but as if the references to a period of 12 years were references to a 
period beginning on the date of allotment of the further share and ending on the date of 
sending the notice referred to above). 

(c) To give effect to any sale, the board may authorise some person to transfer the share to, 
or as directed by, the purchaser, who shall not be bound to see to the application of the 
purchase money; nor shall the title of the new holder to the share be affected by any 
irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the sale. 

128. Application of proceeds of sale 

(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below: 

(i) the Company shall account to the person entitled to the share at the date of sale 
for a sum equal to the net proceeds of sale and shall be deemed to be his debtor, 
and not a trustee for him, in respect of them; 

(ii) pending payment of the net proceeds of sale to such person, the proceeds may 
either be employed in the business of the Company or invested in such 
investments (other than shares of the Company or its holding company, if any) as 
the board may from time to time decide; and 

(iii) no interest shall be payable in respect of the net proceeds and the Company shall 
not be required to account for any moneys earned on the net proceeds. 

(b) If no valid claim for the proceeds of a sale has been received by the Company during a 
period of two years from the date on which the relevant shares were sold pursuant to 
article 127, the net proceeds of that sale will be forfeited and will belong to the Company. 
In these circumstances, the Company will not be liable in any respect to the former 
member or members or other person who may or would have been entitled to the share or 
shares by law for the proceeds of sale, and the Company may use the proceeds of sale for 
any purpose as the board may decide. 
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DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 
129. Destruction of documents 

(a) The board may authorise or arrange the destruction of documents held by the Company 
as follows: 

(i) at any time after the expiration of six years from the date of registration, all 
instruments of transfer of shares and all other documents transferring or 
purporting to transfer shares or representing or purporting to represent the right to 
be registered as the holder of shares on the faith of which entries have been made 
in the register; 

(ii) at any time after the expiration of one year from the date of cancellation, all 
registered share certificates which have been cancelled; 

(iii) at any time after the expiration of two years from the date of recording them, all 
dividend mandates and notifications of change of address; and 

(iv) at any time after the expiration of one year from the date of actual payment, all 
paid dividend warrants and cheques. 

(b) It shall conclusively be presumed in favour of the Company that: 

(i) every entry in the register purporting to have been made on the basis of an 
instrument of transfer or other document so destroyed was duly and properly 
made; 

(ii) every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid and effective instrument 
duly and properly registered; 

(iii) every share certificate so destroyed was a valid certificate duly and properly 
cancelled; 

(iv) every other document mentioned in paragraph (a) above so destroyed was a valid 
and effective document in accordance with the particulars of it recorded in the 
books and records of the Company; and 

(v) every paid dividend warrant and cheque so destroyed was duly paid. 

(c) The provisions of paragraph (b) above shall apply only to the destruction of a document 
in good faith and without notice of any claim (regardless of the parties to it) to which the 
document might be relevant. 

(d) Nothing in this article shall be construed as imposing on the Company or the board any 
liability in respect of the destruction of any document earlier than as stated in paragraph 
(a) above or in any other circumstances in which liability would not attach to the 
Company or the board in the absence of this article. 

(e) References in this article to the destruction of any document include references to its 
disposal in any manner. 

 
WINDING UP 

130. Powers to distribute in specie 

If the Company is in liquidation, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution of 
the Company and any other authority required by the Statutes: 
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(i) divide among the members in specie the whole or any part of the assets of the 
Company and, for that purpose, value any assets and determine how the division 
shall be carried out as between the members or different classes of members; or 

(ii) vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit 
of members as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall think fit but no member 
shall be compelled to accept any assets upon which there is any liability. 

 
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE, ETC. 

131. Directors' indemnity, insurance and defence  

As far as the Statutes allow, the Company may: 

(i) indemnify any director of the Company (or of an associated body corporate) 
against any liability; 

(ii) indemnify a director of a company that is a trustee of an occupational pension 
scheme for employees (or former employees) of the Company (or of an 
associated body corporate) against liability incurred in connection with the 
company's activities as trustee of the scheme; 

(iii) purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any director referred to 
in paragraphs (i) or (ii) above; and 

(iv) provide any director referred to in paragraphs (i) or (ii) above with funds 
(whether by loan or otherwise) to meet expenditure incurred or to be incurred by 
him in defending any criminal, regulatory or civil proceedings or in connection 
with an application for relief (or to enable any such director to avoid incurring 
such expenditure). 

The powers given by this article shall not limit any general powers of the Company to grant 
indemnities, purchase and maintain insurance or provide funds (whether by way of loan or 
otherwise) to any person in connection with any legal or regulatory proceedings or applications 
for relief. 
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